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CHAIRMAN'S
STATEMENT

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,
For and on behalf of the Board
of Directors, we present to you
the Annual Report and Financial
Statements for the financial
year ended 31 December 2021
(“FY2021”).

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
FY2021 was another challenging year for the Group
with the resurgences of new COVID-19 variants, border
restrictions and partial lockdowns, and a partial withdrawal
of government economic support measures.
Although revenue at $50.3 million was higher than in
FY2020, the Group recorded a loss after tax of $1.3 million in
contrast to a profit after tax of $1.4 million a year ago. This
was mainly due to lower interest income and a provision
for doubtful debts in respect of interest on overdue trade
receivables.
OUTLOOK
While there are hopeful developments as far as COVID-19
is concerned, the conflict in Ukraine has caused massive
supply chain disruptions and shortages. The investment
and operating environment will be uncertain at least in
the short to medium term. The Company will continue to
evaluate investment opportunities and deploy our cash
resources only when suitable ones are identified.

APPRECIATION
To our management and staff, I would like to express our
sincere appreciation for your dedication and contributions.
To our treasured customers, suppliers, business partners
and bankers, I wish to thank you for your continuing
confidence and support to the Group. We look forward to
many more years of productive alliances and partnerships
in the future.
Last but not least, we would like to register our heartfelt
gratitude to you, our shareholders, for your steadfast
support over the years. We continue to strive to grow
shareholder value in years to come.

On behalf of the Board

PETER SUNG
Chairman

17 March 2022
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CEO'S
OPERATIONS REVIEW
Gross profit was $1.0 million as
compared to $0.9 million in FY2020,
an increase of 14%. Despite the
revenue growth of 71%, the increase
in gross profit was significantly lower
mainly due to the predominantly
fixed rate margin for coal trading
based on the quantity delivered, and
higher transaction costs. Loss before
tax was $2.0 million in FY2021 as
compared to profit before tax of $2.5
million in FY2020. The decrease was
mainly due to lower interest income
and a loss allowance on interest
receivable arising from overdue trade
receivables.
Following the return of the interestbearing refundable trade deposit in
September 2021 by its coal supplier,
and the termination of the long-term
coal allocation agreement in December
2021, the Commodities Trading Unit is
currently engaged in discussions with
its coal supplier to explore alternative
terms or arrangements to continue to
obtain coal supplies.

Revenue for the Group increased
significantly to $50.3 million in
FY2021 from $29.4 million in FY2020.
The increase of $20.9 million was
mainly due to higher coal prices and
an increase in coal sales volume,
reflecting the gradual recovery from
the COVID-19 pandemic.
The Group’s loss attributable to the
owners of the Company in FY2021 was
$1.3 million as compared to a profit
of $1.4 million in FY2020. Although
commodities
trading
activities
recovered slowly in FY2021, lower
interest income and an impairment
loss on interest income on overdue
trade receivables affected the Group’s
performance.

COMMODITIES TRADING UNIT
The Commodities Trading Unit carries
out trading of coal, rubber, metals
as well as other commodities and
products used by manufacturers in
the energy, metal and automotive
industries in Asia.
Coal trading, which is the core
business, contributed 100% to the
Group’s revenue in FY2021, higher
than 91% in FY2020. Coal deliveries
for FY2021 fell below the quantity
secured by the Group under its longterm coal allocation agreement as
the impact of COVID-19 disruptions
rippled through the global supply
chains. The increase in coal revenue
was mainly due to higher average
selling price and, to a lesser extent, an
increase in sales volume.

The Commodities Trading Unit has
strong ties with its principals and
customers and will continue to
strengthen the good relationships
with them.
The Group will continue to leverage
its strong working relationships with
existing clients and explore various
business opportunities, including
business that may generate new
revenue streams. The return of the
refundable trade deposit by its
coal supplier has strengthened the
Group’s financial position and would
give it more flexibility, inter alia, to
capitalise on potential new investment
opportunities.

WILLIAM NURSALIM ALIAS
WILLIAM LIEM
Interim Executive Director
17 March 2022
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DIRECTORS'
PROFILE
Peter Sung Chairman, Non-Executive & Independent Director
Date of appointment as Director:
28 January 2002
Date of last re-election as Director:
16 April 2020
Proposed for re-election at the AGM on
21 April 2022
Board Committee
• Remuneration Committee (Chairman)
• Audit and Risk Committee (Member)
Present Directorship in Other Listed Companies
Nil
Present Principal Commitments (Other than
Directorships in Other Listed Companies)
Calbert Pte. Ltd. (Chairman)
Past Directorships in Other Listed Companies
held over the preceeding Three Years
Nil

Background and Working Experience
• School teacher.
• Worked with Shell, Sime Darby and the Pilecon
groups of companies in Singapore and Malaysia
in the corporate planning, marketing, sales and
personnel functions.
• Singapore’s ambassador to the Philippines.
• Served as Minister of State in Singapore with
attachments to the Ministries of Foreign Affairs,
Home Affairs and National Development.
• Served as Member of the Singapore Parliament.
Academic and Professional Qualifications
Bachelor of Arts degree with a First Class Honours
in Economics, University of Singapore

William Nursalim alias William Liem Interim Executive Director
Date of appointment as Director:
7 March 2003
Date of last re-election as Director:
16 April 2019
Proposed for re-election at the AGM on
21 April 2022
Board Committee
Nil
Present Directorship in Other Listed Companies
Tuan Sing Holdings Limited (listed on SGX-ST)
(Executive Director/Chief Executive Officer)
Present Principal Commitments (Other than
Directorships in Other Listed Companies)
• Gul Technologies Singapore Pte. Ltd. (Director)
• Nuri Holdings (S) Pte Ltd (Director)

Past Directorships in Other Listed Companies
held over the preceeding Three Years
Nil
Background and Working Experience
• Corporate analyst of Lehman Brothers.
• Management roles in GT Asia Pacific Holdings
Pte Ltd and Habitat Properties Pte Ltd.
Academic and Professional Qualifications
• Bachelor of Science in Business, University of
California at Berkeley
• Master of Business Administration, Massachusetts
Institute of Technology

Tan Lye Huat Non-Executive & Independent Director
Date of appointment as Director:
1 January 1999
Date of last re-election as Director:
16 April 2021
Board Committee
• Audit and Risk Committee (Chairman)
• Nominating Committee (Member)
• Remuneration Committee (Member)
Present Directorship in Other Listed Companies
Japan Foods Holdings Ltd. (listed on SGX-ST)
Present Principal Commitments (Other than
Directorships in Other Listed Companies)
Nil
Past Directorships in Other Listed Companies
held over the preceeding Three Years
• Neo Group Limited (delisted from SGX-ST on
9 June 2021)
• Dynamic Colours Limited (delisted from SGX-ST
on 18 August 2020)
• Nera Telecommunications Ltd (listed on SGX-ST)

Background and Working Experience
• Had previously been actively engaged in
corporate governance advocacy, consultancy
and training work under HIM Governance
Private Limited, including, being the regional
adviser of Governance for Owners LLP.
• Volunteering at a number of other governancerelated associations.
• Over 20 years of banking, public accounting and
senior commercial experience.
Academic and Professional Qualifications
• Life Member of the Institute of Singapore
Chartered Accountants (ISCA)
• Fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants (FCCA)
• Member of the Australian Institute of Company
Directors (AICD)
• Chartered Director Fellow (C. Dir FloD) of the
Institute of Directors (IOD, UK)
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DIRECTORS'
PROFILE
Cheng Hong Kok Non-Executive & Independent Director
Date of appointment as Director:
24 May 2001
Date of last re-election as Director:
16 April 2020
Board Committee
• Nominating Committee (Chairman)
• Remuneration Committee (Member)
Present Directorship in Other Listed Companies
Tuan Sing Holdings Limited (listed on SGX-ST)
Present Principal Commitments (Other than
Directorships in Other Listed Companies)
Nil
Past Directorships in Other Listed Companies
held over the preceeding Three Years
Nil
Background and Working Experience
• Various senior positions in Singapore Petroleum
Company Limited (“SPC”) as head of corporate
planning, finance and accounting, supply
and trading, and marketing and distribution.
President and CEO of SPC from 1981 to 1996

and Board and Executive Committee member
of SPC from 1999 to 2009 and was actively
involved in the Asean Council on Petroleum
during his tenure with SPC.
• Independent Director of the Board and Chairman
of the Audit and Risk Committee of Far East
Orchard Limited for many years until 2017.
• Board member of the Singapore Economic
Development Board.
• Member of the Government Economic Planning
Committee.
Academic and Professional Qualifications
• Bachelor of Science (Chemical Engineering)
Degree with First Class Honours, University of
London
• Advanced Executive Management Program,
Kellogg Graduate School of Management,
Northwestern University, United States of
America
• Singapore State Scholar/Colonial Welfare and
Development Scholar
• Eisenhower Fellow

Leong Kok Ho Non-Executive & Non-Independent Director
Date of appointment as Director:
28 May 2020
Date of last re-election as Director:
16 April 2021
Board Committee
• Audit and Risk Committee (Member)
• Nominating Committee (Member)
Present Directorship in Other Listed Companies
Nil
Present Principal Commitments (Other than
Directorships in Other Listed Companies)
Pei Hwa Presbyterian Primary School (ViceChairman)
Past Directorships in Other Listed Companies
held over the preceeding Three Years
Nil

Background and Working Experience
Previously Chief Financial Officer of Tuan Sing
Holdings Limited, Hong Leong Asia Ltd., China
Yuchai International Limited and KS Energy
Limited, and Regional Controller (Asia Pacific) of
New York-listed Parker Drilling Company.
Academic and Professional Qualifications
• Bachelor of Accountancy Degree, National
University of Singapore
• Master of Business Administration, University of
Southern Queensland
• Fellow Member of the Institute of Singapore
Chartered Accountants
• Member of the Singapore Institute of Directors
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RISK MANAGEMENT
STATEMENT
SP Corporation Limited (the “Company” or “SP Corp”)
continues to explore and develop opportunities to sustain
earnings and to drive long-term increase in shareholders’
value. In doing so, we are exposed to certain risks. Hence,
our ability to prevent, detect and manage risks is crucial for
an effective governance and control of the business.
Our Enterprise Risk Management (“ERM”) framework outlines
the principles, process, tools, risk categories and types, key
responsibilities, reporting requirements and communication
timelines within SP Corp and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
and intends to provide reasonable assurance that the
Group’s objectives can be achieved and its obligations to
customers, shareholders, employees and society can be met.
RISK MANAGEMENT PRINCIPLES
At SP Corp, risk management is an integrated process that
supports informed decision-making throughout the Group.
Our integrated approach recognises the need for clear,
timely direction and decision from the Board of Directors
(the “Board”), senior management and our operational
management, where appropriate. Risk management is
also embedded into the day-to-day decision-making and
operational activities.
The top-down approach involves a review of the external
environment in which we operate and the extent of our risk
appetite. The result from this strategic risk management will
guide the actions that we will take in executing our strategy.
Key risk indicators have been identified for each of our
principal risks and are used to monitor our risk exposure.
These key risks are reviewed annually by the Audit and
Risk Committee (“ARC”) to ensure that the activities of the
business remain within our risk appetite.
The bottom-up approach involves identifying, managing
and monitoring risks at the operational level. Such
operational risk management is embedded in our everyday
operations. Control of this process is achieved through the
maintenance of a risk register. The risk register is reviewed
by the Interim Executive Director in his capacity as Chief
Executive Officer (“CEO”) and the Senior Finance Manager
(“SFM”), with significant and emerging risks escalated for
consideration by the Board and the ARC as appropriate.
This process complements the top-down view by helping us
to identify our principal risks and ensuring that operational
risks are fully considered in determining the risk appetite
and the corresponding strategy of the business.
ANNUAL REVIEW OF RISK GOVERNANCE AND
OVERSIGHT STRUCTURE
Under the ERM framework, the Board has overall
responsibility for assessing and managing risks with a
particular focus on determining the nature and extent
of significant risks it is willing to take in achieving its
strategic objectives, especially those that would threaten
the solvency or liquidity of the Company and the Group.

The ARC oversees the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems.
The CEO and the SFM are responsible for implementing
the Company’s strategy, strengthening the Group’s risk
management culture, ensuring the overall framework of risk
management is comprehensive and responsive to changes
in the business, and managing the internal audit function.
They regularly review the completeness and accuracy of
risk assessments, risk reporting and the adequacy of risk
mitigation efforts.
The CEO and the SFM, in turn, place reliance on the
operational team to monitor and manage operational
risks on an ongoing basis, and to identify emerging risks.
The risk register provides a framework for all relevant staff
to recognise their shared responsibility for an effective
management of risks on a regular and timely basis.
Our ERM system is designed to provide reasonable,
but not absolute, assurance that the Group’s assets are
safeguarded, the risks facing the business are being
assessed and all information that may be required to be
disclosed is reported to the Board through the ARC. We
have reviewed the current ERM framework and are of the
view that it remains appropriate for the financial year ended
31 December 2021.
MANAGE RISK IN DELIVERING STRATEGY
We remain focused on optimising our existing business in
commodities trading. In pursuing our corporate strategies
and business goals, we acknowledge that it is necessary
to take certain risks that we believe are manageable
and appropriate in relation to expected opportunities.
However, any such steps should be undertaken only if they
are deemed to fall within our risk appetite after careful
assessment of the macro-environment that we operate in.
We use key risk indicators to ensure that the activities of
the business are within our risk appetite.
RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS AND CULTURE
The Group places considerable importance on maintaining
a strong control environment to ensure that risks are
managed, and business strategies are executed. Policies
and procedures, Delegation of Authority matrix, minimum
acceptable internal controls and Code of Conduct have been
defined and put into practice. Together with compliance
with laws and regulations, these established procedures
and internal guidelines form the control environment of
SP Corp for which employees are accountable for their
compliance.
In addition, the Group has established a Whistle-blowing
Policy since November 2006, under which employees
and external parties could, through well-defined and
accessible channels, raise concerns in confidence about
possible improprieties in matters of business activities,
financial reporting or other matters to the Whistle-
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RISK MANAGEMENT
STATEMENT
blowing Committee. The Committee is bound to report,
within certain established timeline, the results of its
investigation to the ARC.
On a half-yearly basis, the CEO and the SFM is required
to submit a management representation letter to the
ARC to confirm the adequacy and effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems, so as to
provide reasonable assurance on the effectiveness and
efficiency of operations, reliability of financial reporting,
compliance with applicable laws and regulations and
integrity of information technology systems. Compliance
checklist and declaration on conflicts of interest and
compliance with the Code of Conduct by all employees
have also been obtained at the end of each financial year
to promote accountability.

The internal audit function is outsourced to
PricewaterhouseCoopers Risk Services Pte. Ltd., which
provides independent checks on operational issues and risk
controls and reports directly to the ARC.
RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLEMENTED
The Personal Data Protection Act 2012 in Singapore
regulates the collection, use, disclosure, transfer, and security
of personal data. The Group is exposed to personal data
protection risk as such data in our possession may be subject
to unauthorised access, modification, disclosure, use, copying,
whether in hardcopy or electronic form. Furthermore, this
risk may expose the Group to fines, payment of damages, or
legal suits for non-compliance. The Group has put in place
a Personal Data Protection Policy for employees and other
stakeholders since January 2017.

RISK ASSESSMENT AND OVERSIGHT STRUCTURE

BOARD (ARC, CEO AND SFM)
• Review external environment
• Implement strategic goals
• Set risk culture through
decentralised management

• Provide assurance on internal
controls and risk management
• Assess effectiveness of risk
management system
• Consider aggregation of risk
exposures

Risk Owners (Operational Team)
Execute risk management process through risk tools and methodologies
Risk
Identification
and
Analysis
Risk
Reporting

RISK
MANAGEMENT
PROCESS

Risk
Monitoring

Risk
Evaluation

Risk
Treatment
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RISK MANAGEMENT
STATEMENT
KEY RISK PROFILE 2021
We list the 21 key risks that have been identified and summarise the appropriate mitigating measures below. In light of the
changing business environment amid the COVID-19 situation, we are closely monitoring the impact on our risk landscape.
The Group’s ongoing efforts in navigating through the pandemic crisis for its key stakeholders are outlined below:
Employees
During the year, the Group has implemented work from home arrangements, enabling employees to stay safe and remain
productive. Flexible and staggered working hours are introduced to minimise the peak hour travels.
Business partners
Due to travel restrictions, virtual meetings and presentations are often held with our business partners to facilitate
communication on revised operational protocols. In doing so, the Group embraces and broadens the use of technologies
in the monitoring of its businesses.
Shareholders
The Group remains adaptive during this challenging period. SP Corp was among the first in Singapore to convene and hold
a webcast Annual General Meeting amid this ongoing pandemic. In keeping pace with the rapidly changing guidelines, the
Group continues to strengthen shareholder confidence and corporate accountability.
The Group actively reviews cash flow projections and available bank facilities to ensure the efficient management of liquidity
position, especially in view of the ongoing COVID-19 outbreak.
NO THREAT TO GOING CONCERN
After making due inquiry, we are satisfied that as of 31 December 2021, there were no risks that could affect the ability of
the Group to continue as a going concern in the next twelve months.
BUSINESS AND STRATEGY RISKS
Business and strategy risks refer to factors affecting businesses such as customer demand, revenue attainment, macroeconomic
conditions, competition, and regulatory environment. They are normally managed by the Group in its pursuit of growth and
meeting earnings target.
DESCRIPTION OF RISKS

WHAT WE DO TO MANAGE THE RISKS

• The Group is exposed to risks associated with
optimisation of existing businesses within the
current challenging environments and its expansion/
diversification plans.
• Expansion/diversification involves the financial burden
of setting up new strategic business units and dealing
with unfamiliar rules and regulations in foreign countries
or nuances in customer service expectations.
• The Group is exposed to risks of unexpected contract
termination.

• Despite the challenges, the Group continues to remain
relevant in the business arena by leveraging on the
close business relationships with its principal suppliers
for reliable and quality supplies; and with key customers
through development of competitive sales strategy and
pricing structure to boost market presence.
• New investment proposal is evaluated carefully to
ensure that it is in line with the Group’s strategic focus,
meets the relevant hurdle rate of financial return and
passes other risk assessments.

Strategy Risk

Macroeconomic and Competition Risks
• Changing macroeconomic conditions in the countries
where the Group operates may adversely affect the
Group’s performance.
• Our relatively small size and reliance on principal
suppliers may be a disadvantage in the highly
competitive markets of commodities trading. The Group
may be more vulnerable to external shocks and negative
occurrences specific to its operations.

• The Group monitors key economic indicators and
keeps itself updated on potential policy changes in the
countries where it operates.
• The Group strives to maintain competitiveness through
differentiation in its service delivery to key customers and
forging collaborative relationships with its principal suppliers.
• The Group maintains a nimble organisation structure
which is responsive and easily adaptable to changing
environments.
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RISK MANAGEMENT
STATEMENT
DESCRIPTION OF RISKS

WHAT WE DO TO MANAGE THE RISKS

Business Continuity Risk
• The Group may face business continuity risks associated
with heavy reliance on principal suppliers for its coal
trading business as any significant changes in the modus
operandi of the principal suppliers, such as direct market
participation or limitations in pricing/delivery/product
range structures, will have a significant impact on the
Group’s operations and performance.

• The Group engages in regular communications with its
principal suppliers to ensure continuous flows of quality
supplies.
• The Group maintains good relationships with all suppliers
to reduce its vulnerability to significant concentration of
supply risk.

Political, Regulatory and Industry Risks
• Risks arising from uncertain political conditions and
changes in government policies, laws, and regulations in
the countries where the Group operates may adversely
affect the Group’s performance or limit the market
demand and supply and impact the Group’s ability to
conduct business.
• The Group is exposed to the supply and demand cycles
of the commodities industry.

• The Group monitors changes in political and industry
conditions in countries where it operates and keeps itself
updated on changes in regulations by the authorities.
• The Group maintains close working relationships with
advisors, consultants, and local authorities to keep
abreast with any changes.

Customer Risk
• Risks associated with loss of customers through
uncompetitive pricing, inadequate service delivery,
unsatisfactory product quality, extended delivery lead
times, distant relationships, or credit line restrictions.

• The Group maintains strong relationships with
customers and ensures reliability of supplies in terms
of quality and delivery through established business
relations with principal suppliers. The Group novates
its contracts to other customers with acceptable credit
standing, where applicable.

Reputation Risk
• The Group’s reputation is at risk of adverse publicity if
there is mishandling of transactions or events.

• The Group values its reputation and has an open
communication programme to ensure timely and
effective communication with its key stakeholders.

Terrorism Risk
• The Group may be adversely affected by unpredictable
terrorist attacks.
• Such an event can potentially result in damage to assets
and disruption in operations and may cause irreversible
impact on the safety and lives of personnel.

• This is an inherent risk and uncontrollable event that the
Group cannot avoid.
• The Group has a disaster recovery plan.
• All leased premises of the Group are managed by
established property owners with security measures in
place.
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RISK MANAGEMENT
STATEMENT
FINANCIAL RISKS
Financial risks arise from volatility in the underlying financial market and include factors such as interest rates, foreign
exchange and equity prices.
DESCRIPTION OF RISKS

WHAT WE DO TO MANAGE THE RISKS

• Availability of banking facilities or additional debtfinancing on favourable terms is subject to prevailing
external factors such as global and local economic
conditions, sentiments in credit and capital markets.

• The Group monitors and maintains a level of cash
and cash equivalents deemed adequate to finance its
operations.
• The Group manages trade financing proactively to
ensure financing requirements and banking covenants
are met as and when required.
• Cash flow projections and available bank facilities are
actively reviewed to ensure efficient management of
liquidity position, including usage of internal funds to
reduce dependency on external financing.

Liquidity Risk

Foreign Exchange and Derivative Financial Instrument Risks
• Exchange gains or losses may arise when assets
and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated or
exchanged into Singapore dollars for financial reporting
or repatriation purposes.
• Market conditions may move against the assumptions
that the Group adopts at the time of hedging
transactions, an inherent risk.

• Natural hedging is used extensively, including matching
sales with purchases or matching assets with liabilities
of the same currency and amount, whenever it is
practicable.
• Currency translation risk is inherent for operations
outside Singapore, is non-cash in nature and is therefore
not hedged.
• Derivative financial instruments are only used to manage
foreign currency exposure.
• Hedging is undertaken, when necessary, to meet actual
operational requirements, not for speculative purposes.

Price Risk
• Risk of variability and volatility in pricing trends of
commodities and the inability to pass increased cost of
products and transaction costs to customers may have
an adverse impact on the Group’s performance.

• This is an inherent risk that the Group cannot avoid.
• The Group keeps abreast of developments in global
markets and key price indicators.

Credit Risk
• Credit risk arises when counterparties default on their
contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the
Group.

• Standard operating procedures are in place, which
include extending pre-approved credit terms to creditworthy customers and monitoring credit risk on a
regular basis.
• Collections are closely monitored. Major collectability
issues are highlighted to all concerned.

Interest Rate Risk
• The Group is exposed to interest rate fluctuations
through trade financing or bank borrowings.

• The Group keeps abreast of trends in interest rate
movements.
• The Group optimises net interest cost and reduces
volatility in finance cost.
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RISK MANAGEMENT
STATEMENT
DESCRIPTION OF RISKS

WHAT WE DO TO MANAGE THE RISKS

• The Group is exposed to vagaries of tax interpretations
or changes at short notice in foreign jurisdictions.

• The Group monitors changes in tax rules in different
countries on a periodic basis.
• Tax provisions are made in strict compliance with the
rules to minimise under-accrual in the book of accounts.

Tax Risk

Financial Reporting Risk
• Apart from the Group’s policies and guidelines and the
outsourced internal audit function, the Group relies on
the self-assessment, review, and reporting process at
the entity level to ensure that transactions are carried
out in conformity with the accounting standards and
the Group’s accounting policies and that the internal
controls are adequate and effective.
• This system may not prevent or detect all frauds or
misstatements in a timely manner.
• Changes in conditions or operations may cause system
effectiveness to vary from time to time.

• Internal controls over financial reporting are reviewed
regularly and embedded within our corporate
governance structure.
• On a half-yearly basis, the operating and finance
heads report the results of their self-review in their
management representation letter.
• The half-yearly management representation letter also
serves as a platform to highlight any transactions and/or
events which may have a material or potential financial
impact to the Group.

OPERATIONAL RISKS
Operational risks refer to persons, processes, products, information technology and practices in the business activities which
may not operate as designed or planned.
DESCRIPTION OF RISKS

WHAT WE DO TO MANAGE THE RISKS

Ethics and Integrity Risk
• Risk of fraudulent, illegal, or unethical acts committed
by employees, customers or suppliers against the Group
may cause loss in profitability, or assets or reputational
damage.

• Policies and procedures, Delegation of Authority matrix,
minimum acceptable internal controls, Code of Conduct
which covers conflicts of interest and business ethics,
and Whistle-blowing Policy, have been defined and put
into practice. Since January 2017, the Group adopted the
Anti-bribery and Anti-corruption Policy. Accountability
is established through year-end internal control selfassessment review by each entity and annual declaration
by each employee which requires each employee to
disclose any instances of conflicts of interest or raising
any issues or concerns of possible irregularities of the
Company’s or the Group’s affairs.
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RISK MANAGEMENT
STATEMENT
DESCRIPTION OF RISKS

WHAT WE DO TO MANAGE THE RISKS

Information Technology and Cyber Security Risks
•

The Group is susceptible to information technology
and cyber security risks which are a constantly
evolving threat to an entity’s ability to achieve its
objectives and deliver its core functions. Security
failings or network disruptions in today’s informationdriven economy can result in significant long-term
expense to affected entities and substantially damage
consumer trust and brand reputation. Sensitive
customer information, intellectual property and even
control of key equipment are increasingly at risk from
cyber attack.

• The Group complements its Policy on Management
Information Systems by implementing the Information
Security Policy since January 2017, covering cyber
security and data protection measures. All employees
are to observe these policies at all times to ensure the
integrity and availability of information while preventing
unauthorised access to the Group’s information
systems. Appropriate steps have been taken to prevent
unauthorised modification, destruction, or disclosure
of these assets, whether accidental or intentional, as
well as to ensure the security, reliability, integrity, and
availability of the data.
• During the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group implements
work from home arrangements for its employees.
These arrangements rely heavily on its IT infrastructure
and systems functionality to minimise the operational
disruptions arising from the pandemic.
• The migration of the Group’s ERP system to the Cloud
has been completed, with the objective of managing IT
infrastructure remotely while minimising security risk
and cost of maintaining on-premises hardware.

People Risk
• The Group depends on steadfast service of good
personnel for business continuity.
• Succession plan execution is a challenge given the size
of the Group.

• The Group provides a safe working environment in
which employees can develop their careers with a worklife balance and appropriate training and development
opportunities to nurture and retain human capital.
• Competitive salary packages are offered based on
performance that is mapped against key performance
indicators agreed at the beginning of the financial year.

Sourcing Risk
• The Group is exposed to risks associated with failure of
suppliers to provide timely and quality products, limited
or significant concentration of supplies, or failure of
utility supplies.

• Operating manuals, standard operating procedures,
Delegation of Authority matrix are in place on sourcing
process.
• The Group expands suppliers’ base where applicable to
reduce over-reliance on any suppliers.
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RISK MANAGEMENT
STATEMENT
DESCRIPTION OF RISKS

WHAT WE DO TO MANAGE THE RISKS

Work Health and Safety Risk
• Employees are exposed to workplace health and
safety risks arising from events such as incidents in the
workplace or pandemics.
• Business uncertainties arising from the ongoing
pandemic may persist until the herd immunity can be
achieved.

• The Group cultivates a safety-consciousness culture at
all levels and has implemented a Workplace Safety and
Health Policy.
• Refresher drills on fire safety, emergency evacuation
and first-aid response are conducted regularly.
• A disease pandemic preparedness plan is in place to
safeguard the health and welfare of employees and to
ensure quick resumption of critical business functions.
• Where appropriate, the Group obtains insurance
coverage to mitigate these risks.
• The Group places priority on the workplace safety
and health of its employees and other stakeholders,
especially during the outbreak of COVID-19. During
the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group monitors
closely the advisories from the authorities, facilitates
telecommuting, implements the wearing of masks,
temperature taking, the provision of hand sanitisers,
and ensures compliance with safe distancing measures.
Please refer to the “Sustainability Report” section of the
annual report for a discussion on the Group’s COVID-19
response.

Insurance Risk
• The Group is exposed to the risks (such as war, terrorism,
outbreak of contagious diseases, environmental
breaches) that may not be insurable, or the premium
can be prohibitive, or the financial loss may not be fully
compensated by insurance proceeds.

• The Group conducts annual insurance review with its
insurance broker to ensure adequate and comprehensive
insurance coverage.
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COMPLIANCE RISKS
Compliance risks are the current and prospective risks arising from violation of, or non-compliance with laws, rules, regulations,
or ethical standards.
DESCRIPTION OF RISKS

WHAT WE DO TO MANAGE THE RISKS

Compliance Risk
• There have been rapid changes in laws, regulations, and
practices, making compliance more complicated.
• The Group’s internal control systems and related
frameworks may not be kept up to date in time.

• Internal controls, risk management and corporate
governance frameworks, and internal control selfassessment processes are all in place and are reviewed
on an annual basis.
• A Whistle-blowing Policy and annual declarations by
staff on conflicts of interest and compliance with the
Code of Conduct have been in place.
• External auditors are engaged for statutory audit, while
internal auditors are engaged to conduct operations
review, both report directly to the ARC.
• The Group monitors closely the advisories from the
authorities, facilitates telecommuting, implements the
wearing of masks, temperature taking, the provision
of hand sanitisers, and ensures compliance with safe
distancing measures to prevent the spread of COVID-19
in the workplace.
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MANAGING SUSTAINABILITY
SP Corporation Limited (the “Company” or “SP Corp”)
and together with its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
recognise the importance of our roles as responsible
corporate citizens towards our stakeholders while in
pursuit of a sustainable future that enhances long-term
shareholder value.
SP Corp’s sustainability approach focuses on
maintaining resilience to adapt to changing business
landscape through deployment of sustainable and
efficient processes by improving the bottom line,
developing our human capital and making positive
contributions to the communities and the environment.

SCOPE OF REPORT
Our Group Sustainability Report covers the sustainability
performance of our operations in Singapore, where SP
Corp is headquartered. We also provide some insights on
certain aspects of our subsidiaries in Malaysia, Indonesia
and Hong Kong, where relevant. However, all data, statistics
and improvement targets are in relation to the Group’s
main operations in Singapore unless otherwise stated.
No restatements were made from the previous report.
There were no significant changes to the organisation and
our supply chain during the reporting cycle, other than
the termination of the Group’s long-term coal allocation
agreement with its coal supplier in December 2021. The
Group is currently engaged in discussions with its coal
supplier to explore alternative terms or arrangements to
continue to obtain coal supplies. The Group continues to
have a good relationship with its coal supplier.
We prepare our report for the financial year from 1 January
2021 to 31 December 2021 (“FY2021”) in reference to the
Global Reporting Initiative (“GRI”) Standards: Core Option
issued by the Global Sustainability Standards Board and
in reference to the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading
Limited (“SGX-ST”) Listing Rules (711A and 711B). We
are also guided by the Practice Note 7.6 Sustainability
Reporting Guide issued by SGX-ST, in particular, paragraph
4 (Contents of Sustainability Reporting) therein. Based on
GRI’s recommended approach to sustainability reporting
and SGX-ST’s Sustainability Reporting Guide, this report
covers key areas of sustainability, namely, Corporate
Governance, Risk Management, Stakeholder Engagement,
Economic Performance, Environmental Initiatives and Social
(employment and communities). These key environmental,
social and governance (“ESG”) factors are deemed material
to the Group by our Board of Directors (the “Board”). This
report has not been audited by an external entity.

OUR VISION AND MISSION
Our Vision – Creating sustainable growth.
Our Mission – To be a profitable, growth-oriented and
value driven industrial group in the Asia Pacific region.
BOARD STATEMENT
The Board acknowledges that its members are collectively
responsible for the long-term strategic direction of the
Company and that it has considered sustainability issues
as part of its strategic formulation. For the purpose of SGXST Listing Rule 711B and the accompanying Practice Note
7.6, the Board confirms that it has determined the material
ESG factors and overseen management in monitoring the
material ESG factors.
The Board is committed to the Group’s efforts towards the
employment of sustainable practices as it is our strategic
approach to integrate sustainability in all aspects of our
business and operations. This report, containing the
primary components as set out in SGX-ST Listing Rule 711B,
is issued with the approval of the Board.
A primary product of the Group’s commodity business is
coal. The Board acknowledges the negative impacts on
environment of the coal trade. The Company is in search
of a more sustainable business model. The Board and
management are working towards diversifying its business
and identifying new ways to grow the business sustainably.
SUSTAINABILITY CONTACT
Your feedback on this report and any aspect of our
sustainability performance is valuable to us in improving
our sustainability practices. Please send your views to us via
Investor Relations/Feedback and Queries at our website,
www.spcorp.com.sg.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT
Our business operations affect, and are affected by, a diverse group of stakeholders – both internal and external. Our
stakeholders comprise shareholders, customers, employees, suppliers, and the communities and environment in which
we operate. We identify our key stakeholders by assessing their influence and involvement in our business. At SP Corp,
we recognise that effective collaboration with our key stakeholders is critical in aligning our business decisions with their
needs and concerns. We thus proactively engage stakeholders through various channels to identify and understand issues
pertinent to them. We also strive to maintain regular two-way communication to foster accountability and transparency. SP
Corp’s approach towards stakeholder engagement is summarised below:
KEY STAKEHOLDERS

ENGAGEMENT METHODS

FREQUENCY

KEY TOPICS OF INTEREST

Shareholders

•
•
•
•
•

Throughout the year

•
•
•
•
•
•

Customers

• Informal dialogues
• Email correspondence
• Meetings with key customers

Throughout the year

• Quality management

Employees

• Employee feedback
• Performance appraisals

Throughout the year

•
•
•
•
•
•

Suppliers

• Price quotations and email
correspondence

Throughout the year

• Quality of products and
services

Government

• Annual compliance audit
• Statutory disclosures
• Quarterly survey of
wholesale trade

Throughout the year

• Rules and regulations
compliance
• Corporate governance and risk
management

Community

• Donations/Volunteer hours

Throughout the year

• Community services

Annual general meeting
Extraordinary general meeting
SGXNet announcements
Website
Annual report

Maximising shareholder value
Economic and business outlook
Business investment strategies
Timeliness of disclosure
Financial return
Corporate values

Workplace safety and health
Workplace compliance
Training and education
Employee retention
Diversity
Gender equality at work

Sustainability Context

Economic Performance
Environmental Initiatives
SP Corp's
Business
Strategy

Sustainability
Focus Area

Good Employment Practices
Local Communities
Corporate Governance
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IDENTIFICATION OF MATERIAL ESG FACTORS
Materiality Assessment
In 2021, we had identified 5 key areas of focus that are material to SP Corp which were validated by the Board. The material
factors identified were in line with those reported in our previous Sustainability Report published in our 2020 Annual
Report. We will review our materiality process at periodic intervals to keep updated with new developments of the Group.
SUSTAINABILITY FOCUS AREAS

MATERIAL FACTORS

READ MORE IN OUR:

BOUNDARY

Economic value
generation and
distribution

• Economic performance

• Sustainability Report,
page 18
• Financial Statements,
pages 70 to 123

• Group entities

Environmental
initiative

• Energy
• Paper consumption

• Sustainability Report
pages 22 to 23

• Group entities
• Employees

Good
employment
practices

• Employment
• Training and education
• Workplace safety and
health

• Sustainability Report,
pages 20 to 22

• Employees

Local
communities

• Community services

• Sustainability Report,
page 24

• Employees

Corporate
governance
and risk
management

• Anti-corruption
• Corporate governance
• Risk management

• Sustainability Report,
pages 18 to 20
• Corporate Governance
Report, pages 47 to 53
• Risk Management Statement,
pages 6 to 14
• Website: Whistle-blowing
Policy Statement

•
•
•
•
•

Board
Committees
Group entities
Employees
External
parties

Amongst the key material ESG factors, we have charted the following matrix based on the likelihood of influence on our
stakeholders and the impact to our business:

Impact to our business

SP Corp’s Material Factors Matrix
• Workplace safety and health

• Economic performance

• Training and education

• Corporate governance

• Good employment practices

High

• Anti-corruption

• Risk management

Medium

Low

• Community services

Low

• Electricity and paper
consumption
Medium

Likelihood of influence on our stakeholders

High
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2021 Performance and 2022 Targets
PEOPLE

2021 TARGETS

2021 ACHIEVEMENTS

2022 TARGETS

Training and Education

• Relevant staff to have
training opportunity, where
applicable

• Training hours per
employee decreased
by 48%

• More training sessions
or webinar opportunities
for relevant employees

Workplace Safety
and Health

• Zero accidents and fatalities
• Committed
to
leading
industry
efforts
to
strengthen capabilities and
build a progressive culture in
Workplace Safety and Health

• Zero fatality rate
• Zero
occupationalrelated illness
• Zero reported incidents

• Zero accidents and
fatalities
• Committed to leading
industry
efforts
to
strengthen capabilities
and build a progressive
culture in Workplace
Safety and Health

2021 TARGETS

2021 ACHIEVEMENTS

2022 TARGETS

Continuously manage the
Group’s exposure to corruption
risk by implementing robust
internal controls as well as
applying and emphasising good
corporate governance, business
ethics and transparency

Maintain “zero tolerance”
on corruption, fraud and
unethical conduct

Continue to review and
improve internal controls
and ensure adherence to
ethical business practices
and transparency

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
Anti-corruption

SP Corp is committed to sustaining the economic
performance of the Group and enhancing long-term
shareholder value while balancing the environmental and
social impact through robust corporate governance and
risk management.
ECONOMIC PERFORMANCE
Enhancing Long-term Shareholder Value
SP Corp strives to work towards enhancing long-term
value for shareholders. For the past five financial years
from 2017 to 2021, we have delivered a cumulative profit
attributable to shareholders of $5.0 million. Our earnings
per share averaged 2.84 cents per annum during the 5-year
period. Shareholders’ funds increased at a compounded
average growth rate (“CAGR”) of approximately 1.9%
per annum to $55.8 million as at 31 December 2021,
compared to $50.8 million as at 31 December 2017. Net
asset value per share grew at a CAGR of approximately
1.9% per annum from $1.45 in 2017 to $1.59 in 2021.
Please refer to the “Five-Year Financial Summary” section
of the annual report for details.
Investor Relations
We take a proactive approach and engage in timely
communications through various platforms such as halfyearly results announcements. The Group disseminates

all announcements to the public via SGXNet and our
website. Our website (www.spcorp.com.sg) also provides
information on the Group’s business operations, past
financial results announcements, and annual reports. In line
with our commitment for timely disclosure, we have over
the years brought forward the dates on which we announce
our results, although our half-year and full year results are
required to be made within one month and two months
from the end of each announcement period respectively.
For FY2021, the financial results for the half-year ended 30
June 2021 were announced on 30 July 2021. The unaudited
full year financial results for FY2021 were released on 25
February 2022, which is within the timeline prescribed by
SGX-ST Listing Rule 705(1).
The Company encourages participation of shareholders
at the Company’s Annual General Meetings. Before the
outbreak of COVID-19, such meetings were held at venues
in the Central Business District which are convenient and
accessible to shareholders. Every shareholder is entitled
to appoint up to two proxies to attend and vote on his/
her behalf save that no limit shall be imposed on the
number of proxies for nominee companies. Our Annual
General Meeting this year will be held on 21 April 2022
via “live” webcast in place of physical meeting to minimise
the physical interactions and COVID-19 transmission
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risks. The “live” webcast will take place at the registered
office of the Company situated at 9 Oxley Rise, #03-02
The Oxley, Singapore 238697. The Company will ensure
that it complies with all regulations on the safe distancing
and workplace measures imposed by the Singapore
Government. Substantial and relevant questions submitted
by shareholders prior to the deadline as set out in the
accompanying Company’s announcement dated 6 April
2022 will be answered 48 hours prior to the closing date
and time for the lodgement of the proxy forms. The annual
report for FY2021 will be distributed to shareholders within
the prescribed timeframe of at least two weeks before the
Annual General Meeting.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
SP Corp strives to adhere to a high standard of corporate
governance, accountability, and transparency. We believe
that conducting business in a responsible manner is
essential for the sustainability of the Group’s businesses
and performance as well as ensuring long-term value for
our stakeholders.
The Board monitors the effectiveness of management
and regularly reviews the Group’s corporate governance
practices and maintains continual robustness of governance
that is reflective of changes in the existing environment.
The Board adheres to the principles and guidelines of
the Singapore’s Code of Corporate Governance 2018. The
Group has in place a Code of Conduct that sets out the
main principles of the conduct and business ethics covering
SGTI YEAR

2021

areas such as conflicts of interest, confidentiality of
information and conduct in the workplace. Ongoing review
of the Code of Conduct ensures new policies are put in
place to meet challenges brought about by the changing
business environment. Integrity and ethical behaviour
remain as the fundamental elements in the context of Code
of Conduct and this has been cascaded from top to bottom
and across all levels within the Group. In addition, we have
a Whistle-blowing Policy in place to enable our employees,
and external parties such as suppliers and customers to
report any non-compliance or dishonest practices or signal
serious matters that they may be aware of. Please refer to
the “Corporate Governance Report” section of the annual
report for a detailed discussion on the Group’s corporate
governance practices.
We have received zero report through our whistle-blowing
channel in 2021. No breach of corporate governance was
reported.
Singapore Governance and Transparency Index
The Singapore Governance and Transparency Index
(“SGTI”) is a tripartite collaboration between CPA Australia,
NUS Business School’s Centre for Governance, Institutions
and Organisations, and The Business Times. It assesses
companies on their corporate governance disclosures
and practices, as well as the timeliness, accessibility, and
transparency of their financial results announcement.
Based on the latest ranking published on the SGX-ST
website, SP Corp was ranked 171th position amongst the
listed companies in Singapore.
2020 Winner for
2019
2018
2017
Award
SIAS Investors’
Choice Awards
Award

Rank

171

101

93

119

61

Score

74

80

75

69

73

Award Winner for SIAS Investors’ Choice Awards 2021
For its outstanding efforts in improving transparency, the
Company received the Runner-Up of the Most Transparent
Company Award (MTCA) 2021 - Industrials at the Securities
Investors Association (Singapore) (“SIAS”) 21st Investors’
Choice Awards Virtual Presentation Ceremony held on 12
October 2021.
SGX Fast Track
On 30 November 2021, the Company was included in the
SGX Fast Track until the next review cycle in 2023. The
SGX Fast Track programme recognises the efforts and
achievements of listed issuers which have upheld high
standards of corporate governance and maintained a good
compliance track record.

RISK MANAGEMENT
Risk assessment and management is an integral part of
the strategic and operational decision-making process
at SP Corp. The Board provides guidance and policy
direction on the risk management framework and has
overall responsibility in determining the business risk level
that is acceptable to the Group in achieving its corporate
objectives.
The overall framework established by the Group is to
enhance the soundness of its financial reporting, risk
management, compliance and internal control systems
and to provide a holistic and systematic approach to
address risks encountered at various levels of business
operations and to ensure compliance with applicable
laws and regulations at all times. The Board, together with
management, determines the risk management objectives
and policies, and promotes a culture of risk awareness and
balanced risk-taking.
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We believe in integrity and professionalism in the conduct
of our business activities and expect our employees to
embrace, practise and adopt these values. To ensure our
employees understand the Group’s philosophy in this
aspect, the Group’s Code of Conduct is made available to
all staff on the day they join the Group. All employees are
required to make an annual declaration on involvement in
any conflict-of-interest situation and compliance with the
Code of Conduct.

For the financial year under review, management believes
that the current framework for managing risks remains
appropriate. Although risks cannot be completely
eliminated, an effective risk identification and management
process will reduce the uncertainties in achieving the
Group’s business objectives and allow the Group to take
advantage of opportunities that may arise.
Risks are evaluated based on criteria developed for the
Group, and standard methodology and templates are used
to facilitate management reporting. On an annual basis,
a risk management report highlighting potential risks
relating to the Group’s business operations and measures
to mitigate such identified risks, is submitted to our Audit
and Risk Committee and our Board. Please refer to the
“Corporate Governance Report” and “Risk Management
Statement” sections of the annual report for details of the
discussion on the Group’s risk management practices.

Our people are encouraged to participate in training and
development programmes such as professional training,
executive and leadership development as well as technical
seminars, for career growth and personal development.
We offer comprehensive group medical coverages including
medical, dental, term life, personal accident and work injury
compensation for our employees. Some of our employees
are also eligible for annual health screening packages for
which they are reimbursed, subject to a capping. We assist
our employees to achieve a work-life balance by observing
a five-day workweek, having regard to the requirements of
the Company and the exigencies of the business.

GOOD EMPLOYMENT PRACTICES
People and Future of Work
Our people are key to the Group’s long-term growth and
success. We strive to be a company where talented and
motivated people continue to do great work.

Employee Profile as at 31 December 2021
SP Corp Group’s employees are employed on a permanent
or temporary basis. In contrast to permanent contract
employees, employees who are employed under a
temporary contract have a definite and defined employment
period. Out of the total headcount of ten, SP Corp Group
has two temporary contract employees in Singapore.

The Group is committed to good employment practices to
foster a conducive environment for sustainable growth. We
recognise the importance of training, developing, growing,
and retaining our human capital through implementation
of effective human resource policies and practices. We
focus on providing a safe, clean and balanced workplace
for our employees.

Our employees are also categorised into full-time and parttime employees. A full-time employee is one whose working
hours per week, month, or year are defined according to
national legislation and practices regarding working hours.
As at 31 December 2021, there was one part-time employee
among the majority of full-time employees.

We offer competitive pay packages that are linked to
market practices and reward employees based on merit.
The Company’s remuneration package comprises a fixed
component and a variable component which is linked
to the Company’s performance, the individual entity’s
performance as well as the individual’s performance. We
also take into consideration the general market sentiment
and business outlook of the Company when determining
the variable components for the employees.

There are no significant variations in the numbers reported
in the tables below as the Group’s business activities are
not affected by factors such as seasonality. The data have
been compiled from the personnel records maintained by
the human resource department.

Our people are treated fairly regardless of their background.
We adopt an open-door policy to facilitate and encourage
formal and informal interaction and discussion amongst
employees at all levels. A Whistle-blowing Committee was also
set up to look into any feedback received from our employees
on unfair work practices, corruption, and misconduct.

None of our employees are covered by collective bargaining
agreements.

Employees by Employment Contract, Gender, and Country
PERMANENT
Singapore

TEMPORARY

Male

Female

Male

Female

Total

3

5

0

2

10
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Employees by Employment Type and Gender

Employees by Gender

FULL-TIME

PART-TIME

TOTAL

Male

2

1

3

Female

7

0

7

Total

9

1

10

30%
70%

Employees by Designation and Country
PERMANENT
Manager

Executive

Non-Executive/
Staff

Total

2

5

3

10

Singapore

Female
Male

New Employee Hires and Employee Turnover
The rate of new employee hires was 10% in 2021. The new hire falls within the
age group of 51 to 60 years old.
The employee turnover rate was 20% in 2021. The turnover falls within the age
group of 20 to 30 years old and 41 to 50 years old. Despite the relatively high
turnover rate, approximately 60% of our employees have been with SP Corp
Group for more than 3 years. As part of the Group’s efforts to improve employee
retention, employees who have resigned are interviewed prior to leaving the
Group.

Employees by Nationality

20%

80%

New Employee Hires
2021

SINGAPORE
NUMBER

%

Less than 20 years old

0

0%

31 to 40 years old

0

0%

20 to 30 years old
41 to 50 years old
51 to 60 years old

Older than 60 years old
Total

0
0

0%

100%

1

100%

Less than 20 years old

SINGAPORE
NUMBER
0

%
50%

41 to 50 years old

1

50%

Older than 60 years old

0

0%

51 to 60 years old

Total

0

2

30%

20%

0%

1
0

10%

40%

20 to 30 years old
31 to 40 years old

Employees by Years of Service

0%

Employee Turnover
2021

Malaysian

0%

1

0

Singaporean

0%

0%

100%

More than 15

6-10

11-15

Less than 3
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Employees by Age Band

20%

10%

Employees by Category
0%

Directors

20%

50%
31-40

51-60

41-50

Above 60

33%

Managers

14%

Executives

0%

Non- Executives

0%

Staff

0%

67%

71%
0%
14%

60%

10%

40%

Male

90%

Female

Below are our key employment materiality performance measurements:
EMPLOYMENT

2022 TARGETS

2021

2020

2019

2018

2017

Monthly employee turnover

2%

1.6%

3.2%

2.1%

2.5%

7.4%

Training hours per employee

8.0

6.9

13.3

0.3

2.8

5.0

30:70

30:70

33:67

50:50

45:55

76:24

Percentage of male to female employees

The higher employee turnover in 2017 arose mainly from
the Tyre Distribution Unit due to the asset sales and
discontinuation of the tyre distribution business.
There was a marginal decrease in employee turnover in
2021 compared to 2020. The number of training hours
decreased in 2021 mainly because of lower Finance staff
participation in webinars on financial reporting standards
during the year.
WORKPLACE SAFETY AND HEALTH
We place great emphasis within our organisation to
promote workplace safety and healthy work environment
for our staff, customers, contractors, and visitors. We
have in place a pandemic preparedness plan that can be
activated at short notice.
Our workplace safety and health policy is:
• To place safety and health of all employees as part of
the Company’s objective and interest;
• To provide resources to maintain plant and equipment
and systems of work that are safe and without risks to
health;

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

To provide adequate training, information and
instruction with regards to workplace safety and health;
To ensure safety and health of persons in connection
with the use, handling, storage and transport of articles
and substances;
To provide adequate and proper facilities, equipment
and safety apparel and ensure their correct applications;
To monitor the effectiveness of safety and health
provisions within the workplace;
To conduct regular review of the policy and to continually
improve the risk assessment and management process;
To ensure that the requirements of occupational safety
and health legislation are complied with; and
To review as and when required.

ENVIRONMENTAL INITIATIVES
We seek harmony with the environment and strive to play
a part in contributing back to the community in which we
live and work. We have embarked on green initiatives in the
workplace by reducing energy consumption, implementing
energy-efficient measures, using sustainable supplies, and
increasing waste recycling to reduce resource depletion.
We encourage our employees to be environmentally
responsible.

23

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 SP CORPORATION LIMITED

SUSTAINABILITY
REPORT
Below are our key environmental materiality performance measurements:
ENVIRONMENT

2022 TARGETS

2021

2020

2019

2018

2017

Electricity consumption (kWh)

5,000

4,655

56,614

72,974

73,847

204,182

Paper consumption (Tonnes)

0.05

0.06

0.01

0.12

0.32

0.36

Indirect Energy Consumption Trend
SP Corp remains committed to reducing our energy
consumption across our business operations. There was
a significant decrease in our energy consumption since
2018 following the discontinuation of the tyre distribution
business in 2017.
The reduction in electricity consumption in 2020
compared to 2019 and 2018 was due to work from home
arrangements for employees since April 2020 during the
COVID-19 pandemic, following the implementation of
the “circuit breaker” measures (elevated safe distancing
measures and closure of workplace premises) announced
by the Singapore Government on 3 April 2020 to curb
the increasing local transmissions of COVID-19, and the
subsequent advisories of the tripartite partners (Ministry
of Manpower, Singapore National Employers Federation
and National Trade Union Congress) who had introduced
enhanced safe management practices at workplaces to
minimise the risk of widespread re-emergence of COVID-19
in the community.
The significant drop in electricity consumption in 2021 was
due to the relocation of our office premises to a smaller unit
since November 2020 and work from home arrangements
for employees. Moving forward, we target to maintain the
average electricity consumption rate at the current office.
Paper Consumption Trend
Paper consumption reduced in 2018 due to the
discontinuation of the tyre distribution business in
2017, and the accounts of the entities under the Tyre
Distribution Unit were maintained at the Corporate Office.
Paper consumption in 2019 was lower because of good
employee practices in paper utilisation. There was minimal
paper consumption in 2020 mainly due to the work from
home arrangements for employees. In 2021, there was an
increase in paper consumption from 2020 as a percentage
of employees is allowed to return to the office.
As part of SP Corp’s environmental conservation initiatives
and efforts since 2018, we have also discontinued our
practice of mailing our annual report with effect from
FY2017. Electronic edition of this annual report is available
at www.spcorp.com.sg.

Total Indirect Energy Consumption (kWh)

204,182

73,818
72,974

73,847

56,614

72,974

73,847

FY2020

FY2019

FY2018

56,614
4,656
4,656

FY2021

Type Distribution
Unit

130,364

Commodities
Trading Unit
& Corporate

FY2017
Group
Total

Total Volume of Paper Consumed (Tonnes)

0.36
0.32

0.2

0.06
0.06

FY2021

0.01
0.01

FY2020

Type Distribution
Unit

0.12

0.32
0.16

0.12

FY2019

FY2018

Commodities
Trading Unit
& Corporate

FY2017
Group
Total
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COMMUNITY SERVICES
The Group believes in giving back to the society with
monetary contributions and volunteering. Helping our
community is an opportunity to enrich life positively, while
connecting with people for an individual growth too. Over
the years till 2018, SP Corp had participated in the annual
sponsored events jointly organised by our immediate
holding company and certain non-profit organisations
to reach out to the less privileged community. Activities
that we have participated in over the past years include
educational tours for students and outings for the mentally
disadvantaged. SP Corp is looking forward to participating
in similar activities going forward.
SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT
SP Corp keeps its sustainability targets in sight by
exercising caution when selecting business partners who
play an integral role in the Group’s businesses. Consultants,
contractors, and suppliers engaged by SP Corp should
demonstrate equally high levels of work ethics and
commitment towards the environment, health and safety,
where possible.
SP CORP GROUP’S COVID-19 RESPONSE
The COVID-19 pandemic has caused material disruptions
to businesses around the world, which dampen the pace of
economic recovery. In the face of the epidemic, the Group
had effected our basic response policy to ensure that
operations can resume in a responsible and sustainable
manner.
Basic Response Policy
We prioritise the health and safety of our employees
and other stakeholders and endeavour to slow down
community transmission of COVID-19 in accordance with
national government policies. We help our employees
to have flexible working places and support the virtual
communication with customers, suppliers, and staff.
Employee Health, Safety and Well-being
As part of our business continuity plan, standard operating
procedures are drawn up in response to the COVID-19 crisis
and disseminated. We review our business operations and
implement measures to ensure employee safety and wellbeing. We embrace work from home arrangements for
our employees during the pandemic outbreak and from
recovery to resilience stages. We provide thermometer, hand
sanitisers and face masks at our office premises and step up
cleaning of common office areas. Staff and visitors must be
fully vaccinated and submit a negative Antigen Rapid Test
(ART) result before they can enter our office premises.

The Group will continue to explore options for new work
arrangements and remain vigilant and monitor the state
of infections locally and abroad, and to be ready for
immediate response should the crisis worsen.
Customers
COVID-19 impacts our customers who may delay their
purchases due to a slowdown in their business activities
because of poor demand or may experience financial
difficulties. We agree to the novation of contracts to other
customers with acceptable credit standing for our customers
who are unable to fulfil their contractual obligations.
Shareholders
SP Corp was one of the first few SGX-ST listed companies
to convene and hold a “live” webcast Annual General
Meeting on 16 April 2021 during the pandemic period. The
Group continues to strengthen shareholder confidence
and corporate accountability in keeping abreast with the
updated guidelines and advisories from the regulatory
bodies.
The Group also ensures that there are adequate cash
balances and availability of funds to minimise any impact to
its liquidity position in the view of the evolving COVID-19
situation.
We will remain vigilant and adaptive as we forge ahead
with plans to grow our business and to deliver sustainable
returns to our stakeholders. In doing so, we believe we
can be well-positioned for resilience to operate in a postCOVID environment.
Conclusion
The Group expects to be constantly challenged in ensuring
its sustainability in the evolving pandemic environment.
With the constrained global economic recovery, the Group
will face a difficult business environment in its commodities
trading activities.
The Group is exploring various opportunities to reposition,
expand and diversify its business and operations to
achieve a more consistent and sustainable growth, while
maintaining focus on disciplined management of costs and
capital.

25

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 SP CORPORATION LIMITED

SUSTAINABILITY
REPORT
GRI CONTENT INDEX
This report has been prepared in accordance with the GRI Standards: Core option.
GRI Standard

Disclosure

GRI 102: General Disclosures 2016
Organisational profile
102-1

102-2

Name of the organisation

Activities, brands, products, and services

Page number and comment

SP Corporation Limited

Page 3 of annual report – “CEO’s Operations Review”
Pages 75, 95 and 123 of annual report - Notes 1, 4 and 28 to
financial statements
SP Corp does not provide any products or services that are
banned in certain markets

102-3

Location of headquarters

102-5

Ownership and legal form

102-7

Scale of the organisation

102-4

102-6

Location of operations

Markets served

Website: www.spcorp.com.sg

Page 75 of annual report – Note 1 to financial statements

Pages 75 and 123 of annual report – Notes 1 and 28 to
financial statements
Page 75 of annual report – Note 1 to financial statements
Page 3 of annual report – “CEO’s Operations Review”

Page 95 of annual report - Note 4 to financial statements
Page 29 of annual report – “Five-Year Financial Summary”
Page 126 of annual report – “Shareholding Statistics”
Page 95 of annual report – Note 4 to financial statements
Pages 20 to 22 of sustainability report – “Good Employment
Practices”

102-8
102-9

Information on employees and other
workers

Pages 20 to 22 of sustainability report – “Good Employment
Practices”

Significant changes to the organisation
and its supply chain

There were no significant changes in FY2021, other than
the termination of the Group’s long-term coal allocation
agreement with its coal supplier in December 2021

Supply chain

Page 24 of sustainability report – “Supply Chain Management”

102-11

Precautionary Principle or approach

Pages 6 to 7 of annual report – “Risk Management Statement”

102-13

Membership of associations

102-10

102-12
Strategy
102-14

External initiatives

Statement from senior decision-maker

Page 24 of sustainability report – “Community Services”
Singapore Business Federation

Page 2 of annual report – “Chairman’s Statement”
Page 15 of sustainability report – “Board Statement”
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GRI Standard

Disclosure

Page number and comment

GRI 102: General Disclosures 2016
Ethics and integrity
102-16

Values, principles, standards,
norms of behaviour

and

Page 15 of sustainability report – “Our Vision and Mission”
Page 19 of sustainability report – “Corporate Governance”
Page 20 of sustainability report – “Good Employment
Practices”

102-17

Mechanisms for advice and concerns
about ethics

Page 58 of annual report – “Corporate Governance Report”

Page 19 of sustainability report – “Corporate Governance”
Page 20 of sustainability report – “Good Employment
Practices”
Pages 51 to 52 of annual report – “Corporate Governance
Report”

Governance
102-18

Governance structure

Stakeholder engagement
102-40

Pages 30 to 58 of annual report – “Corporate Governance
Report”

102-41

List of stakeholder groups

Collective bargaining agreements

Page 16 of sustainability report

102-42

Identifying and selecting stakeholders

Page 16 of sustainability report

Key topics and concerns raised

Page 16 of sustainability report

102-43

102-44

Approach to stakeholder engagement

Reporting practice
102-45
102-46
102-47

102-48

102-49

102-50

102-51
102-52

102-53
102-54
102-55

102-56

Entities included in the consolidated
financial statements

Page 20 of sustainability report – “Employee Profile as at 31
December 2021”
Page 16 of sustainability report

Front inner cover – “Group Structure”

Defining report content and topic
Boundaries

Page 17 of sustainability report

Restatements of information

There are no restatements of information

Reporting period

Page 15 of sustainability report

List of material topics

Changes in reporting

Date of most recent report

Page 17 of sustainability report

There are no changes in reporting

The last sustainability report was released as part of our
annual report for the financial year ended 31 December 2020

Reporting cycle

Page 15 of sustainability report

Claims of reporting in accordance
with the GRI Standards

Page 15 of sustainability report

Contact point for questions regarding
the report

GRI content index

External assurance

Page 15 of sustainability report

Pages 25 to 28 of sustainability report

Page 15 of sustainability report
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GRI Standard

Disclosure

Page number and comment

Specific Disclosures on Material Topics
GRI 103: Management Approach 2016
Material issue: Economic Performance
103-1
103-2

Explanation of the material topic and
its Boundary

Page 17 of sustainability report

The management approach and its
components

Page 18 of sustainability report

management

Page 18 of sustainability report

Direct economic value generated and
distributed

Page 18 of sustainability report

103-1

Explanation of the material topic and
its Boundary

Pages 17 to 18 of sustainability report

103-2

The management approach and its
components

Page 18 of sustainability report

Evaluation
approach

Page 18 of sustainability report

103-3
201-1

Evaluation
approach

of

the

Material issue: Anti-corruption

103-3
205-2

of

the

management

Communication and training about
anti-corruption policies and procedures

Page 58 of annual report – “Corporate Governance Report”

Page 19 of sustainability report – “Corporate Governance”
Page 20 of sustainability report – “Good Employment
Practices”
Pages 51 to 52 of annual report – “Corporate Governance
Report”

Material issue: Energy
103-1
103-2
103-3
302-1

Explanation of the material topic and
its Boundary

Page 17 of sustainability report

Evaluation
approach

Page 23 of sustainability report

The management approach and its
components

Pages 22 to 23 of sustainability report

Energy consumption
organisation

the

Page 23 of sustainability report

Explanation of the material topic and
its Boundary

Page 17 of sustainability report

Evaluation
approach

Page 23 of sustainability report

of

the

management
within

Material issue: Materials (Paper consumption)
103-1
103-2
103-3
301-1

The management approach and its
components
of

the

management

Materials used by weight or volume

Pages 22 to 23 of sustainability report

Page 23 of sustainability report
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GRI Standard

Disclosure

Page number and comment

Specific Disclosures on Material Topics
GRI 103: Management Approach 2016
Material issue: Employment
103-1
103-2
103-3

401-1

Explanation of the material topic and its
Boundary

Page 17 of sustainability report

Evaluation of the management approach

Pages 20 to 22 of sustainability report

The management
components

New employee
turnover

approach

hires

and

and

its

employee

Material issue: Occupational health and safety
103-1
103-2
103-3

403-1

Explanation of the material topic and its
Boundary

The management
components

approach

and

its

Evaluation of the management approach

Occupational
health
management system

and

safety

Material issue: Training and education
103-1
103-2
103-3

404-1

Explanation of the material topic and its
Boundary

The management
components

approach

and

its

Evaluation of the management approach

Average hours of training per year per
employee

Pages 20 to 22 of sustainability report

Page 21 of sustainability report

Pages 17 to 18 of sustainability report
Page 22 of sustainability report
Page 22 of sustainability report

Page 22 of sustainability report

Pages 17 to 18 of sustainability report
Page 20 of sustainability report
Page 22 of sustainability report

Page 22 of sustainability report
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FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL SUMMARY
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ($'000)
Revenue
(Loss) Profit before tax
Income tax credit (expense)
(Loss) Profit after tax

2021
50,269
(1,368)
110
(1,258)

2020
29,432
1,573
(178)
1,395

2019
93,076
2,969
(466)
2,503

2018
136,379
2,310
(412)
1,898

2017
127,726
418
29
447

AS AT FINANCIAL YEAR END ($'000)
Plant and equipment
Right-of-use asset
Non-current trade receivables
Other assets
Total assets

2021
111
398
56,466
56,975

2020
120
499
2,915
61,025
64,559

2019
121
9,346
54,711
64,178

2018
208
67,520
67,728

2017
172
66,841
67,013

Shareholders' funds
Other liabilities
Total liabilities and equity

55,805
1,170
56,975

56,734
7,825
64,559

55,746
8,432
64,178

53,443
14,285
67,728

50,806
16,207
67,013

2021
0.69
0.77
0.45
0.61
0.87

2020
0.48
0.53
0.35
0.44
0.78

2019
0.51
0.66
0.45
0.56
0.67

2018
0.45
0.89
0.44
0.67
0.39

2017
0.85
0.95
0.48
0.72
1.05

2021
24,218
35,099

2020
16,848
35,099

2019
17,901
35,099

2018
15,795
35,099

2017
29,834
35,099

2020
3.97
1.62
2.5%
2.2%

2019
7.13
1.59
4.6%
3.8%

2018
5.41
1.52
3.6%
2.8%

2017
1.27
1.45
0.9%
0.6%

SHARE PRICES ($)
Last transacted
High
Low
Average (arithmetic)
Trading volume (million shares)
MARKET CAPITALISATION ($'000)
Market capitalisation
Number of ordinary shares issued ('000 shares)
SHAREHOLDERS' RETURNS AND FINANCIAL RATIOS
(Loss) Earnings per share (cents)
Net assets per share (dollar)
Return on shareholders' funds (%)
Return on total assets (%)

2021
(3.58)
1.59
-2.2%
-2.1%

FINANCIAL
CALENDAR
FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

19 February 2021

Announcement of full year financial results for the financial year ended 31 December 2020

16 April 2021

68th Annual General Meeting

31 March 2021
30 July 2021

Despatch of 2020 Annual Report

Announcement of half-year financial results for the financial period ended 30 June 2021

FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

25 February 2022

Announcement of full year financial results for the financial year ended 31 December 2021

21 April 2022

69th Annual General Meeting

6 April 2022

5 August 2022

17 February 2023

Despatch of 2021 Annual Report

Proposed announcement of half-year financial results for the financial period ending 30 June 2022

Proposed announcement of full year financial results for the financial year ending 31 December 2022

Note: The dates for the proposed results announcements in 2022 and 2023 are indicative only and are subject to change.
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SP Corporation Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) continue to be committed to high
standards of corporate conduct. The Board of Directors (the “Board”) and management believe that good corporate
governance is key to the integrity of the Group and essential to the long-term sustainability of the Group’s businesses
and performance. To discharge its governance function, the Board and its committees have established policies and rules
to govern their activities. The Board and its committees are guided by their respective written terms of references.
In 2021, the Company was ranked 171th position in the Singapore Governance and Transparency Index (SGTI) 2021
(General Category) out of 519 Singapore-listed companies. The Company was also awarded the Runner-Up of the Most
Transparent Company Award by the SIAS Investors’ Choice Awards 2021. In addition, the Company was included in the
Singapore Exchange (“SGX”) Fast Track until the next review cycle in 2023.
The Board is pleased to report the Company’s corporate governance practices for the financial year ended 31 December
2021 (“FY2021”) with specific reference to each guideline of the Code of Corporate Governance 2018 (the “Code”).
Unless otherwise explained, the Board is pleased to report that the Company has complied, in all material aspects, with
the principles and provisions set out in the Code.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK (as at 31 December 2021)
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I. BOARD MATTERS
BOARD’S CONDUCT OF ITS AFFAIRS
Principle 1: Effective Board leadership and organisation, working with management for the long-term success
of the Company
Provisions 1.1 and 1.2
Board’s roles and directors’ duties
Board’s role
The Board oversees the overall strategy, performance and business direction of the Group and is collectively responsible
for its long-term success. Management also plays a pivotal role in providing Board members with complete, adequate
and timely information to assist the directors in the fulfilment of their responsibilities.
Scope of directors’ duties
Apart from its statutory duties, during FY2021 the Board performed the following:
i.

reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and ensuring that management
maintains a sound system of internal controls framework (including financial, operational and management
systems) to safeguard the shareholders’ investments and the Company’s assets;

ii.

monitoring and managing risks, achieving appropriate balance between risks and the Company’s performance;

iii.

ensuring that standards of the code of conduct applied to management are observed;

iv.

ensuring that policies are in place to ensure compliance with legislative and regulatory requirements;

v.

monitoring the Group’s performance, position and prospects; reviewing the performance of management; and
satisfying themselves that the Group’s businesses are properly managed;

vi.

reviewing and approving the release of the Group’s half-year and full year financial results, and a variety of other
strategic initiatives tabled by management; and

vii.

ensuring transparency and accountability to key stakeholder groups.

The Board exercises due diligence and independent judgement in dealing with the business affairs of the Group. It
works with management, its external advisors and auditors to make objective decisions in the interest of the Group. In
addition, the Board sets the tone for the entire organisation where ethics and values are concerned. The Board is also
supported by three Board committees to facilitate the discharge of its functions to which it has delegated specific areas
of responsibilities.
Conflicts of interest
Internal guidelines have been established which require all Board members who have potential conflicts of interest in a
particular agenda item to abstain from participating in the relevant Board discussion. This policy also applies to all the
Board committees.
Directors’ competencies
It is the Company’s policy to provide new directors with a detailed and thorough induction, including meeting with key
management personnel (“KMP”) (or executives of equivalent rank) and an overview of their responsibilities. The Chief
Executive Officer (“CEO”)/Interim Executive Director and the company secretary make the necessary arrangement to
facilitate this induction process.
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The Board is routinely being updated on pertinent developments in the business including changes in laws and
regulations, code of corporate governance, financial reporting standards and industry-related matters to enable them to
effectively discharge their duties.
The directors continued to keep themselves abreast of changes and developments in the industry. Training programmes
attended by some of our directors in FY2021 included (i) ACRA-SGX-SID Audit Committee Seminar 2021 (ii) SGX
Regulatory Symposium 2021 - Market Needs in a Changing Landscape, and (iii) SID Directors Conference 2021 Asia
Renaissance – the New Era of Recovery and Reopening. In addition, Mr Leong Kok Ho, who was appointed as a
Non-Executive and Non-Independent Director on 28 May 2020, has in 2021 attended the relevant prescribed training
programmes conducted by the Singapore Institute of Directors for newly appointed directors who have no prior board
experience on Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) listed companies.
The Company will fund directors’ participation at industry conferences, seminars or any training programme in
connection with their duties as directors.
Upon appointment to the Board, a new director will receive a formal letter of appointment together with relevant
information which includes directors’ duties and responsibilities, Board and Board committees’ meeting schedule, the
Company’s latest annual report, constitution, respective Board committees’ terms of reference, remuneration framework
for directors and guidelines for dealing in securities by directors and employees of the Group. Directors are given
appropriate briefings by management on the business activities of the Group, its strategic directions, and the Company’s
corporate governance policies and practices when they are first appointed to the Board.
Provision 1.3
Internal guidelines on matters requiring Board’s approval
The Company has established guidelines governing matters that require the Board’s approval. A delegation of authority
matrix provides clear directions to management on matters requiring the Board’s specific approval. These include (but
are not limited to) the following:
i.

material acquisition/investments and disposal of assets/investments;

ii.

corporate/financial restructuring and corporate exercises;

iii.

budgets/forecasts/strategic plans;

iv.

financial results announcements and press releases;

v.

material financial/funding arrangements and capital expenditures;

vi.

delegation of authority matrix, policies and procedures; and

vii.

related party and interested person transactions.

The Board reviews and approves the Group’s annual budget and business plans. Through the monthly operations
reports, it monitors the financial performance of the Group. The Board also deliberates on other key business activities
and material transactions that are above the authority limits delegated to management or the Board committees.
In addition, the Board considers issues relating to the Group’s current and future business developments, as well as
strategic direction; and material developments relating to accounting, legal, regulatory and corporate governance issues.
The Board is also responsible for the succession planning, appointment and replacement of directors, as well as the
appointment of KMP (or executives of equivalent rank) and the determination of their remuneration.
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Board organisation and support
Provision 1.4
Delegation to Board committees
The Board is supported by three Board committees to assist it in the discharge of its responsibilities and to enhance
the Company’s corporate governance framework. These committees include the Audit and Risk Committee (“ARC”), the
Nominating Committee (“NC”) and the Remuneration Committee (“RC”) (each, a “Board Committee” and collectively,
the “Board Committees”). Each Board Committee has its own specific terms of reference setting out the scope of its
duties and responsibilities, rules and regulations, authorities delegated by the Board, and procedures governing the
manner in which it is to operate and how decisions are to be taken. Any change to the terms of reference for any Board
Committee requires the Board’s approval. More information on the Board Committees can be found in the respective
sections of the Board Committees in this annual report.
Provision 1.5
Board and Board Committee meetings and attendance records
The Board and the Board Committees meet regularly based on meeting schedule planned in advance of each financial
year so as to ensure maximum attendance by all participants. Ad hoc meetings are arranged as and when warranted
by particular circumstances. On occasions, when directors are unable to attend meetings in person, telephonic or video
conference participation at meetings is allowed under the Constitution of the Company. To enable members of the
Board and the Board Committees to prepare for the meetings, agendas and materials are circulated at least one week
before each meeting. In FY2021, the directors were given the option to attend virtual meetings via Zoom facility to
minimise the coronavirus exposure.
The attendance of the directors at the meetings (including physical and virtual meetings) during FY2021 is set out below:

2021 Meeting Attendance

Board(1)

ARC(2)

NC

RC

Board
Committee(3)

General
Meeting

Total Number of Meetings

6

3

1

1

2

1

Peter Sung

6

2

N/A

1

2

1

William Nursalim alias William Liem

5

N/A

1

N/A

N/A

1

Tan Lye Huat

6

3

1

1

2

1

Cheng Hong Kok

6

1

1

1

N/A

1

Leong Kok Ho

6

3

N/A

N/A

2

1

Annotations:
(1)

The Board met six times in FY2021, of which five were scheduled meetings and one was an ad hoc meeting.

(2)

The ARC met three times in FY2021 instead of four, as one of the scheduled meetings was not held in view that the ARC composition was
not yet determined.

(3)

Apart from the aforesaid regular meetings of the Board and the Board Committees, the Board has in FY2021 established a committee to
look into a possible development involving a potential corporate transaction or action.

During FY2021, non-executive directors (including independent directors) also met amongst themselves and/or with the
CEO/ Interim Executive Director and his management team on an ad hoc basis to approve and/or discuss specific issues
or matters relating to the Group. Such informal discussions and meetings are not included in the above table.
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Provision 1.6
Access to information
To enable the Board to fulfil its responsibilities, management provides adequate, and timely information to the Board to
make informed decisions. A system of communication between management and the Board, and between the Board and
Board Committees has been established and improved over time. All scheduled Board and Board Committees’ meetings
are planned in advance of each financial year and meeting papers are distributed to the directors at least one week
before the meetings.
The Board, the Board Committees and every director have separate and independent access to management and are
free to request for additional information when necessary to make informed decisions.
In addition to the annual budget and business plans submitted to the Board for approval, the Board is provided with
monthly management/operations reports, management accounts, Board papers and related materials informing the
directors of the Group’s performance, position and prospects. Management also keeps the Board apprised of material
variances between the actual results with the previous corresponding period and against the budget. Appropriate
explanations on such variances are provided. Additional information is circulated to the Board on a regular basis as and
when there is material development in the Group’s business operations.
Provision 1.7
Independent professional advice/company secretary
The Company provides for directors, individually or as a group, to have separate and independent access to
management, the company secretary and to seek external professional advice where necessary at the expense of the
Company, in the furtherance of their duties and after consultation with the Chairman of the Board.
The role of the company secretary has been clearly defined which includes, inter alia, advising the Board on all matters
regarding the proper functioning of the Board, compliance with the Company’s Constitution, the Companies Act 1967
(“Companies Act”), relevant provisions of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 and the SGX-ST Listing Manual. She
assists the Board in implementing and strengthening corporate governance policies and procedures.
Under the direction of the Chairman, the company secretary ensures good information flow to and within the Board and
the Board Committees and between management and the non-executive directors.
During FY2021, the company secretary attended all meetings of the Board and its Committees and the minutes of such
meetings were circulated to all members of the Board and Board Committees.
The appointment and removal of the company secretary are subject to the approval of the Board.
BOARD COMPOSITION AND GUIDANCE
Principle 2: Appropriate level of independence and diversity of the Board, enabling it to make decisions in the
best interests of the Company
Board Composition at one glance
The Board consists of members who have the appropriate level of independence and diversity of thought and
background, with established track record in commodities trading, business, finance, accounting, legal, government,
strategic planning and management which enabled it to make decisions in the best interests of the Company.
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Board composition as at 31 December 2021
Interim Executive Director
William Nursalim alias William Liem
Non-Executive and Independent Director
Peter Sung
Tan Lye Huat
Cheng Hong Kok
Non-Executive and Non-Independent Director
Leong Kok Ho
Executive Director
20%

Non-Independent
Director
40%

Independent
Director
60%

Non-Executive
Director
80%

Provision 2.1
Independence of independent directors
As at 31 December 2021, there were five Board members – comprising one Interim Executive Director and four
Non-Executive Directors (three of whom were independent directors).
The NC determines the independence of each director annually. An independent director is one who is independent in
conduct, character and judgement and has no relationship with the Company, its related corporations, its substantial
shareholders or its officers that can interfere, or be reasonably perceived to interfere with the exercise of the director’s
independent business judgement in the best interests of the Company.
The NC conducted its annual review of the directors’ independence and was satisfied that the Company had complied
with the guidelines of the Code which provide that a majority of the Board is made up of non-executive directors.
The Company also complies with the SGX-ST Listing Rule 210(5)(c) (which has taken effect from 1 January 2022) which
requires independent directors to comprise at least one-third of the Board.
The NC and the Board take into account the existence of relationships or circumstances, including those identified by
the SGX- ST Listing Rule 210(5)(d) and the Code’s Practice Guidance 2018 (“Practice Guidance”), that are relevant in
determining a director’s independence.
The Company’s process of determining whether a director is independent includes the use of a declaration form on
independence which each independent director is required to complete and submit to the NC for its annual review. The
results of the self-assessment are then collated by the company secretary and reported to the Board.
For FY2021, the NC had assessed the independence of Messrs Peter Sung, Tan Lye Huat and Cheng Hong Kok, and was
satisfied that there was no relationship or other factors such as gifts or financial assistance, business dealings, being a
representative of a shareholder, financial dependence, relationship with the Group or the Group’s management, which
would impair or compromise their independent judgement or which would deem them to be not independent.
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The NC noted that Mr Peter Sung was an adviser of Nuri Holdings (S) Pte Ltd (“Nuri”), the deemed substantial
shareholder of the Company in FY2021 but the amount of advisory fees paid by Nuri to Mr Sung was not significant.
Therefore, the NC was satisfied that there was no relationship between Mr Sung and Nuri that could interfere with the
exercise of his independent business judgement and his ability to act in the best interests of the Company.
The NC noted Mr Cheng Hong Kok’s directorship in the Company’s holding company, Tuan Sing Holdings Limited (“Tuan
Sing”). The NC was of the view that Mr Cheng’s board service to Tuan Sing falls outside the relationships under the
Code which would deem him to be non-independent, in particular, Mr Cheng was neither employed by Tuan Sing nor a
nominee director of Tuan Sing and his board service neither interfered nor was reasonably perceived to interfere with his
ability to exercise independent judgement to act in the best interests of the Company.
Each independent director had recused himself in the determination of his own independence.
In line with the SGX-ST Listing Rule 210(5)(d)(iii) which has taken effect from 1 January 2022, the continued appointment
of an independent director who has served the Board for an aggregate period of more than nine years will be subject
to the approval of (i) all shareholders; and (ii) all shareholders, excluding shareholders who are directors and the CEO
of the Company (and their associates). In this respect, all the three independent directors, namely, Mr Peter Sung,
Mr Tan Lye Huat and Mr Cheng Hong Kok who have served the Board beyond nine years, were approved for continued
appointment as independent directors under the two-tier voting process at the last annual general meeting (“AGM”)
held on 16 April 2021.
Provision 2.2
Composition of independent directors on the Board
Provision 2.2 of the Code requires independent directors to make up a majority of the Board where the Chairman of the
Board is not independent. Currently, the Chairman, Mr Peter Sung, is considered an independent director.
For FY2021, independent directors constitute a majority of the Board and as such, the Company had complied with
Provision 2.2 of the Code.
Provision 2.3
Proportion of non-executive directors
In FY2021, non-executive directors constitute a majority of the Board and as such, the Company had complied with
Provision 2.3 of the Code.
The non-executive directors had constructively challenged and contributed to the development of both the Group’s
short-term and long-term business strategies. Management’s progress in implementing such agreed business strategies
was being monitored by the non-executive directors who ensured objectivity in such deliberations.
Provision 2.4
Board composition and size
The NC conducts its annual review on the size and composition of the Board which comprises members from different
backgrounds and whose core competencies, qualifications, skills and experiences are extensive.
For FY2021, taking into account the scope and nature of the Group’s operations, the NC considered the Board
composition and size to be appropriate. The Board collectively provided relevant competencies to facilitate effective
decision making for the existing needs and demands of the Group’s businesses. The Board’s decision-making process
was not dominated by any individual or group of individuals.
Board diversity policy
The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity of experience, age, skill sets, gender and ethnics on the
Board (“Board Diversity”) and views Board Diversity as an essential element to support the attainment of its strategic
objectives and sustainable development.
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The Board has adopted a written Board Diversity Policy (“Policy”) at the recommendation of the NC. The Policy sets
out certain quantitative and qualitative objectives. Among others, the Board has set “diversity” as a key criterion for any
search process for the Board and KMP (or executives of equivalent rank).
The Board has also set its gender diversity objectives of (i) having at least one female director on the Board and at least
one female KMP (or executives of equivalent rank); (ii) having at least one female candidate in any search process for
directors and KMP (or executives of equivalent rank); and (iii) to endeavour to align with the target set by a national
diversity body (e.g. Council for Board Diversity) for female board representation as much as possible. Nevertheless,
gender is but one aspect of diversity and new directors will continue to be selected based on their merits and the
potential contributions which they can bring to the Board.
The Company has maintained a culture of diversity to benefit from a wide talent pool. The current Board composition
provides diversity in terms of skills, experience and knowledge. In determining the diverse skillset needs of the Board,
the Board will continue to leverage on its established “Board of Directors’ Competency Matrix” to identify any gap in the
Board’s collective skills.
The NC conducts its annual review of the directors’ mix of skills and experiences that the Board requires to function
competently and efficiently, based on the “Board of Directors’ Competency Matrix”. Such matrix provides information on
the directors’ respective areas of specialisation and expertise. Through this process, the NC was satisfied that members
of the Board possess the relevant core competencies in areas such as accounting, finance, strategic planning, business
and management experience. The Board members are mostly professionals and experts in their own fields. They are
able to take a broader view of the Group’s activities, contribute their valuable experiences, and leverage on each other’s
expertise to provide independent judgement during Board discussions.
Details of the directors’ qualifications, background and working experience are set out under the “Directors’ Profile”
section of this annual report.
A summary of the composition of the Board and its Board Committees as at 31 December 2021 is set out below:

Name

Status

Board

Audit and Risk
Committee

Nominating
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

1.

Peter Sung

NED, ID

C

M

–

C

2.

William Nursalim
alias William Liem

IED, NID

M

–

–

–

3.

Tan Lye Huat

NED, ID

M

C

M

M

4.

Cheng Hong Kok

NED, ID

M

–

C

M

5.

Leong Kok Ho

NED, NID

M

M

M

–

No.

Legend:
C: Chairman

IED: Interim Executive Director

ID: Independent Director

M: Member

NED: Non-Executive Director

NID: Non-Independent Director

Provision 2.5
Regular meetings of non-executive directors
In FY2021, non-executive directors (including independent directors) met among themselves during the periodic
meetings in the absence of management. Following those meetings, they provided feedback to the management
team to approve and/or review specific issues or matters relating to the Group. The Company also benefited from
management’s ready access to the non-executive directors for guidance and exchange of views both within and outside
the formal meetings of the Board and the Board Committees.
Non-executive directors meet without the presence of management to discuss, inter alia, management’s performance.
The Board is of the view that such informal sessions of the non-executive directors are effective.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Principle 3: Division of responsibilities between Board and management, and avoidance of single individual
influence on decision-making
Provisions 3.1 and 3.2
Separation of the role of Chairman and CEO/Interim Executive Director
The Company has different individuals assuming the role of Chairman and CEO to ensure effective supervision and
maintenance of an appropriate balance of power and authority. In FY2021, the functions of the CEO have been carried
out by the Interim Executive Director, Mr William Nursalim alias William Liem. The Company will appoint a new CEO at
an appropriate time.
The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the CEO is clearly established in the written terms of reference
of the Board. The Chairman manages the business of the Board whilst the CEO and his management team execute the
Board’s decisions. The CEO has executive responsibilities for the Group’s businesses and is accountable to the Board.
In FY2021, there was no familial relationship between the Chairman and the CEO/Interim Executive Director.
The Chairman, Mr Peter Sung, brings with him a wealth of experience and leads the Board to ensure its effectiveness in
all aspects of its role. Mr Sung is a proponent of good corporate governance and constantly encourages an open culture
of debate within the Board to draw effective contributions from the directors.
Prior to each Board meeting, the Chairman, in consultation with management and the company secretary, sets
the agenda for the meeting and ensures that Board members are provided with adequate and timely information.
As a general rule, meeting papers are sent to directors at least one week in advance in order for the directors to be
adequately prepared for the meetings. The Chairman leads the meetings and ensures full discussion of each agenda. He
also ensures that Board members are able to engage management in constructive debate on various matters including
strategic issues. Members of the management team with proposals or who can provide insights into the discussion
matters are invited to participate in the meetings.
At each general meeting of shareholders, the Chairman plays a pivotal role in fostering constructive dialogue between
the shareholders, the Board and management.
Provision 3.3
Lead independent director
The Code encourages the appointment of a lead independent director to lead and coordinate the activities of
non-executive directors in circumstances where it will be inappropriate for the Chairman to serve in such a capacity. As
the Chairman of the Company, Mr Peter Sung, is an independent director, the Board is of the view that the appointment
of a lead independent director is not necessary.
The directors and management are accessible to the Company’s shareholders, and the Company has always responded
to queries raised by its shareholders. The absence of a lead independent director has not impacted and is unlikely to
impact the efficient communication between the Board and the shareholders or other stakeholders of the Company.
As part of the Group’s continuous efforts to upkeep its corporate governance practices, the Company’s independent
directors have continued to set aside time to meet without the presence of other directors. In addition, the independent
directors will also meet regularly and on an ad hoc basis with the executive director and his management team as well
as other non-executive directors to discuss the Group’s challenges.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 SP CORPORATION LIMITED

39

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REPORT
BOARD MEMBERSHIP
Principle 4: Formal and transparent process for appointment/re-appointment and progressive renewal of the
Board
Provisions 4.1 and 4.2
NC membership and key terms of reference
As at 31 December 2021, the NC consisted of the following three members with the majority, including the Chairman,
being independent:
l
l
l

Mr Cheng Hong Kok, Chairman
Mr Tan Lye Huat
Mr Leong Kok Ho

(Non-Executive and Independent)
(Non-Executive and Independent)
(Non-Executive and Non-Independent)

The NC is guided by its written terms of reference which stipulate its principal roles as follows:
i.

review the nomination, appointment and re-appointment of directors to the Board;

ii.

review annually whether or not a director is independent, having regard to the guidelines of the Code, its Practice
Guidance, the SGX-ST Listing Manual and other factors that the NC considers relevant;

iii.

determine a suitable size of the Board which facilitates effective decision-making, taking into consideration the
scope and nature of the operations of the Company;

iv.

consider the Board succession planning for directors, including the review of the appointment and termination/
dismissal of the following persons in the Company:
(a)

the Chairman, CEO, other KMP (or executives of equivalent rank) and the company secretary for
recommendation to the Board for approval; and

(b)

the personnel occupying key positions such as chief financial officer (“CFO”) and any position that carries
the rank of senior department head, senior vice president, general manager or its equivalent or in each
case, would be classified as one of the top five executives of the Company;

v.

recommend to the Board on internal guidelines to address the competing time commitments faced by directors
serving on multiple boards and review the directors’ disclosure on their directorships;

vi.

review annually the directors’ mix of skills, qualities and experiences that the Board requires to function
competently and efficiently;

vii.

develop and maintain, as appropriate, a formal assessment process and criteria to evaluate the effectiveness
and performance of the Board as a whole, the Board Committees and the contribution by each director to the
effectiveness of the Board;

viii.

review, as appropriate, the independence of any director who has served on the Board beyond nine years from
the date of his first appointment; and

ix.

investigate any matter within its terms of reference, with full access to and co-operation expected of
management; full discretion to invite any director or executive officer to attend its meeting; and being reasonably
resourced to enable it to discharge its functions properly.
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In discharging its key responsibilities, the activities of the NC in FY2021 included the review of the following:
i.

the independence of directors, particularly those who have served more than nine years;

ii.

the size of the Board and its composition;

iii.

the commitment of directors serving on multiple boards;

iv.

the performance of the Board as a whole;

v.

the contribution by each individual director to the effectiveness of the Board;

vi.

the directors’ continued training and professional development;

vii.

the disclosure of Board matters in the annual report; and

viii.

Board succession and renewal plans.

An NC report is submitted to the Board after the end of each financial year and minutes of the NC meetings are tabled
at Board meetings to keep Board members apprised.
Provision 4.3
Selection, appointment and re-appointment process for directors
The NC is responsible for recommending identified candidates to the Board to fill vacancies arising from resignation,
retirement or any other reasons or if there is a need to appoint additional directors with the required skill or knowledge
to the Board in order to fill any identified competency gap in the Board. The potential candidate may be proposed by
existing directors, substantial shareholders and management or through third party referrals.
Appointment of new directors
The Company has established the following process for the selection and appointment of new directors:
i.

the NC recommends to the Board a suitable size of the Board; and evaluates the balance of skills, knowledge
and experience of Board members required to add value and facilitate effective decision-making, taking into
consideration the scope and nature of the Group’s operations;

ii.

the NC considers the channels for seeking suitable candidates and draw up a list of potential candidates. Such
sources include internal promotion, recommendations from directors/substantial shareholders/management or
external search consultants;

iii.

short-listed candidates will be required to furnish their curriculum vitae stating in detail their qualifications,
working experience, employment history, and to complete certain prescribed forms to enable the NC to assess
the candidate’s independence status and compliance with the Company’s established internal guidelines;

iv.

the NC evaluates the candidates’ capabilities by taking into consideration certain criteria such as diversity of skills,
experience, background, gender, age, ethnicity and other relevant factors and how the candidates fit into the
overall desired competency matrix of the Board; and

v.

the NC makes recommendation to the Board for approval. The Board ensures that the selected candidate is
aware of the expectations and the level of commitment required.
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Re-election of retiring directors
The NC also ensures compliance with the provisions of the Company’s Constitution which stipulates that at each
AGM, one-third of the directors shall retire from office by rotation and be eligible for re-election. In addition, every
director shall retire from office at least once every three years and be eligible for re-election pursuant to the Company’s
Constitution and the SGX-ST Listing Rule 720(5). The Company’s Constitution also stipulates that new directors
appointed by the Board without shareholders’ approval be re-elected at the next AGM following their appointment.
Eligibility of directors for re-election is reviewed by the NC annually based on the individual director’s performance. For
FY2021, the NC has reviewed and recommended, with the concurrence of the Board, for the following directors to retire
and seek re-election at the 2022 AGM:
(a)

Mr William Nursalim alias William Liem (re-appointment by rotation under Article 105 of the Company’s
Constitution)

(b)

Mr Peter Sung (re-appointment by rotation under Article 105 of the Company’s Constitution)

Mr William Nursalim alias William Liem and Mr Peter Sung had recused themselves from Board deliberations during the
foregoing process.
The requisite information required under Appendix 7.4.1 of the SGX-ST Listing Manual pertaining to Mr William
Nursalim alias William Liem and Mr Peter Sung can be found on pages 59 to 60 of this annual report.
Provision 4.4
Continuous review of directors’ independence
Each independent director of the Company will confirm his independence (or otherwise) based on a checklist annually.
The checklist is drawn up based on the guidelines provided under the Code and the relevant SGX-ST Listing Rules. For
FY2021, the NC had reviewed the independence of the independent directors, having regard to the circumstances set
forth in Provision 2.1 of the Code, its Practice Guidance and the SGX-ST Listing Rules 210(5)(d)(i) and (ii). Details of the
review process are set out under Provision 2.1 of this report. The NC is also committed to reassess the independence of
each independent director as and when warranted.
Provision 4.5
Multiple directorships
Information of each director including his directorship(s) or chairmanship(s) in other listed company(ies) and other
principal commitment(s) are furnished under the “Directors’ Profile” section of this annual report. Similar information is
also published on the Company’s website.
In assisting the NC to determine whether directors who sit on multiple boards have committed adequate time to
discharge their responsibilities towards the Company’s affairs, internal guidelines have been established to address the
competing time commitments faced by directors serving on multiple boards. In this respect, the Company’s current
policy stipulates that if a director is an executive director or a key management personnel of another listed company or
a major corporation, he should not hold more than four other directorships on unrelated listed companies and/or major
corporations. For FY2021, no director exceeded this limit.
For FY2021, the NC and the Board had reviewed each director’s outside directorships and principal commitments, as well
as each director’s attendance and contributions to the Board. The NC and the Board were satisfied that all the directors
had discharged their duties adequately.
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BOARD PERFORMANCE
Principle 5: Formal annual assessment of the effectiveness of the Board, its Board committees and individual
directors
Provisions 5.1 and 5.2
Board evaluation process, Board performance criteria and individual director evaluation
The Company has implemented a formal process to evaluate (i) the performance and effectiveness of the Board as a
whole, and of its Board Committees; (ii) the contribution by the Chairman and each individual director to the Board; and
(iii) the ability of the Board to discharge its responsibilities in providing stewardship, corporate governance and oversight
of management’s performance.
The performance criteria were recommended by the NC and approved by the Board. The NC has established objective
criteria to evaluate the Board’s performance. More relevant and meaningful criteria will also be used when applicable.
The evaluation of individual directors is differentiated between executive director and non-executive director. The Interim
Executive Director is evaluated by non-executive directors, inter alia, through assessment of his performance against
certain key performance indicators (“KPIs”) set by the relevant Board Committees each year. Should there be issues with
any director, the NC Chairman and the Board Chairman will conduct a peer review pro-actively in a timely manner and
will not wait until the results of such assessment exercise at year end.
For FY2021, all directors were requested to complete a Board performance checklist which assessed the effectiveness
of the Board, the Board Chairman and individual directors’ performance. In addition, each director was also requested
to complete a Board Committees’ performance checklist which assessed the performance of the respective Board
Committees and individual directors’ performance on such Board Committees. The Board performance checklist included
assessment criteria such as the size of the Board; the degree of independence of the Board; information flow from
management; and adequacy of the Board and Board Committees’ meetings held to enable proper consideration of
issues.
In the assessment of individual directors, the Board of Directors’ Competency Matrix was used to assess the directors’
respective areas of specialisation and expertise, and other factors as provided under the guidelines of the Code. The
Board would act on the results where appropriate. During the evaluation process, the NC also assessed each director’s
contribution, his ability to devote sufficient time and attention to the Company’s affairs as well as his participation in
discussions at meetings.
To ensure confidentiality, completed evaluation forms by all directors were submitted to the company secretary for
collation. The results of the performance evaluation were presented first to the NC for review and discussion and then to
the Board. The Board was satisfied with the results of the annual evaluation assessment for FY2021.
For FY2021, the NC duly observed the aforesaid process and criteria, and save as noted below, was satisfied with the
results of the review.
The NC noted that while the performance of the Board was satisfactory, the NC acknowledged the need to grow the
Company and to progressively renew the Board. The NC also noted that the management would have to develop a
strategic business plan going forward. The succession plans and KPIs for the key executives have to be tied to the
business plan for the Company.
For FY2021, the NC also took note of each individual director’s attendance at meetings of the Board, Board Committees
as well as at general meeting; participation in discussions at meetings; knowledge of and contacts in the regions where
the Group operates; the individual director’s functional expertise and his commitment of time to the Company.
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The results of the performance evaluation exercise are used as a reference by the Chairman to review, where appropriate,
the composition of the Board and its Board Committees, and in consultation with the NC, to support its proposals for
Board renewal so as to improve the effectiveness of the Board’s oversight of the Company. Comments received from the
NC are compiled and presented to the Board.
In FY2021, the Board did not engage any independent external consultant to facilitate the annual review of the
performance of the Board and the Board Committees.

II. REMUNERATION MATTERS
Matters concerning remuneration of the Board and other senior executives are handled by the RC, whose primary
function is to develop formal and transparent policies on remuneration matters in the Company.
Matters which are required to be disclosed in the annual remuneration report are disclosed in this annual report and in
the notes to the financial statements of the Group.
PROCEDURES FOR DEVELOPING REMUNERATION POLICIES
Principle 6: Formal and transparent procedure for developing director and executive remuneration
Provisions 6.1 and 6.2
Remuneration Committee composition and terms of reference
As at 31 December 2021, the RC comprised the following three directors, all of whom are non-executive and
independent:
l
l
l

Mr Peter Sung, Chairman
Mr Tan Lye Huat
Mr Cheng Hong Kok

(Non-Executive and Independent)
(Non-Executive and Independent)
(Non-Executive and Independent)

The RC is guided by its written terms of reference, which stipulates its principal responsibilities as follows:
i.

establish appropriate remuneration framework for directors and KMP (or executives of equivalent rank), and
ensure that the Company is able to attract, motivate and retain appropriate talents in order to maximise value for
shareholders;

ii.

develop remuneration policy for the executive director and KMP (or executives of equivalent rank), structuring it
to link rewards to corporate and individual performance;

iii.

review specific remuneration and compensation packages for the executive director and KMP (or executives of
equivalent rank) and any relative of a director and/or substantial shareholder who is employed in a managerial
position by the Company;

iv.

review the appropriateness and transparency of remuneration matters for disclosure to shareholders; and

v.

investigate any matter within its terms of reference with expert advice within and/or outside the Company, where
necessary.

An RC Report is submitted to the Board after the end of each financial year and minutes of the RC meetings are tabled
at Board meetings to keep Board members apprised.
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Provision 6.3
Developing remuneration framework
With the endorsement of the Board, the RC has established appropriate remuneration framework to attract, retain
and motivate directors and KMP (or executives of equivalent rank) of the Company. Such frameworks are reviewed
periodically to ensure that they remain relevant.
The RC’s remit is to make recommendations to the Board. Determining the remuneration of the directors is the purview
of the Board as a whole. Individual directors do not participate in discussions regarding their own remuneration.
In setting the remuneration framework, the RC has considered all aspects of remuneration. The RC aims to be fair
and avoid rewarding poor performance. The RC carries out remuneration benchmarking each year on comparable
organisations.
The Company’s obligations arising in the event of termination of service contracts of its executive director and KMP
(or executives of equivalent rank) are enumerated in their respective employment letters. The RC is satisfied that the
termination clauses therein are fair and reasonable to the respective employment class and are not overly generous.
Provision 6.4
RC’s access to advice on remuneration matters
The RC has direct access to the Company’s Head of Human Resources should they have any queries on human resources
matters.
During FY2021, the RC did not require the services of an external remuneration consultant. Nevertheless, the RC has
explicit authority to investigate any matter within its terms of reference and to seek external expert advice should such a
need arise, at the Company’s expense.
LEVEL AND MIX OF REMUNERATION
Principle 7: Level and structure of remuneration are appropriate and proportionate to the sustained
performance, value creation and strategic objectives of the Company
Provisions 7.1, 7.2 and 7.3
Remuneration of directors and KMP
The Company’s remuneration structure for its executive director and KMP (or executives of equivalent rank) comprises
both fixed and variable components with an aim to attract, retain and motivate talents on a sustainable basis. The fixed
compensation comprises base salary and fixed allowances. The variable component, on the other hand, is a cash-based
short-term incentive that is performance-related and is linked to the Company’s performance as well as the individual’s
performance. This is designed to align remuneration with the interests of shareholders and to link rewards to corporate
and individual performance so as to promote long-term success of the Group.
For the purpose of assessing the performance of the executive director and KMP (or executives of equivalent rank),
specific KPIs, with both financial and non-financial targets, are clearly set out for each financial year and such KPIs
comprise both quantitative and qualitative factors. The RC believes that the KPIs enable the Company to monitor
its success in achieving its strategy and the progress of the Group in delivering high-quality growth. Performance
measurement takes into account the current business model of the Company and the actual financial performance of
the Group.
The executive director and KMP (or executives of equivalent rank) of the Group do not receive director’s fees from the
Company or from its subsidiaries/associated entities if they are nominated and appointed to these boards.
Mr William Nursalim alias William Liem assumed the role as Interim Executive Director in February 2020 following the
cessation of the Company’s former Executive Director/CEO. Mr Liem does not receive compensation for his services
rendered to the Company. The Company will appoint a replacement Executive Director/CEO at an appropriate time.
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In FY2021, the KPIs of the KMP (or executives of equivalent rank) include, inter alia, (i) Company level’s financial
objectives such as the Group’s revenue and after-tax net profit; and (ii) individual/department level’s non-financial
objectives such as treasury management, internal controls, risk management, project management, compliance,
operational efficiency and corporate social responsibility. A scoring system with appropriate weightage allocated to each
KPI was used to measure the KPI achievements.
For FY2021, the RC was satisfied that the adjustments made to the salaries as well as the performance-related bonuses
granted to the KMP (or executives of equivalent rank) were reflective of their performance and contributions to the
Group, taking into account the extent to which their KPIs were met.
The RC noted that the FY2022 KPIs for the KMP (or executives of equivalent rank) have to be tied to the business plan
for the Company.
Considering the size of the current business operations of the Group as well as its existing workforce, the Company
currently does not have any long-term incentive plan for the executive director and KMP (or executives of equivalent
rank). However, this is kept under review on an annual basis by the RC.
Having reviewed and considered the variable components of the KMP (or executives of equivalent rank), which are not
excessive, the RC is of the view that there is currently no requirement to institute contractual provisions in the terms
of the employment to reclaim incentive components of their remuneration paid in prior years. There are no lengthy or
onerous removal clauses in the employment contracts.
Remuneration framework for non-executive directors
Non-executive directors receive remuneration packages consisting of director’s fees and attendance fees which are
based on a scale of fees divided into basic retainer fees as director, additional fees for membership held in Board
Committees and attendance fees at meetings of the Board and any of the Board Committees.
The current framework for non-executive director’s fees (on a per annum basis unless otherwise indicated) is as follows:
Role

Member

Chairman

Board of Directors

$20,000

Additional $20,000

Audit and Risk Committee

$7,000

Additional $5,000

Other Committees

$4,000

Additional $4,000

Lead Independent Director

$5,000

N/A

Attendance fees

$1,000 per meeting

The above framework was last revised in 2013. For FY2021, the RC and the Board had reviewed the framework and were
of the view that the framework remained relevant.
In determining the quantum of such fees, factors such as frequency of meetings, time spent, responsibilities of nonexecutive directors, and the need to remain competitive to commensurate with their responsibilities as directors,
are taken into account. Non-executive directors are also not overly-compensated so as not to compromise their
independence. The RC also considered the nature and responsibilities of the Chairman and members of the ARC who
receive higher additional fees which commensurate with their roles and responsibilities.
In line with the Company’s remuneration framework, Mr William Nursalim alias William Liem, Interim Executive
Director, who is an employee of the holding company, Tuan Sing, does not receive salary nor director’s fee for his
board services rendered to the Company and its subsidiaries. Mr Leong Kok Ho, Non-Executive and Non-Independent
Director, resigned as an employee of the holding company, Tuan Sing, on 6 August 2021 and in line with the Company’s
remuneration framework, became entitled to director’s fee with effect from 7 August 2021.
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DISCLOSURE ON REMUNERATION
Principle 8: Transparency on remuneration policies, procedure, level and mix, and relationship between
remuneration, performance and value creation
Provision 8.1
Remuneration report
Details on the remuneration of the directors and CEO/Interim Executive Director for FY2021 are presented in Table A
below. There was no termination, retirement and post-employment benefits granted to any of them.
TABLE A
Name of Directors

Directors’ Fees(1)

William Nursalim alias William Liem(2)

–

Peter Sung

$85,628

Tan Lye Huat

$52,033

(3)

Cheng Hong Kok

$46,950

Leong Kok Ho

$19,997

(4)

Total Directors’ Remuneration

$204,608
100%

Annotations:
(1)

Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming AGM (“2022 AGM”).

(2)

As a full time employee of Tuan Sing, the Company’s holding company, Mr William Nursalim alias William Liem did not receive any
remuneration from the Company.

(3)

Director’s fee for non-executive Chairman includes fee of $65,553 and benefits of $20,075 provided to him for reimbursement of transport
and car-related costs.

(4)

Mr Leong Kok Ho resigned as an employee of Tuan Sing, the Company’s holding company, on 6 August 2021 and in line with the Company’s
remuneration framework, became entitled to director’s fee with effect from 7 August 2021.

In FY2021, the Company only has two KMP (or executives of equivalent rank) who are not directors or the CEO. The
remuneration of these two KMP (or executives of equivalent rank) who are not directors or the CEO are disclosed in
Table B below.
TABLE B

Name of KMP (or executives
of equivalent rank)

Designation

Salary(1)

Variable
Bonus(2)

Remuneration
Bands of
$250,000

Phey Mui Noi

Senior Finance Manager

92%

8%

< $250,000

Lee Kay Chen

Senior Manager, Development

93%

7%

< $250,000

92%

8%

100%

$262,754

$21,308

$284,062

Total Remuneration of KMP
(or executives of equivalent rank)
Annotations:
(1)

Salary comprises basic salary, allowance and employer’s CPF contributions.

(2)

Variable bonus includes employer’s CPF contributions.

The aggregate remuneration paid to the above KMP (or executives of equivalent rank) who are not directors or the CEO
in FY2021 was $284,062.
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Provision 8.2
Employee who is a substantial shareholder or is an immediate family member of a director, CEO or substantial
shareholder
In FY2021, Mr Lee Kay Chen, whose remuneration is disclosed in Table B above (Remuneration Band $100,000 to
$200,000), is the brother-in-law of Ms Michelle Liem Mei Fung (a deemed substantial shareholder of the Company)
whose deceased spouse was the brother of Mr Lee Kay Chen, and the brother in-law of Mr William Nursalim alias
William Liem (Interim Executive Director of the Company). Except as disclosed herein, there was no other employee who
is a substantial shareholder or is an immediate family member of a director, the CEO or a substantial shareholder of the
Company whose remuneration exceeded $100,000 in FY2021.
Provision 8.3
Details of all forms of remuneration and other payments and benefits paid to directors and KMP
The breakdown of remuneration and other payments and benefits paid to directors and KMP (or executives of
equivalent rank) are exhibited in Table A and Table B above respectively.
The information on the link between remuneration paid to directors and KMP (or executives of equivalent rank) and
their performance is set out under Principle 7 of this report.
In view of the size of the existing business operations of the Group and its current workforce, the Company has not
developed any employee share scheme or other long-term incentive scheme.

III. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
The Board and the ARC are responsible for the governance of risk and ensures that the Company maintains a sound
system of risk management and internal controls over financial reporting, operational risks and compliance risks
(including information technology controls and risk management systems), to safeguard the interests of the Company
and its shareholders. All areas of weaknesses identified in internal audit reports are properly dealt with in a timely
manner.
In FY2021, the Company announced the Group’s full year financial results for the preceding year and its half-year
financial results within two months and one month after the end of the respective financial periods, which were within
the timeline prescribed by SGX-ST Listing Rules 705(1) and 705(3)(b)(ii) respectively.
RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
Principle 9: Board’s governance of risk management system and internal controls
In April 2015, the Audit Committee was renamed as Audit and Risk Committee. The responsibility of overseeing the
Company’s risk management framework and internal control policies is undertaken by the ARC with the assistance of the
internal auditors. Having considered the Company’s business and operations as well as its existing internal control and
risk management systems, the Board is of the view that a separate risk committee is not required for the time being.
Provision 9.1
Significant risks, objectives and value creation
The Board recognises the importance of maintaining a sound system of risk management and internal controls
to safeguard shareholders’ interests and the Group’s assets. During FY2021, the ARC assisted the Board in the
identification of risks and oversight of the Group’s risk profile and policies, adequacy, and effectiveness of the Group’s
risk management systems and internal controls. The ARC reported to the Board on critical risk issues facing the Group,
material matters, findings and suggested level of risk tolerance for the Company to achieve its strategic objectives and
value creation, as well as the review and update of risk policies and risk management.
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A summary of the Company’s risk management systems and internal controls is appended below.
Risk Management
The Group has established a Risk Management Framework to enhance its risk management capabilities. The Risk
Management Framework is designed to be in line with ISO31000 – Risk Management Principles and Guidelines. The
Risk Management Framework is also in line with the recommended practices under “Risk Governance Guidance for Listed
Boards” issued by the Corporate Governance Council in May 2012.
Under the Risk Management Framework, the key risks were identified and classified into four categories, namely, (i)
business and strategic risks; (ii) financial risks; (iii) operational risks; and (iv) compliance risk including information
technology controls and risk management systems. Action plans were in place to mitigate these risks. The risk exposures
are evaluated using a three-dimensional risk evaluation model where risk types are assigned risk exposure ratings
based on the likelihood and consequences of each risk identified. The risk exposure rating determines the extent of risk
exposure and the corresponding risk treatment required.
The Group recognises risk management as a collective effort involving the individual subsidiaries, the operational team,
the management and the Board. A self-assessment process, conducted regularly by management, was introduced to
ensure that the Group’s risk management controls are satisfactory.
More discussion of the Group’s risk management is presented in the “Risk Management Statement” section of this annual
report.
Internal Controls
Minimum acceptable controls have been implemented to enhance the Group’s internal control function in areas such
as finance, operations, compliance and information technology. The internal control measures aim to ensure that the
Group’s assets are safeguarded, proper accounting records are maintained, and that financial information used within
the business and for publication is reliable.
The system of internal controls and risk management established by the Group provides reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance that the Group will not be adversely affected by any event that can be reasonably foreseen as it strives to
achieve its business objectives. However, the Board also notes that no system of internal controls and risk management
can provide absolute assurance against the occurrence of material errors, poor judgement in decision-making, human
error, losses, fraud or other irregularities.
The risk management system has been integrated throughout the Group and has become an essential part of its
business planning and monitoring process. On an annual basis, management submitted to the ARC and the Board a risk
management report detailing the Group’s risk profile, evaluated results and measures to mitigate or transfer identified
potential risks to assure that the process is operating effectively as planned.
The ARC also reviews reports submitted by the internal auditors relating to the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
controls, including the adequacy of the Group’s financial, operational, compliance and information technology controls,
and relevant communications by the external auditors as part of their statutory audit.
As part of the Group’s continuous efforts to ensure that its risk management systems and internal controls are adequate
and effective, the Company is not only working towards strengthening the existing policies by conducting regular
reviews to ensure that they remain relevant but is also implementing new ones where necessary to meet challenges
brought on by a changing business environment.
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Provision 9.2
Assurance from CEO, CFO and other responsible KMP
The Company has established a practice whereby the CEO and the CFO are required to provide yearly written
representation to the ARC and the Board confirming, inter alia, that the financial processes and controls are in place and
to confirm the integrity of the Group’s financial statements. The report will also highlight any material financial risk and
impact, as well as providing updates on significant financial issues of the Group. The Company currently has no CEO and
CFO and the roles are being assumed by its Interim Executive Director and Senior Finance Manager (“SFM”) respectively.
In FY2021, based on the representation from the Interim Executive Director and the SFM, enquiries made thereof and
in accordance with the requirements of the SGX-ST Listing Manual, the Board issued negative assurance statements
in its half-year financial results announcement, confirming to the best of its knowledge that nothing had come to the
attention of the Board which might render the financial statements false or misleading in any material aspect.
The Interim Executive Director and the SFM had provided an assurance to the Board that the financial records had
been properly maintained and that the financial statements gave a true and fair view of the Group’s and the Company’s
operations and finances for FY2021 and financial position as of 31 December 2021. The Interim Executive Director and
the SFM had also provided assurance that the Company’s risk management and internal control systems were adequate
and effective as of the same date.
Board’s commentary on adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls and risk management systems
Based on internal controls established and maintained by the Group; works performed by the internal auditors and
the external auditors; reviews performed by management; and written representation by the Interim Executive Director
and the SFM, the Board (in accordance with SGX-ST Listing Rule 1207(10)) concurred with the ARC’s opinion that the
Group’s internal controls (including financial, operational, compliance and information technology controls) and risk
management systems were adequate and effective as at 31 December 2021.
Concurrence of the ARC on the adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls and risk management systems
As part of the ARC’s roles under its terms of reference, the ARC had reviewed and reported to the Board on their
assessment of the Company’s internal controls and risk management systems. Accordingly, the ARC (in accordance
with SGX-ST Listing Rule 1207(10)) concurred with the Board that the Group’s internal controls (including financial,
operational, compliance and information technology controls) and risk management systems were adequate and
effective as at 31 December 2021.
AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE
Principle 10: Establishment of Audit and Risk Committee which discharges its duties objectively
Provisions 10.1, 10.2 and 10.3
Composition, roles and expertise of the ARC
As at 31 December 2021, the ARC comprised the following three directors, all of whom are non-executive with the
majority, including the ARC Chairman, being independent:
l
l
l

Mr Tan Lye Huat, Chairman
Mr Peter Sung
Mr Leong Kok Ho

(Non-Executive and Independent)
(Non-Executive and Independent)
(Non-Executive and Non-Independent)

The ARC members bring with them invaluable professional expertise in the accounting and financial management
domains. The Board, after considering the advice from the NC, believes that the ARC members are appropriately
qualified to discharge the ARC’s responsibilities as defined under its written terms of reference which have been
approved by the Board.
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All three members of the ARC (including the ARC Chairman) have recent and relevant accounting or related financial
management expertise or experience. Mr Tan Lye Huat is a chartered accountant by profession and sits on several
Singapore public-listed boards. Mr Peter Sung, in his professional career, has gathered extensive financial management
experience, having worked with Shell, Sime Darby and the Pilecon groups of companies in Singapore and Malaysia
in the corporate planning, marketing, sales and personnel functions. Mr Leong Kok Ho is a chartered accountant by
profession and was formerly the CFO of Tuan Sing, the Company’s holding company, and several reputable private and
public-listed companies in his career.
None of the ARC members was a former partner or director of the Company’ existing auditing firm or its member firms.
Duties of the ARC
The ARC is guided by its terms of reference which stipulate its principal roles as follows:
i.

assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities on financial reporting, management of financial risks,
monitoring of the internal control systems and compliance;

ii.

review the assurance from the CEO/Interim Executive Director and the SFM on the financial records and financial
statements;

iii.

review the policies and arrangements by which staff and any other persons may, in confidence, raise concerns
about possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other matters;

iv.

review the proposed audit scope, results and plans of the internal and external auditors, as well as the access and
cooperation accorded by management to the auditors;

v.

review the effectiveness and adequacy of the responses and actions taken by management on the
recommendations and observations by the internal and external auditors;

vi.

review and report to the Board at least annually, on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s and
the Group’s internal financial controls, operational, compliance and information technology controls, and risk
management policies and systems in place to identify and mitigate any material business risks associated with
the Company and the Group, taking into account representations received from management;

vii.

review the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal audit function, ensure that it is adequately resourced and
that the internal auditors comply with nationally/internationally recognised professional bodies;

viii.

review the independence and objectivity of the external auditors annually, taking into account the nature and
extent of non-audit services rendered by the external auditors;

ix.

review the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors and recommend to the Board on the
removal, appointment and re-appointment of external auditors at general meetings;

x.

assist the Board in ensuring management maintains a sound system of risk management and that material
controls are in place to safeguard shareholders’ interest and the Group’s assets;

xi.

assist the Board in determining the nature and extent of the significant risks which the Board is willing to take in
achieving its strategic objectives;

xii.

review the periodic financial statements, the announcements on financial statements to the SGX-ST, and the
significant financial reporting issues and judgements to ensure the integrity of the financial statements; and

xiii.

review and recommend for the Board’s approval, interested person transactions (“IPTs”) as defined under Chapter
9 of the SGX-ST Listing Manual and those that require the ARC’s approval as specified in the general mandate
approved by shareholders (“IPT Mandate”).
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An ARC Report is submitted to the Board after the end of each financial year and minutes of the ARC meetings are
tabled at Board meetings to keep the Board members apprised.
In addition to the activities undertaken to fulfil its responsibilities, the ARC is kept abreast by management, the external
auditors and the internal auditors on changes to the accounting standards, stock exchange rules and other codes and
regulations which could have an impact on the Group’s business and financial statements.
Activities of the ARC
The ARC reviewed and approved the (a) full year financial results announcement and (b) audited financial statements
of the Group for FY2021 except for the treatment (including possible waiver) of the interest to be accrued (“Possible
Interest Waivers”) in respect of certain trade receivables due from a related party and an interested person (“Relevant
Trade Receivables”). The ARC has not reached a decision on this Possible Interest Waivers matter.
As the treatment of the Possible Interest Waivers were significant matters, the ARC involved the full Board for
deliberations and decision on the same. While the Board approved the release of the full year financial results
announcement and the audited financial statements of the Group for FY2021, the Board did not reach a decision on
the Possible Interest Waivers as these are contingent on full repayment of trade receivables from the related party and
the interested person, which were expected within 12 months from 31 December 2021, and the ARC had made certain
recommendations to the Board relating to the Possible Interest Waivers. The Board does not expect the finalisation of
this matter will have any material financial impact to these accompanying financial statements.
In FY2021, with the guidance provided by the external auditors and the assistance by management, the ARC had
reviewed the financial statements to ensure that any significant coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic impacts were
accounted for and treated in compliance to the Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) and guidance
issued by the accountancy body (i.e. Financial Reporting Bulletin issued by the Institute of Singapore Chartered
Accountants).
The ARC had reviewed the external audit plan for FY2021 and had agreed with the auditors’ proposed significant areas
of focus and assumptions that impact the financial statements. In the ARC’s review of the financial statements of the
Group for FY2021, it had discussed with management the accounting principles that were applied and their judgement
of items that could affect the integrity of the financial statements. The ARC also considered the clarity of key disclosures
in the financial statements. The ARC had reviewed and addressed, amongst other matters, the following key audit
matters reported by the external auditors for FY2021.
Key audit matters
(i)
The Group’s aged trade receivables
(ii)

Identification of related party transactions

ARC’s commentary on key audit matters
The ARC had discussed the aforesaid key audit matters for FY2021 with the management and the external auditors,
Deloitte & Touche LLP (“Deloitte”). The ARC concurred with the basis and conclusions included in the auditor’s report
with respect to the key audit matters for FY2021. For more information on the key audit matters, please refer to pages
65 to 67 of this annual report.
Following the review, the ARC was satisfied that all the aforesaid matters had been properly dealt with. The Board had
on 17 March 2022 approved the financial statements for FY2021.
Whistle-blowing policy
To encourage proper work ethics and eradicate any internal improprieties, unethical acts, malpractices, fraudulent
acts, corruption and/or criminal activities in the Group, the Company has a Whistle-blowing Policy in place. The
policy provides a mechanism by which concerns about plausible improprieties in matters of financial reporting and
others, may be raised in confidence. A Whistle-blowing Committee (“WBC”), comprising the Interim Executive Director,
Non-Executive and Non-Independent Director, and the Company Secretary, has been established for this purpose.
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For issues/concerns relating to or concerning any member of the WBC, the employee or any other persons may
raise the issue with or send their concerns to the ARC directly. In addition, dedicated e-mail addresses, which allow
whistle-blowers to contact the WBC and/or the ARC directly, provides an avenue for employees and any other persons
to raise concerns and offer reassurance that they will be protected from reprisals or victimisation for whistle-blowing in
good faith. The Whistle-blowing Policy is available on the Company’s website, www.spcorp.com.sg.
When whistle-blower complaints are received, the WBC and the ARC will ensure independent and thorough
investigation and adequate follow-up. The Company has maintained a whistle-blowing register to record all the
whistle-blowing incidents. The contents including “nil” returns in the register are reviewed by the ARC at its periodic
meetings.
The ARC has full access to and has had the full co-operation of management and staff. It also has full discretion to invite
any director or any member of management to attend its meetings.
Evaluation of external auditors
During FY2021 and as in the past years, the ARC reviewed the “Professional Services Planning Memorandum” prepared
by Deloitte. The ARC discussed with Deloitte on their terms of engagement, materiality level of their work, significant
risks assessment, areas of audit focus, internal control plan and audit quality indicators, before the commencement of
their audit work.
For FY2021, the ARC had evaluated the external auditors based on the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority’s
audit quality indicators disclosure framework. In respect of the audit quality indicators, the ARC reviewed, in particular,
the following areas: audit hours planned, experience of the team, adequacy of training received by the team, results
of internal and third party’s inspection of their work, compliance with independence requirement, quality control, staff
oversight, and staff attrition rate.
The ARC undertook a review of the independence and objectivity of the external auditors, their approach of the audit
work and their proposed audit fees as well as reviewing the non-audit fees awarded to them.
The ARC had reviewed and concurred with the nature of non-audit work performed and fees charged by Deloitte and
its member firms. A breakdown of the fees paid or payable to Deloitte and its member firms are analysed in the table
below:
FY2021
Fees paid to External Auditors

FY2020

$’000

% of Total Fees

$’000

% of Total Fees

Total Audit Fees

114

80

120

86

Total Non-Audit Fees

29

20

20

14

143

100

140

100

Total Fees Paid

The ARC was satisfied that the nature and extent of the non-audit services performed by the external auditors had not
prejudiced their independence and objectivity.
On the recommendation of the ARC, the Board had endorsed the re-appointment of Deloitte as the external auditors of
the Group and will submit this for shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming 2022 AGM.
Compliance with Rule 1207(6) of the SGX-ST Listing Manual
The Board and the ARC, having reviewed the adequacy of the resources and experience of Deloitte, the audit
engagement partner assigned to the audit, their other audit engagements, the size and complexity of the Group, and
the number and experience of supervisory and professional staff assigned to the audit, were satisfied that the Group
had complied with Rules 712 and 715 of the SGX-ST Listing Manual.
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Provision 10.4
Internal auditors, reporting line, compliance and function
The ARC’s responsibilities over the Group’s internal controls and risk management are complemented by the work of the
internal auditors.
The primary reporting line of the internal audit function, which has been outsourced to PricewaterhouseCoopers Risk
Services Pte. Ltd. (“PwC”), is to the ARC, which also endorses the appointment, termination and remuneration of the
internal auditors. The internal auditors have unfettered access to all the Company’s documents, records, properties and
personnel, including the ARC, and has appropriate standing within the Company.
Upon the recommendation by the ARC, the Board had approved the re-engagement of PwC as internal auditors of the
Group in the ensuing year ending 31 December 2022.
The Company’s internal audit function is independent of the external audit. The internal auditors, PwC, is a corporate
member of the Institute of Internal Auditors Singapore. PwC is staffed with professionals with relevant qualifications and
experience. The Company’s engagement with PwC stipulates that its work shall comply with the PricewaterhouseCoopers
Global Internal Audit Services Methodology which is aligned to the International Standards for the Professional Practice
of Internal Auditing issued by the Institute of Internal Auditors.
At the beginning of each financial year, an annual internal audit plan which entails the review of the selected functions
or entities of the Group is developed and agreed by the ARC. The audit plan has been devised in such a way that all the
major functions or entities would be internally audited within an internal audit cycle. Having reviewed the audit plan of
PwC, the ARC was satisfied that the Company’s internal audit function was adequately resourced to perform the work for
the Group.
In FY2021, PwC carried out, inter alia, review of the Group’s control procedures over identifying, monitoring, recording
and reporting interested person transactions and related party transactions relating to trade sales and purchase
transactions. The result of the internal audit was satisfactory with no reported finding.
ARC’s commentary on the independence, adequacy and effectiveness of the internal audit function
For FY2021, the ARC had reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal audit function to ensure that internal
audits were conducted effectively and that management provided the necessary co-operation to enable the internal
auditors to perform the function. For FY2021, after having reviewed the internal audit report with no finding noted,
the ARC (in accordance with SGX-ST Listing Rule 1207(10(C)) was satisfied that the internal audit functions were
independent, effective and adequately resourced.
Provision 10.5
Independent meeting with external and internal auditors
During FY2021 and as in the past years, the Company’s external auditors and internal auditors were invited to attend the
ARC meetings and make presentations as appropriate. They also met separately with the ARC without the presence of
management at least annually.
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IV. SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND ENGAGEMENT
The Company believes in treating all shareholders fairly and equitably by recognising, protecting and facilitating the
exercise of shareholders’ rights. As such, it reviews and updates relevant arrangements regularly and embraces effective
as well as fair communication with its shareholders. It also encourages shareholders to raise questions and to participate
in discussions at general meetings.
SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND CONDUCT OF GENERAL MEETINGS
Principle 11: Fair and equitable treatment of shareholders, enabling them to exercise shareholder rights
and communicate their views. Providing shareholders with balanced and understandable assessment of the
Company’s performance, position and prospects
Provision 11.1
Providing opportunity for shareholders to participate and vote at general meetings
Shareholders are entitled to attend the general meetings and are given the opportunity to participate effectively in and
vote at the general meetings of the Company.
Shareholders are informed of general meetings at least two weeks (and three weeks if there are special resolutions) in
advance through notices accompanied by the annual reports/circulars/letters to shareholders. These notices are publicly
announced via SGXNet and posted on the Company’s website. Resolutions tabled at general meetings are passed
through a process of voting by poll whereby the procedures are clearly explained by the scrutineers at the beginning of
the voting in such general meetings.
Pursuant to the provisions in the Company’s Constitution, shareholders who are not relevant intermediaries may appoint
up to two proxies, during his/her absence, to attend, speak, vote on his/her behalf at general meetings. Shareholders
who are relevant intermediaries such as banks, capital market services licence holders which provide custodial services
for securities and the Central Provident Fund Board (“CPF”), are allowed to appoint more than two proxies. This is to
facilitate indirect shareholders including CPF investors to participate in general meetings. Such indirect shareholders
where so appointed as proxy, will have the same rights as direct shareholders to attend, speak and vote at general
meetings.
In order to have a valid registration of proxy, an instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at such place or
places specified in the notice convening the general meetings at least 72 hours before the time appointed for the
general meetings.
On 16 April 2021, in accordance with the COVID-19 (Temporary Measures) (Alternative Arrangements for Meetings for
Companies, Variable Capital Companies, Business Trusts, Unit Trusts and Debentures Holders) Order 2020 issued by the
Ministry of Law (the “Meeting Orders”), the Company conducted a virtual AGM in respect of FY2020. A “live” webcast of
the virtual AGM was made available to participating shareholders who had registered and were assigned a unique link to
access the “live” webcast.
During the virtual AGM, the SFM and the Interim Executive Director gave a presentation on the Group’s financial
performance for FY2020 and the Group’s business focus respectively. This was followed by the Chairman’s presentation
on the poll results for each tabled resolution. The Interim Executive Director and Non-Executive and Non-Independent
Director also addressed questions received from two shareholders. The AGM ended with the Chairman addressing the
Board’s approach towards the appointment of a new CEO to replace the Interim Executive Director and would keep
shareholders informed when there were material developments.
The AGM presentation slides together with the results of the poll votes on each resolution tabled at the AGM (including
the total number of votes cast for or against each resolution) were announced after the said meeting via SGXNet.
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Provision 11.2
Separate resolutions at general meetings
The Board ensures that separate resolutions are proposed for approval on each distinct issue at general meetings. There
is no bundling of the resolutions as they are not interdependent and linked to each other. Detailed explanatory notes on
each item of the agenda are also provided in the Notice of AGM in this annual report.
Provision 11.3
Attendees at general meetings
In FY2021, due to the COVID-19 safe distancing restrictions imposed by the authorities, only the Board Chairman, the
Interim Executive Director, all other directors, the SFM and the company secretary attended the virtual AGM in person.
The other KMP (or executives of equivalent rank) and the external auditors participated by virtual means by accessing
the assigned link to the “live” webcast. The attendance of the directors who attended the general meetings in FY2021 is
set out under Provision 1.5 of this report.
Provision 11.4
Absentia voting at general meetings
Provision has been made under Article 76 of the Constitution, allowing for shareholders to vote in absentia. Examples of
absentia voting are voting via mail, electronic mail or facsimile at the general meetings. For purpose of the virtual AGM
held in 2021, shareholders were allowed to send in their votes by mailing the proxy form/voting slip to the Company’s
registered office or via electronic mail. Such shareholders could only appoint the Chairman of the meeting as their proxy
to vote on their behalf in accordance with the prescribed guideline.
Provision 11.5
Minutes of general meetings
Minutes of general meetings will be posted on the Company’s website as soon as practicable. These minutes include the
proceedings at the general meetings and the voting result of each resolution. Minutes are also available to shareholders
upon written request.
Following the virtual AGM held in 2021, the minutes of AGM were announced via SGXNet and posted on the Company’s
website within the prescribed timeframe, i.e. within one month of the AGM.
Provision 11.6
Dividend policy
The Company presently does not have a written dividend policy. The Company still has accumulated losses as at 31
December 2021 and its current priority is to achieve long-term growth for the benefit of its shareholders. The Board
would review the dividend policy at an appropriate time.
ENGAGEMENT WITH SHAREHOLDERS
Principle 12: Regular communication with shareholders and facilitation of shareholders’ participation at general
meetings
Provisions 12.1, 12.2 and 12.3
Communication with shareholders
In line with the continuous disclosure obligations under the requirements of the SGX-ST Listing Manual and
requirements of the Companies Act, the Board informs the shareholders promptly of all major developments that may
have a material impact on the Group.
The Board embraces openness and transparency in the conduct of the Company’s affairs, whilst safeguarding its
commercial interests. Although the Company does not have a written investor relations policy, shareholders can still
provide their enquiries, concerns or feedbacks on the Company’s website. Material information on the Group is released
to the public on a timely and non-selective basis through the Company’s announcements via SGXNet as well as through
its website at www.spcorp.com.sg.
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Avenues of communication
The Company communicates with shareholders and the investment community through timely release of
announcements to the public via SGXNet and the Company’s website. Should an inadvertent disclosure be made to a
selected group, the Company will make the same disclosure publicly as soon as practicable. The Company’s website also
allows the public to have access to its past years’ announcements.
The Company believes in providing sufficient and regular information to its shareholders. In this respect, the Board
adopts a comprehensive policy to provide clear, timely and fair disclosure of information about the Company’s business
developments and financial performance that could have a material impact on the price or value of its shares. Such
channels include annual reports, shareholder circulars, shareholders’ meetings and announcements through SGXNet and
the Company’s website.
The planned dates of release of the half-year and full year financial results are disclosed ahead in the annual report of
the preceding year. Such information is set out under “Financial Calendar” which can be found on page 29 of this annual
report.
The financial results were released on time within the timeframe prescribed by the SGX-ST Listing Manual. For FY2021,
the financial results for the half-year ended 30 June 2021 was announced on 30 July 2021. The unaudited full year
financial results for FY2021 were released on 25 February 2022. The annual report for FY2021 will be distributed to
shareholders within the prescribed timeframe of at least two weeks before the 2022 AGM scheduled to be held on 21
April 2022.
General meetings have been and are still the principal forum for dialogue with shareholders. During these meetings,
shareholders are given the opportunity to engage the Board and management on the Group’s business activities,
financial performance and other business-related matters. Simultaneously, the Company is also able to gather views or
input and address shareholders’ concerns at general meetings. In view of the COVID-19 situation, the Board has decided
to take advantage of the extended duration of the Meeting Orders (beyond 30 June 2021) announced by the authorities
(in April 2021) and conduct its forthcoming 2022 AGM by “live” webcast.
In order to have a better understanding of shareholders’ views, the Board actively encourages shareholders to
participate during the Company’s general meetings. The Board, the external auditors together with the Company’s legal
advisers are present during the Company’s general meetings to attend to shareholders’ queries. Further, management
would meet analysts and fund managers as appropriate. For purpose of the AGM via “live” webcast, shareholders are
invited to send in their queries before the closing date as set out in the Company’s SGXNet announcement of 6 April
2022 (accompanying the release of the Notice of AGM) on the alternative arrangements relating to the 2022 AGM.
To enhance the process of soliciting inputs from shareholders and members of the investment community, a “Feedback
and Queries” template has been established on the Company’s website. The Company’s website also has an “Investor
Relations” link which gives contact details for shareholders to communicate with the Company. The Company also
attends to shareholders’ queries made via telephone.
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V. MANAGING STAKEHOLDER RELATIONSHIPS
ENGAGEMENT WITH STAKEHOLDERS
Principle 13: Managing stakeholder relationships, balancing the needs and interests of material stakeholders for
the Company’s best interests
Provisions 13.1, 13.2 and 13.3
Managing stakeholder relationships
The Company has appropriate channels in place to identify and engage with its material stakeholder groups. It
recognises the importance of having intimate knowledge of its business and regular interactions with its stakeholders to
determine material issues for its business.
The Company’s approach to stakeholder engagement and materiality assessment can be found under the “Sustainability
Report” section of this annual report.
The Company has a website to communicate and engage with all stakeholders. The Company’s website is
www.spcorp.com.sg.

VI. OTHER CORPORATE GOVERNANCE MATTERS
INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS
Listing Manual Rule 907
Interested Person Transactions (“IPTs”) are executed on commercial terms and at arm’s length not prejudicial to the
interests of the Company and its minority shareholders, regardless of nature and size. Quarterly report on IPTs entered
into by the Group is submitted to the ARC for review and recommendation to the Board for approval. Under the
requirements of the SGX-ST Listing Manual, where any IPT requires shareholders’ approval, the interested person will
abstain from voting and the decision will be made by disinterested shareholders. When a potential conflict of interest
arises, the director concerned neither takes part in discussions nor exercises any influence over other members of the
Board.
Shareholders have adopted an IPT mandate in respect of IPTs of the Company. The IPT mandate defines the levels and
procedures to obtain approval for such transactions. The Group maintains a register of the Company’s IPTs in accordance
with the reporting requirements stipulated by Chapter 9 of the SGX-ST Listing Manual. Disclosure of IPTs is presented in
the “Additional Information Pursuant to SGX-ST Listing Manual” section of this annual report.
DEALINGS IN SECURITIES
Listing Manual Rule 1207(19)
The Company has a formal insider trading policy whereby all the directors and employees of the Group are prohibited
from dealings in the securities of the Company and its listed holding company (collectively the “listed entities”)
while in possession of price-sensitive information as well as during the period commencing one month before the
announcements of the listed entities’ half-year and full year results till the day of such announcements. This policy
discourages all the directors and employees of the Group from dealing in the listed entities’ securities for short-term
considerations and reminds them of their obligations under insider trading laws.
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CODE OF CONDUCT AND PRACTICES
The Company’s code of conduct and practices are detailed in the Group’s Human Resource Policies and Procedures
Manual which is available to all staff and is presented to new employees during induction. The code entails policies such
as prohibiting employees from disclosing confidential information or knowledge obtained by him/her during his/her
employment with the Group, from accepting gifts from business associates and in circumstances where refusal were to
be impracticable, relevant details are to be reported, etc.
The code of conduct has been strengthened since 2017 with the implementation of the Information Security Policy,
Personal Data Protection Policy as well as Anti-bribery and Anti-corruption Policy.
The Group recognises the importance of integrity and professionalism in the conduct of its business activities.
Employees are expected to embrace, practise and adopt these values while performing their duties and always to act
in the best interests of the Group and avoid situations that may create conflicts of interest. All employees are required
to make an annual declaration on involvement in any conflict-of-interest situation and compliance with the code of
conduct.
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DIRECTORS SEEKING RE-ELECTION
The information required under Rule 720(6) and Appendix 7.4.1 of the SGX-ST Listing Manual in respect of Directors
seeking re-election at the 69th Annual General Meeting is set out below.

WILLIAM NURSALIM ALIAS
WILLIAM LIEM
Interim Executive Director

Name of director and
appointment

PETER SUNG
Chairman
Non-Executive and Independent
Director

Date of appointment

7 March 2003

28 January 2002

Date of last re-appointment
(if applicable)

16 April 2019

16 April 2020

Age

48

81

Country of principal residence

Singapore

Singapore

The Board’s comments on this
appointment (including rationale,
selection criteria, and the search
and nomination process)

The Board concurred with the
Nominating Committee’s recommendation
on the re-appointment of Mr William
Nursalim alias William Liem. Refer
to pages 40 to 41 of the “Corporate
Governance Report” on the process
for selection, appointment and
re-appointment of Directors.

The Board concurred with the
Nominating Committee’s recommendation
on the re-appointment of Mr Peter
Sung. Refer to pages 40 to 41 of the
“Corporate Governance Report” on the
process for selection, appointment
and re-appointment of Directors.

Whether appointment is executive,
and if so, the area of responsibility

Executive

Non-Executive

Job Title (e.g. Lead ID,
Chairman, AC Member, etc.)

Interim Executive Director

Chairman of the Board, Chairman
of Remuneration Committee and
Member of Audit and Risk Committee

Professional qualifications

Refer to “Directors’ Profile” on page 4
of this annual report.

Refer to “Directors’ Profile” on page 4
of this annual report.

Wo r k i n g
experience
and
occupation(s) during the past 10
years

Refer to “Directors’ Profile” on page 4
of this annual report.

Refer to “Directors’ Profile” on page 4
of this annual report.

Shareholding interest in the listed
issuer and its subsidiaries

Mr William Nursalim alias William
Liem is deemed to have an interest
of 28,146,319 shares in the listed
issuer by virtue of his interest in Nuri
Holdings (S) Pte Ltd.

Nil

Any relationship (including
immediate family relationships)
with any existing director, existing
executive officer, the issuer and/
or substantial shareholder of
the listed issuer or of any of its
principal subsidiaries

Mr William Nursalim alias William
Liem is the Chief Executive Officer
of Tuan Sing Holdings Limited, the
Company’s holding company and
controlling shareholder.

Except as disclosed under Provision
2.1 of the Corporate Governance
Report on pages 35 to 36, there is no
such relationship to be disclosed.

Conflict of interest (including any
competing business)

Nil

Nil

AC

60

SP CORPORATION LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON
DIRECTORS SEEKING RE-ELECTION

WILLIAM NURSALIM ALIAS
WILLIAM LIEM
Interim Executive Director

Name of director and
appointment

PETER SUNG
Chairman
Non-Executive and Independent
Director

Undertaking (in the format set out
in Appendix 7.7) under Rule 720(1)
has been submitted to the listed
issuer

Yes

Yes

Other Principal Commitments
including directorships

Nil

Nil

Refer to “Directors’ Profile” on page 4
of this annual report.

Refer to “Directors’ Profile” on page 4
of this annual report.

Mr William Nursalim alias William
Liem’s responses under items (a) to
(k) of Appendix 7.4.1 of the SGX-ST
Listing Manual are all “No”.

Mr Peter Sung’s responses under
items (a) to (k) of Appendix 7.4.1 of
the SGX-ST Listing Manual are all
“No”.

l

Past (for the last 5 years)

Other Principal Commitments
including directorships
l

Present

Information required under items
(a) to (k) of Appendix 7.4.1 of the
SGX-ST Listing Manual
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2021
The Directors of the Company present their statement together with the audited consolidated financial statements of
the Group and statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year
ended 31 December 2021.
In the opinion of the Directors:
(a)

the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and statement of
changes in equity of the Company as set out on pages 70 to 123 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair
view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2021, and the financial
performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and changes in equity of the Company for the
financial year then ended; and

(b)

at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its
debts when they fall due.

1

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company in office at the date of this statement are:
Mr
Mr
Mr
Mr
Mr

2

Peter Sung
William Nursalim alias William Liem
Cheng Hong Kok
Tan Lye Huat
Leong Kok Ho

(Chairman)
(Interim Executive Director)

ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE BENEFITS BY MEANS OF THE
ACQUISITION OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES
Neither at the end of the financial year nor at any time during the financial year did there subsist any
arrangement whose object is to enable the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares or debentures in the Company or any other body corporate.
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3

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES
The Directors of the Company holding office at the end of the financial year had no interests in the share capital
and debentures of the Company and related corporations as recorded in the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings
kept by the Company under Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act 1967 (the “Act”) except as follows:
Name of Directors and companies
in which interests are held

Holdings registered in
name of Director
As at
1 January
2021

Holdings in which Director is
deemed to have an interest

As at
31 December
2021

As at
1 January
2021

As at
31 December
2021

The Company
(Ordinary shares)
–

–

28,146,319(1)

28,146,319(1)

Mr William Nursalim alias William Liem

–

–

628,814,529(1)

638,956,697(1)

Mr Tan Lye Huat

–

–

Mr William Nursalim alias William Liem
Holding Company
Tuan Sing Holdings Limited
(Ordinary shares)

500,000

500,000

Holding Company
Tuan Sing Holdings Limited
$65 million 2-year 7.75% per annum
Notes due 2022 pursuant to the
$900,000,000 Multicurrency Medium
Term Note Programme (“MTN
Programme”)
Mr William Nursalim alias William Liem

$750,000

–(2)

–

–

Mr Leong Kok Ho

$250,000

–

–

–

–

$1,000,000

–

(2)

$200 million 3-year 6.90% per annum
Notes due 2024 pursuant to the MTN
Programme
Mr William Nursalim alias William Liem

$5,000,000(3)

Notes:
(1)

By virtue of interest in Nuri Holdings (S) Pte Ltd.

(2)

The $65 million 2-year 7.75% per annum Notes due 2022 pursuant to the MTN Programme were redeemed in full on
29 November 2021.

(3)

By virtue of interest in Ardent Investment Partners Pte. Ltd.

By virtue of Section 7 of the Act, Mr William Nursalim alias William Liem is deemed to have an interest in the
Company and in all the related corporations of the Company.
There was no change in any of the above-mentioned Directors’ interests between the end of the financial year
and 21 January 2022.
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SHARE OPTIONS
During the financial year, no options to take up unissued shares of the Company or any corporation in the Group
were granted.
During the financial year, there were no shares of the Company or any corporation in the Group issued by virtue
of the exercise of an option to take up unissued shares.
At the end of the financial year, there were no unissued shares of the Company or any corporation in the Group
under option.

5

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE
The Audit and Risk Committee of the Company consists of three non-executive Directors, two of whom are
independent Directors. At the date of this statement, the members of the Audit and Risk Committee are:
Mr Tan Lye Huat (Chairman)
Mr Peter Sung
Mr Leong Kok Ho

(Non-Executive and Independent Director)
(Non-Executive and Independent Director)
(Non-Executive and Non-Independent Director)

The Audit and Risk Committee performed the functions specified in Section 201B(5) of the Act, the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading (“SGX-ST”) Listing Manual and the Singapore Code of Corporate Governance.
The Audit and Risk Committee met three times during the financial year ended 31 December 2021 and reviewed,
inter alia, the following, with the Interim Executive Director, the external and internal auditors of the Company,
where relevant:
(a)

the audit plans of the internal and external auditors, the scope of the internal audit procedures and results
of the internal auditors’ examination and evaluation of the Group’s systems of internal accounting controls;

(b)

the Group’s financial and operating results and accounting policies;

(c)

the consolidated financial statements of the Group, the statement of financial position and statement of
changes in equity of the Company before their submission to the Directors of the Company and external
auditor’s report on those financial statements;

(d)

the half-yearly and annual announcements on the results and financial position of the Company and the
Group;

(e)

the interested person transactions as specified under Chapter 9 of the SGX-ST Listing Manual;

(f)

the co-operation and assistance given by management to the Group’s external and internal auditors; and

(g)

the re-appointment of the external and internal auditors of the Group.

The Audit and Risk Committee has full access to and has the co-operation of management and has been given
the resources required for it to discharge its functions properly. It also has full discretion to invite any Director
and executive officer to attend its meetings. The external and internal auditors have unrestricted access to the
Audit and Risk Committee.
The Audit and Risk Committee has recommended to the Directors the nomination of Deloitte & Touche LLP for
re-appointment as external auditors of the Group at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company.
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EXTERNAL AUDITORS
Deloitte & Touche LLP have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

William Nursalim alias William Liem
Interim Executive Director

Cheng Hong Kok
Director

17 March 2022
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REPORT
To the Members of SP Corporation Limited

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of SP Corporation Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position of the Group and the statement of
financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2021, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group and the statement
of changes in equity of the Company for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies, as set out on pages 70 to 123.
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position
and statement of changes in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act 1967 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) (“SFRS(I)s”) so as to give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group and the financial position of the Company as at 31
December 2021 and of the consolidated financial performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash
flows of the Group and of the changes in equity of the Company for the year ended on that date.
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority
(“ACRA”) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (“ACRA Code”) together
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of
the financial statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)
Key audit matters

How the audit matter was addressed in the audit

The Group’s aged trade receivables
There is a risk that the loss allowance for the Group’s
aged trade receivables may not be adequate.
Management monitors and assesses the Group’s credit
risk, and where required, adjusts the level of impairment
allowance. This requires management to make significant
judgements regarding the expected future financial
condition and the ability of the debtors to pay, especially
where the debts are aged or overdue for more than 90
days.

Our audit procedures were:
l

We have obtained an understanding of the key
controls and processes that management and the
Directors have in place to assess the expected
credit loss (“ECL”) of the aged trade receivables;

l

We have evaluated and challenged management’s
assessment of the impairment of the Group’s
aged trade receivables which are past due but not
impaired as at the reporting date, including the
assessment of any ECL to be made by the Group in
respect of overdue debts; and

l

We enquired with management on the reasons
for the delay in payments on certain aged trade
receivables and the appropriateness of any
allowance for ECL to be made, by considering
amongst others, factors such as subsequent cash
receipts, past payment practices, the ongoing
business relationship with the debtors involved
or where relevant, repayment schedule as agreed
with the debtors and sources of financial support
available to the debtors.

Inappropriate judgement and estimates made in the
impairment assessment would result in a significant
impact on the carrying amount of the trade receivables.
Disclosure on the above key estimates has been made
in Note 3 to the financial statements, and further
information related to the aged trade receivables is
provided in Note 9.

We have also assessed and validated the adequacy and
appropriateness of the disclosures made in the financial
statements.
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)
Key audit matters

How the audit matter was addressed in the audit

Identification of related party transactions
The Group is a component of another listed group, and
accordingly, there are various related parties that need to
be identified and transactions with these related parties
to be monitored. The Group has significant transactions
with its related parties and there is a risk that the related
parties may inadvertently be omitted, and as such, the
Group’s identification of the related party and disclosure
of its transactions may be incomplete.

Our audit procedures were:
l

We have assessed and evaluated the design
and implementation of the Group’s policies and
procedures in respect of the identification of
related parties and recording of related party
transactions;

l

We obtained a list of related parties from
management and ensured all transactions
and balances with those entities have been
appropriately disclosed in the financial statements.
We have independently requested and obtained
confirmation replies from these related parties to
confirm the balances at 31 December 2021, and
transactions for the year then ended; and

l

We also considered the completeness of the
disclosure of related party transactions through
review of statutory information, books and records
and minutes, and assessed the disclosures for
accuracy against information obtained in our audit.

The related party transactions have been disclosed in
Note 25 to the financial statements.

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Chairman’s Statement,
CEO’s Operations Review, Risk Management Statement, Sustainability Report, Five-Year Financial Summary, Corporate
Governance Report, Directors’ Statement, SGX-ST Listing Manual Requirements, Corporate Directory and General
Information, and Shareholding Statistics, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified
above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or
our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s
report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with the provisions of the Act and SFRS(I)s, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls
sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or
disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation
of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to
do so.
The Directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:
(a)

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

(b)

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

(c)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

(d)

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

(e)

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (Continued)
(f)

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide the Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with the Directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current year and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those
subsidiary corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance
with the provisions of the Act.
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Mr Aw Xin-Pei.

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore

17 March 2022
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Group
Note

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

110

116

Assets
Non-current assets
Plant and equipment

5

111

120

Right-of-use asset

6

398

499

398

499

Investments in subsidiaries

7

–

–

29,437

29,374

Trade receivables

8

–

2,915

–

–

Deferred tax asset

14

Total non-current assets

69

80

69

80

578

3,614

30,014

30,069

Current assets
Trade and other receivables

8

6,769

26,534

130

18,655

Tax recoverable

11

–

6

–

–

Cash and bank balances

12

49,628

34,405

13,136

1,919

Total current assets

56,397

60,945

13,266

20,574

Total assets

56,975

64,559

43,280

50,643

58,366

58,366

58,366

58,366

–

–

600

594

Equity and Liabilities
Equity
Share capital

13

(536)

Translation reserve

–

Capital reserve

(865)
–

Accumulated losses

(2,025)

(20,578)

(20,791)

Total equity

55,805

56,734

38,388

38,169

(767)

Non-current liabilities
Other payables

15

28

28

28

28

Lease liability

16

284

379

284

379

Deferred tax liabilities

14

Total non-current liabilities

79

151

71

88

391

558

383

495

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

15

676

6,784

4,406

11,876

Lease liability

16

95

93

95

93

Income tax payable
Total current liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

8

390

8

10

779

7,267

4,509

11,979

56,975

64,559

43,280

50,643
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Group
Note

2021

2020

$’000

$’000

50,269

29,432

Cost of sales

(49,232)

(28,522)

Gross profit

1,037

Revenue

Other operating income

17

18

Other operating expenses

424
(1,645)

Administrative expenses
19

–
(1,474)

Impairment loss
Interest income

20

Interest expense

21

(Loss) Profit before tax

299
(9)
(1,368)

Income tax credit (expense)

22

(Loss) Profit for the financial year, representing (loss)
profit attributable to owners of the Company

23

110
(1,258)

910
413
(1,929)
(223)
–
2,471
(69)
1,573
(178)
1,395

Other comprehensive income (loss) after tax:
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
329

(407)

Other comprehensive income (loss) for the financial year,
net of tax, attributable to owners of the Company

329

(407)

Total comprehensive (loss) income for the financial year
attributable to owners of the Company

(929)

988

(3.58)

3.97

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations

Basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share (cents)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Share
capital

Translation
reserve

Capital
reserve

Accumulated
losses

Total
equity

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

–

(2,162)

55,746

–

1,395

1,395

Group
At 1 January 2020

58,366

(458)

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the
financial year
Profit for the financial year

–

Other comprehensive loss for the
financial year

–

(407)

–

–

Total

–

(407)

–

1,395

58,366

(865)

–

(767)

(1,258)

At 31 December 2020

–

(407)
988
56,734

Total comprehensive (loss) income for the
financial year
Loss for the financial year

–

–

–

Other comprehensive income for the
financial year

–

329

–

Total

–

329

–

(1,258)

(536)

–

(2,025)

55,805

At 31 December 2021

58,366

–

(1,258)
329
(929)

Company
At 1 January 2020
Loss for the financial year, representing
total comprehensive loss for the
financial year

58,366

–

–

(19,507)

38,859

–

–

–

(1,284)

(1,284)

–

–

594

58,366

–

594

–

–

–

213

213

–

–

6

–

6

58,366

–

600

Transaction with owners of the Company,
recognised directly in equity
Forgiveness of amount payable to a
subsidiary
At 31 December 2020
Profit for the financial year, representing
total comprehensive income for the
financial year

–
(20,791)

594
38,169

Transaction with owners of the Company,
recognised directly in equity
Forgiveness of amount payable to a
subsidiary
At 31 December 2021

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

(20,578)

38,388
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Group
2021

2020

$’000

$’000

(1,368)

1,573

Operating activities
(Loss) Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
16

25

101

8

1,474

–

Loss allowance on non-trade receivables

–

42

Interest expense

9

69

Depreciation of plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use asset
Loss allowance on trade receivables

Interest income
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital
Trade and other receivables

(299)

(2,471)

(67)

(754)

21,135

7,281

Restricted bank balances

(34)

Trade and other payables

(6,292)

4,403

14,742

10,012

455

2,159

Cash generated from operations
Interest received
Interest paid
Income tax paid, net
Net cash from operating activities

(2)
(407)
14,788

(918)

(94)
(129)
11,948

Investing activities
Payments for acquisition of plant and equipment
Proceeds from repayment of loan by a related party
Net cash (used in) from investing activities

(7)

(24)

–

21,500

(7)

21,476

Financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings

7,802

12,675

Repayments of borrowings

(7,802)

(17,714)

(100)

(8)

(100)

(5,047)

Repayments of lease liability
Net cash used in financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

14,681

28,377

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of financial year

32,772

4,768

Effects of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash held in foreign currencies
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of financial year (Note 12)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

508
47,961

(373)
32,772
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Reconciliation of changes in liabilities arising from financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and noncash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

Balance as at 1 January 2020
Initial recognition of lease liability
Financing cash flows
Foreign exchange movement

Borrowings

Lease liability

$’000

$’000

5,125

–

–

480

(5,039)
(86)

(8)
–

Balance as at 31 December 2020

–

472

Financing cash flows

–

(100)

Interest expense

–

7

Balance as at 31 December 2021

–

379

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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NOTES TO
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021
1

GENERAL
SP Corporation Limited (the “Company”) (Registration No. 195200115K) is domiciled and incorporated in
Singapore with its registered office at 9 Oxley Rise, #03-02 The Oxley, Singapore 238697 and principal place of
business at 896 Dunearn Road, #03-11 Link@896, Singapore 589472. The Company is listed on the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”). The financial statements are expressed in Singapore dollars,
which is also the functional currency of the Company.
The immediate holding company is Tuan Sing Holdings Limited (“Tuan Sing”), a company incorporated in
Singapore and listed on the SGX-ST. Tuan Sing’s major shareholder is Nuri Holdings (S) Pte Ltd, incorporated
in Singapore. Related companies in these financial statements refer to members of the immediate holding
company’s group of companies.
The principal activity of the Company is that of investment holding, which includes the provision of management
services to related companies. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 28 to the financial
statements.
The consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) and statement of
financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December
2021 were authorised for issuance in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 17 March 2022.

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a)

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

		

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except as disclosed in the
accounting policies below, and are drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore
Companies Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) (“SFRS(I)s”).

		

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.

		

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset
or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is
determined on such a basis, except for leasing transactions that are within the scope of SFRS(I) 16 Leases,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as value in use in
SFRS(I) 1-36 Impairment of Assets.

		

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2
or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

		l

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

		l

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

		l

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(b)

		

(c)
		

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS
On 1 January 2021, the Group and the Company adopted all the new and revised SFRS(I) pronouncements
that are relevant to its operations. The adoption of these new/revised SFRS(I) pronouncements does not
result in changes to the Group’s and the Company’s accounting policies and has no material effect on the
amounts reported for the current or prior financial years.
STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT EFFECTIVE
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following SFRS(I) pronouncements relevant
to the Group and the Company were issued but not effective.

		l

Annual Improvements to SFRS(I)s 2018–20201

		l

Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current2

		l

Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-8: Definition of Accounting Estimates2

		l

Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-1 and SFRS(I) Practice Statement 2: Disclosure of Accounting Policies2

		1

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022, with early application permitted.

		2

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with early application permitted.

		

Consequential amendments were also made to various standards as a result of these new/revised
standards.

		

Management anticipates that the adoption of the above SFRS(I)s and amendments to SFRS(I)s in future
periods will not have a material impact on the financial statements of the Group and of the Company in
the period of their initial adoption.

(d)
		

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities
(including structured entities) controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when
the Company:

		l

has power over the investee;

		l

is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

		l

has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

		

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(d)

		

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (Continued)
When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the
investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee unilaterally. The Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether or not the Company’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

		l

the size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of
the other vote holders;

		l

potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties;

		l

rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

		l

any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the
current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including
voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

		

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases
when the Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary
acquired or disposed of during the financial year are included in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income from the date the Company gains control until the date when the Company ceases
to control the subsidiary.

		

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

		

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

		

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries

		

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

		

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss on disposal is recognised in profit or loss and
is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received
and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), less liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. All amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as required/permitted by applicable SFRS(I)s). The fair value
of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the
fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under SFRS(I) 9 Financial Instruments when
applicable, or the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

		

In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any
impairment in net recoverable value that has been recognised in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(e)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

		

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the
former owners of the acquiree and the equity interest issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

		

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their
fair value at the acquisition date, except that:

		l

Deferred tax assets or liabilities and assets or liabilities related to employee benefits arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with SFRS(I) 1-12 Income Taxes and SFRS(I) 1-19
Employee Benefits respectively;

		l

Liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree
or share-based payment arrangements of the Group entered to replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree are measured in accordance with SFRS(I) 2 Share-based Payment at
the acquisition date; and

		l

Assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with SFRS(I) 5
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that
Standard.

		

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in
the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

		

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and
included as part of the consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes in fair value of the
contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively,
with corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that
arise from additional information obtained during the ‘measurement period’ (which cannot exceed one
year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

		

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not
qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and
its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Other contingent consideration is remeasured to
fair value at subsequent reporting dates with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(e)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)

		

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held interests (including joint
operations) in the acquired entity are remeasured to its acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gain
or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the
acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss, where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

		

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period
in which the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see
below), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts
and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts
recognised as of that date.

(f)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

		

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group’s statement of financial position when
the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

		

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

		Financial assets
		

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

		

All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair
value, depending on the classification of the financial assets.

		

Classification of financial assets

		

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at amortised cost:

		l

the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows; and

		l

the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(f)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

		Financial assets (Continued)
		

Classification of financial assets (Continued)

		

Amortised cost and effective interest method

		

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of
allocating interest income over the relevant period.

		

For financial assets other than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that
are credit-impaired on initial recognition), the effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) excluding expected credit
losses (“ECL”), through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period,
to the gross carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition. For purchased or originated
credit-impaired financial assets, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is calculated by discounting
the estimated future cash flows, including ECL, to the amortised cost of the debt instrument on initial
recognition.

		

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest
method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss
allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset before
adjusting for any loss allowance.

		

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for debt instruments measured
subsequently at amortised cost. For financial instruments other than purchased or originated
credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired. For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If, in
subsequent reporting periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

		

For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, the Group recognises interest income by
applying the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from initial
recognition. The calculation does not revert to the gross basis even if the credit risk of the financial asset
subsequently improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired.

		

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss.

		

Foreign exchange gains and losses

		

The carrying amount of financial assets that are denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that
foreign currency and translated at the spot rate as at each reporting date. Specifically, for financial assets
measured at amortised cost that are not part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange differences
are recognised in profit or loss in the “Other operating income” or “Other operating expenses” line item.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(f)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

		Financial assets (Continued)
		

Impairment of financial assets

		

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on investments in debt instruments that are measured at
amortised cost as well as on financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments. No impairment loss is
recognised for investments in equity instruments. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument.

		

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables. The ECL on these financial assets are
estimated based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to
the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate.

		

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial instrument
has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that
financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

		

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of
a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected
to result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date.

		

Significant increase in credit risk

		

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort. Forward-looking information considered includes the future
prospects of the industries in which the Group’s debtors operate, as well as consideration of various
external sources of actual and forecast economic information that relate to the Group’s core operations,
namely, the commodities market in coal, rubber and aluminium.

		

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

		l

existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

		l

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor; and

		l

an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(f)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

		Financial assets (Continued)
		

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

		

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

		

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk on a
financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments from third
parties are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

		

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if (i) the financial instrument
has a low risk of default, (ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term, and (iii) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer
term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.

		

For financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments, the date that the Group becomes a party to the
irrevocable commitment is considered to be the date of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing
the financial instrument for impairment. In assessing whether there has been a significant increase in the
credit risk since initial recognition of a financial guarantee contract, the Group considers changes in the
risk that the specified debtor will default on the contract. For loan commitment, the Group considers
changes in the risk of a default occurring on the loan to which a loan commitment relates.

		

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

		

Definition of default

		

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that receivables that meet the following criteria are generally
not recoverable:

		l

		

information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

		Financial assets (Continued)
		

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

		

Credit-impaired financial assets

		

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

		

(a)

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

		

(b)

a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

		

(c)

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider; or

		

(d)

it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

		

Write-off policy

		

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade
receivables, when the amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

		

Measurement and recognition of ECL

		

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude
of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default
and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as described
above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying
amount at the reporting date; for financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments, the exposure
includes the amount drawn down as at the reporting date, together with any additional amounts expected
to be drawn down in the future by default date determined based on historical trend, the Group’s
understanding of the specific future financing needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking
information.

		

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due
to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the original effective interest rate.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

		Financial assets (Continued)
		

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

		

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

		

Where lifetime ECL is measured on a collective basis to cater for cases where evidence of significant
increases in credit risk at the individual instrument level may not yet be available, the financial instruments
are grouped on the following basis:

		l

Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s trade and other receivables and amounts due from
customers are each assessed as a separate group. Loans to related parties are assessed for ECL on
an individual basis);

		l

Past-due status;

		l

Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

		l

External credit ratings where available.

		

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

		

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime
ECL in the previous reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that the conditions
for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to
12-month ECL at the current reporting date.

		

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

		

Derecognition of financial assets

		

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in
the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

		

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
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(f)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

		

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

		

Classification as debt or equity

		

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

		Equity instruments
		

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

		

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s
own equity instruments.

		Financial liabilities
		

All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method or
at FVTPL.

		

However, financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does not qualify for
derecognition or when the continuing involvement approach applies, financial guarantee contracts issued
by the Group, and commitments issued by the Group to provide a loan at below-market interest rate are
measured in accordance with the specific accounting policies set out below.

		

Financial liabilities measured subsequently at amortised cost

		

Financial liabilities that are not (i) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination,
(ii) held-for-trading, or (iii) designated as at FVTPL, are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

		

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and
of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a
financial liability.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)

		Financial liabilities (Continued)
		

Financial guarantee contract liabilities

		

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

		

Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair values and, if not designated as at
FVTPL and do not arise from a transfer of a financial asset, are measured subsequently at the higher of:

		l

the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with SFRS(I) 9 Financial Instruments;
and

		l

the amount recognised initially less, where appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in
accordance with the revenue recognition policies.

		

Foreign exchange gains and losses

		

For financial liabilities that are denominated in a foreign currency and are measured at amortised cost at
the end of each reporting period, the foreign exchange gains and losses are determined based on the
amortised cost of the instruments. These foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in the “Other
operating income” or “Other operating expenses” line item for financial liabilities that are not part of a
designated hedging relationship.

		

The fair value of financial liabilities denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign
currency and translated at the spot rate at the end of the reporting period. For financial liabilities that are
measured as at FVTPL, the foreign exchange component forms part of the fair value gains or losses and is
recognised in profit or loss for financial liabilities that are not part of a designated hedging relationship.

		

Derecognition of financial liabilities

		

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

		Offsetting arrangements
		

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement
of financial position when the Group and the Company have a legally enforceable right to set off the
recognised amounts; and intend either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously. A right to set-off must be available today rather than being contingent on a future
event and must be exercisable by any of the counterparties, both in the normal course of business and in
the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy.
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(g)

LEASES

		

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements
in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months
or less) and leases of low value assets. For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an
operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is
more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

		

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at
the commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily
determined, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate specific to the lessee.

		

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:

		l

fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;
and

		l

the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees.

		

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the statement of financial position.

		

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the
lease liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the
lease payments made.

		

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related
right-of-use asset) whenever:

		l

the lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting
in a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate;

		l

the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment
under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using an unchanged discount rate (unless the lease payments change is
due to a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used); or

		l

a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease,
in which case the lease liability is remeasured based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

		

The Group did not make any such adjustments during the periods presented.

		

The right-of-use asset comprises the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease
payments made at or before the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and any initial
direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses.
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(g)

LEASES (Continued)

		

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the
site on which it is located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised and measured under SFRS(I) 1-37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets. To the extent that the costs relate to a right-of-use asset, the costs are
included in the related right-of-use asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

		

The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying
asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects
that the Group expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the
useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.

		

The right-of-use asset is depreciated over 5 years using the straight-line method.

		

The right-of-use asset is presented as a separate line in the statement of financial position.

		

The Group applies SFRS(I) 1-36 Impairment of Assets to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired
and accounts for any identified impairment loss as described in Note 2(i).

		

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease
liability and the right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognised as an expense in the period in
which the event or condition that triggers those payments occurs and are included in the line “Other
operating expenses” in profit or loss.

		

As a practical expedient, SFRS(I) 16 Leases permits a lessee not to separate non-lease components, and
instead account for any lease and associated non-lease components as a single arrangement. The Group
has used this practical expedient.

(h)

NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

		

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell.

		

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be
recovered through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as
met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate sale
in its present condition. Management must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify
for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification.

		

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all of the assets
and liabilities of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the criteria described above are met,
regardless of whether the Group will retain a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the sale.

		

A discontinued operation is a component of an entity that either has been disposed of, or is classified as
held for sale, and:

		

(a)

represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations,

		

(b)

is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical
area of operations, or

		

(c)

is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.
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(i)

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

		

Plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
loss.

		

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less their residual values over their useful
lives, using the straight-line method, on the following bases:

			
		
Plant and equipment
		Motor vehicle

Number of years
1 to 5
10

		

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

		

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. The gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an asset is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss. Fully depreciated assets still in use are retained in
the financial statements.

( j)

IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE ASSETS

		

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine the extent of the impairment
loss (if any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to
individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

		

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

		

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

		

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior financial years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss to the extent that it eliminates the impairment
loss which has been recognised for the asset in prior financial years. Any increase in excess of this amount
is treated as a revaluation increase.
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(k)

PROVISIONS

		

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a
past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation.

		

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation,
its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (when the effect of time value of money is
material).

		

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered
from a third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be
received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

(l)

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

		

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

		

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which
the Group recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase, construct
or otherwise acquire non-current assets (including property, plant and equipment) are recognised as
deferred income in the consolidated statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a
systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

		

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable.

(m)

REVENUE RECOGNITION

		

The Group recognises revenue from the sale of commodity trading products including coal, rubber and
metals.

		

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in a contract
with a customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group recognises revenue
when it transfers control of a product or service to a customer.

		

Sale of commodity trading products

		

For sale of commodity trading products, revenue is recognised when control of the goods has transferred,
being when the goods have been shipped to the customer’s location (delivery). Following delivery, the
customer has full discretion over the manner of distribution and price to sell the goods, has the primary
responsibility when onselling the goods and bears the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation to the
goods. A receivable is recognised by the Group when the goods are delivered to the customer as this
represents the point in time at which the right to consideration becomes unconditional, as only the
passage of time is required before payment is due.

		

Under the Group’s standard contract terms, customers do not have a right of return.
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(m)

REVENUE RECOGNITION (Continued)

		

Financial guarantee income

		

Income from providing financial guarantee is recognised in profit or loss over the guarantee period on a
straight-line basis.

(n)

BORROWING COSTS

		

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets,
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or
sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

		

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure
on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

		

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

(o)
		

(p)
		

(q)

RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions. Payments made to state-managed retirement
benefit plans, such as the Singapore Central Provident Fund, are accounted for as payments to defined
contribution plans where the Group’s obligations under the plans are equivalent to those arising in a
defined contribution retirement benefit plan.
EMPLOYEE LEAVE ENTITLEMENT
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is
made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the
end of the reporting period.
INCOME TAX

		

The income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

		

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the financial year. Taxable profit differs from net
profit as reported in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other financial years and it further excludes items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

		

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in
the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the liability method. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, a deferred tax
liability is not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.
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(q)

INCOME TAX (Continued)

		

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

		

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset
to be recovered.

		

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability
is settled or the asset is realised based on tax laws and rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date.

		

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow
from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

		

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

(r)

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS AND TRANSLATION

		

The individual financial statements of each group entity are measured and presented in the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency). The
consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and statement of
changes in equity of the Company are presented in Singapore dollars, which is the functional currency of
the Company and the presentation currency for the consolidated financial statements.

		

In preparing the financial statements of the group entities, transactions in currencies other than the
entity’s functional currency (“foreign currencies”) are recognised at the rate of exchange prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At each reporting date, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair
value that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing at the date when
the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

		

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on retranslation of monetary items
are included in profit or loss for the period. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of nonmonetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except for differences
arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised in
other comprehensive income. For such non-monetary items, any exchange component of that gain or loss
is also recognised in other comprehensive income.
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(r)

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS AND TRANSLATION (Continued)

		

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
foreign operations (including comparatives) are expressed in Singapore dollars using exchange rates
prevailing on the reporting date. Income and expense items (including comparatives) are translated at the
average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuated significantly during that period,
in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if
any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate component of equity
under the header of translation reserve.

		

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation,
or a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation or a partial
disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation of
which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in a
translation reserve in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss. Any exchange differences that have previously been attributed to non-controlling
interests are derecognised, but they are not reclassified to profit or loss.

		

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation that does not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange
differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all
other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates or joint arrangements that do not result in the
Group losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

		

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign
entities (including monetary items that, in substance, form part of the net investment in foreign entities),
and of borrowings and other currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate component of equity under the
header of translation reserve.

(s)
		

(t)
		

(u)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of cash flows comprise cash on hand, demand
deposits and fixed deposits but exclude restricted bank balances. These are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value.
CAPITAL RESERVE
Capital reserve arose from the forgiveness of the Company’s amount payable to a subsidiary by the
subsidiary.
SEGMENT REPORTING

		

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may
earn revenue and incur expenses.

		

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to members
of management and the chief operating decision makers who are responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCE OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
In applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management is required to make
judgements (other than those involving estimations) that have a significant impact on the amounts recognised
and to make estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in period
of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies
Management is of the view that apart from those involving estimations (see below), there are no critical
judgements involved that management has made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and
that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
Key source of estimation uncertainty
The key assumption concerning the future, and other key source of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.
Calculation of loss allowance
When measuring ECL, the Group uses reasonable and supportable forward-looking information, which is based
on assumptions for the future movement of different economic drivers and how these drivers will affect each
other. The Group also considers the expected future financial condition and the ability of the debtors to pay,
especially where the debts are aged or overdue for more than 90 days.
Loss given default is an estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, taking into account cash flows
from collateral and integral credit enhancements.
Probability of default constitutes a key input in measuring ECL. Probability of default is an estimate of the
likelihood of default over a given time horizon, the calculation of which includes historical data, assumptions and
expectations of future conditions.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION
Products and services from which reportable segments derive their revenues
For the purpose of the resource allocation and assessment of segment performance, the Group’s chief operating
decision maker has focused on the business operating units which in turn, are segregated based on their
products and services. This forms the basis of identifying the operating segments of the Group under SFRS(I) 8
Operating Segments.
Operating segments are aggregated into a single reportable operating segment if they have similar economic
characteristics, such as long-term average gross margins, and are similar in respect of nature of products and
services, and/or their reported revenue.
The Group’s reportable operating segments under SFRS(I) 8 are as follows:
Segment

Principal activities

Commodities Trading

Trades and markets a broad range of products including coal, rubber, metals
as well as other commodities and products used by manufacturers in the
energy, metal and automotive industries in Asia.

Corporate and Others

General corporate activities and others.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies described
in Note 2. Segment revenue represents revenue generated from external and internal customers. Segment profit
represents the profit earned by each segment after allocating finance costs. This is the measure reported to the
chief operating decision maker for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance.
For the purpose of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources, the chief operating decision
maker monitors the financial assets attributable to each segment. Assets, if any, used jointly by reportable
segments are allocated on the basis of the revenue earned by individual operating segments.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Products and services from which reportable segments derive their revenues (Continued)
Segment revenue and results
Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments is presented in the tables below.

Commodities
trading

Corporate
and others

Intersegment
eliminations

Consolidated

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

50,269

–

–

50,269

–

1,565

(1,565)

–

50,269

1,565

(1,565)

50,269

706

(63)

31 December 2021
Revenue
- External customers
- Inter-segment
Total segment revenue
Result
Segment result
Interest income
Interest expense
(Loss) Profit before tax

(2,301)
272
(2)
(2,031)

27

–

(7)

–

726

(63)

(1,658)
299
(9)
(1,368)
110

Income tax credit

(1,258)

Loss after tax
Assets
Segment assets

40,553

16,422

–

56,975
56,975

Total assets
Liabilities
Segment liabilities

277

893

–

1,170
1,170

Total liabilities
Other information
Capital expenditure

–

7

–

7

Depreciation of plant and equipment

3

13

–

16

Depreciation of right-of-use asset

–

101

–

101
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Products and services from which reportable segments derive their revenues (Continued)
Segment revenue and results (Continued)

Commodities
trading

Corporate
and others

Intersegment
eliminations

Consolidated

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

29,432

–

–

29,432

–

1,629

(1,629)

–

29,432

1,629

(1,629)

29,432

(2,103)

2,098

1,214

(2,196)

31 December 2020
Revenue
- External customers
- Inter-segment
Total segment revenue
Result
Segment result
Interest income
Interest expense
Profit (Loss) before tax

(824)
3,453
(127)
2,502

–
(889)

58
(40)

Income tax expense

(829)
2,471
(69)
1,573
(178)

Profit after tax

1,395

Assets
Segment assets

41,547

24,028

(1,016)

Total assets

64,559
64,559

Liabilities
Segment liabilities

7,452

1,389

(1,016)

Total liabilities

7,825
7,825

Other information
Capital expenditure

3

21

–

24

Depreciation of plant and equipment

2

23

–

25

Depreciation of right-of-use asset

–

8

–

8

Notes:
1.

The results, assets and liabilities of SP Energy Pte. Ltd., SP Mining & Engineering Pte. Ltd. and PT. SP Mining & Engineering in
FY2020 have been reclassified from “Corporate and others” to “Commodities trading” following the amalgamation of SP Mining &
Engineering Pte. Ltd. with SP Resources International Pte. Ltd. on 1 January 2021. The amalgamated entity, SPRI Pte. Ltd., together
with SP Energy Pte. Ltd., its immediate holding company, and PT. SP Mining & Engineering, its subsidiary and a subsidiary of the
immediate holding company, form an operating segment which the Group’s chief operating decision maker reviews in totality when
making decisions about resource allocation and performance. This reclassification included revenue of $337,000, segment result of
($5,000), interest income of $2,000, interest expense of $58,000, segment assets of $2,918,000 and segment liabilities of $1,294,000.

2.

The results, assets and liabilities of SP Global International Pte. Ltd. and SP Global Hong Kong Limited in FY2020 have been
reclassified from “Commodities trading” and “Investment” respectively to “Corporate and others” as they have became inactive
during the financial year ended 31 December 2021. This reclassification included segment result of ($320,000), interest income of
$1,214,000, segment assets of $22,014,000 and segment liabilities of $18,965,000.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Geographical information
The Group’s businesses are mainly in Singapore, China including Hong Kong, and Indonesia. Revenue is based
on the country in which the customer is located. Non-current assets and capital expenditure are shown by the
geographical areas in which these assets are located. The Group’s revenue and information about its non-current
assets and capital expenditure by geographical locations are detailed below:
Revenue from
external customers

Non-current assets

Capital expenditure

2021

2020

2021

2020

2021

2020

$‘000

$‘000

$‘000

$‘000

$‘000

$‘000

Singapore

15,887

25,636

578

699

7

24

China including Hong Kong

34,382

3,196

–

–

–

–

Based on location of customer

Indonesia

–

600

–

2,915

–

–

50,269

29,432

578

3,614

7

24

Information about major customers
Included in the Commodities Trading revenue of $50,269,000 (2020 : $29,432,000) were sales of approximately
$34,382,000 and $9,140,000 (2020 : $11,668,000 and $8,006,000) to the Group’s two largest customers who are
third parties.
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PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Group

Plant and
equipment
$’000

Motor
vehicle
$’000

Total
$’000

Cost:
At 1 January 2020
Additions
Write-offs
At 31 December 2020
Additions
Write-offs
At 31 December 2021

278
24
(216)
86
7
(8)
85

202
–
–
202
–
–
202

480
24
(216)
288
7
(8)
287

Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 January 2020
Depreciation for the financial year
Write-offs
At 31 December 2020
Depreciation for the financial year
Write-offs
At 31 December 2021

274
5
(216)
63
9
(8)
64

85
20
–
105
7
–
112

359
25
(216)
168
16
(8)
176

Carrying amount:
At 31 December 2021

21

90

111

At 31 December 2020

23

97

120

Company
Cost:
At 1 January 2020
Additions
Write-offs
At 31 December 2020
Additions
Write-offs
At 31 December 2021

228
21
(183)
66
7
(8)
65

202
–
–
202
–
–
202

430
21
(183)
268
7
(8)
267

Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 January 2020
Depreciation for the financial year
Write-offs
At 31 December 2020
Depreciation for the financial year
Write-offs
At 31 December 2021

227
3
(183)
47
6
(8)
45

85
20
–
105
7
–
112

312
23
(183)
152
13
(8)
157

Carrying amount:
At 31 December 2021

20

90

110

At 31 December 2020

19

97

116
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RIGHT-OF-USE ASSET
The Group’s right-of-use asset consists of an office lease with a related party, with a lease term of five years,
which includes the option to extend for two years.
Group and
Company
$’000
Cost:
At 1 January 2020

–

Additions

507

At 31 December 2020 and 2021

507

Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 January 2020

–

Depreciation for the financial year

8

At 31 December 2020

8

Depreciation for the financial year

101

At 31 December 2021

109

Carrying amount:

7

At 31 December 2021

398

At 31 December 2020

499

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
Company
2021

2020

$’000

$’000

14,049

14,049

5,821

5,558

Quasi-equity loan

13,500

13,500

Less: Impairment loss

(3,933)

(3,733)

29,437

29,374

Unquoted equity shares, at cost
Recognition of financial guarantees provided to subsidiaries

Further details regarding the subsidiaries are set out in Note 28.
The Company issued financial guarantees to banks for credit facilities of its subsidiary and recorded a deemed
financial guarantee income in accordance with the provisions of SFRS(I) 9 Financial Instruments. The deemed
income was amortised over the period of the guarantee. The guarantee fee was not charged by the Company to
the subsidiary. The full amount of the guarantee fee is deemed to be additional investment in the subsidiary.
Management considered receivables from a subsidiary amounting to $13,500,000 as a quasi-equity loan which is
unsecured and interest-free and the settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future. As
the amounts are, in substance, a part of the Company’s net investment in subsidiary, they are stated at cost.
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INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
During the financial year, an additional allowance for impairment loss of $200,000 (2020 : $1,688,000) was made
for investments in subsidiaries. In making this judgement, the Company evaluates, among other factors, the
market and economic environment in which the subsidiaries operate, economic performance of the subsidiaries,
the duration and extent to which the cost of investment in the subsidiaries exceeds their net tangible asset values
which according to management, are the best estimate of the recoverable amount.
On 21 January 2020, the Directors resolved to dissolve one of the Group’s subsidiaries, Globaltraco International
Pte Ltd. The assets and liabilities of this subsidiary have been fully settled and an application has been submitted
as at 31 December 2021.

8

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Group

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

6,626

18,255

–

–

143

280

130

18,655

Current
Trade receivables (Note 9)
Other receivables (Note 10)
Refundable trade deposit with a
related party [Note 25(a)(ii)]

–

7,999

–

–

6,769

26,534

130

18,655

–

2,915

–

–

6,769

29,449

130

18,655

Non-current
Trade receivables (Note 9)

The refundable trade deposit amounting to US$6,000,000 (equivalent to $7,999,000) as at 31 December 2020
relates to monies placed by the Group with a related party which owns a coal mine (Party A) to secure coal
allocations. The deposit was secured by a corporate guarantee issued by the immediate holding company of
Party A which is also a related party and which also owns a coal mine.
As at 31 December 2020, the deposit was repayable within one year and bore an effective interest rate of 4.53%
per annum. The deposit was refunded during the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

9

TRADE RECEIVABLES
Group

Third parties - current
Related parties - current
Related parties - non-current
Less: Loss allowance

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

59

6,067

–

–

8,060

12,188

–

–

–

2,915

–

–

8,119

21,170

–

–

–

–

–

21,170

–

–

(1,493)
6,626
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TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)
Trade receivables
The trade receivables are generally on 30 to 180 days (2020 : 30 to 180 days) credit terms. They are recognised at
their original invoice amounts which represent their fair values on initial recognition. Before accepting any new
customer, the Group assesses the potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by customers.
Loss allowance for trade receivables is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. The ECL on trade receivables
are estimated by reference to past default experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s current
financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions of the
industry in which the debtors operate and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of
conditions at the reporting date.
There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the current
reporting period.
Trade receivables from related parties
Certain past due trade amounts due from related parties bear an interest rate of 8% (2020 : 8%) per annum
in accordance with the billing terms and the remaining are non-interest bearing. The trade amounts due from
related parties are generally on 90 to 180 days (2020 : 90 to 180 days) credit terms. They are recognised at their
original invoice amounts which represent their fair values on initial recognition.
Loss allowance for amounts due from related parties has always been individually assessed and measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECL. In determining the ECL, management has taken into account the financial position
of the related parties, adjusted for factors that are specific to the related parties and general economic conditions
of the industry in which the related parties operate, in estimating the probability of default of the trade amounts
due from related parties as well as the loss upon default. Management has also considered repayments made by
the related parties subsequent to the reporting period.
Included in the trade receivables from related parties was an amount of $5,617,000 (2020 : $8,669,000) due from
a related party, of which $5,206,000 (2020 : $7,967,000) was secured by two parcels of industrial land and building
of the related party in Indonesia valued at approximately $18,714,000 (2020 : $18,400,000) as at the end of the
reporting period.
In 2020, a revision to the original repayment agreement in 2019 in respect of the secured trade receivables
was signed by the related party to make quarterly repayments totalling $7,564,000 over two years from
31 December 2020. Accordingly, an amount of $2,915,000 due from this related party expected to be repaid after
one year from 31 December 2020 had been classified as non-current as at that date. The remaining secured trade
receivables amounting to $4,649,000 was expected to be repaid under the repayment agreement within one year
from 31 December 2020 and had been classified as current as at that date.
As at 31 December 2020, the remaining $403,000 of secured trade receivables which was not covered under the
repayment agreement and the unsecured trade receivables amounting to $702,000 were expected to be repaid
by this related party within one year from 31 December 2020 and had been classified as current as at that date.
As at 31 December 2021, $5,617,000 remained outstanding from this related party.
Management has performed an impairment assessment and a loss allowance of $411,000 (2020 : $Nil),
representing the balance arising from interest on overdue trade receivables, has been provided for as at 31
December 2021. The controlling party of this related party has provided a letter of financial support to the
related party over the remaining balance of $5,206,000 as at 31 December 2021. The remaining balance is
expected to be repaid under the repayment agreement within one year from 31 December 2021 and has been
classified as current as at that date.
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TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)
Trade receivables from related parties (Continued)
An amount of $2,443,000 (2020 : $6,393,000) due from another related party was included in trade receivables
from related parties as at 31 December 2021.
In 2020, the related party signed a repayment agreement with respect to the past due amounts to make quarterly
repayments totalling $11,443,000 over two years from 31 December 2019.
As at 31 December 2020, amounts due from this related party were expected to be repaid within one year from
31 December 2020 and had been classified as current as at that date.
Management has performed an impairment assessment for the balance outstanding as at financial year end and
a loss allowance of $1,082,000 (2020 : $Nil), representing the interest on overdue trade receivables, has been
provided for as at 31 December 2021. The remaining balance is expected to be repaid under the repayment
agreement within one year from 31 December 2021 and has been classified as current as at that date.
There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the current
reporting period.
The following table details the risk profile of trade receivables from contracts with customers which are
individually assessed for impairment. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not show significantly
different loss patterns for different customer segments, the provision for loss allowance based on past due status
is not further distinguished between the Group’s different customer bases.
Group
Trade receivables – days past due
Not past
due

<3
months

3 months
to
6 months

6 months
to
12 months

> 12
months

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

59

–

–

–

8,060

8,119

–

–

–

–

(1,493)

(1,493)

2021
Estimated total gross
carrying amount at
default
Lifetime ECL

6,626
2020
Estimated total gross
carrying amount at
default
Lifetime ECL

6,047

19

-

1,812

13,292

21,170

–

–

–

–

–

–
21,170
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TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)
Trade receivables from related parties (Continued)
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised for trade receivables in
accordance with the simplified approach set out in SFRS(I) 9 Financial Instruments:
Group
Individually
assessed
$’000
Balance as at 1 January 2020 and 31 December 2020

–
(1,474)

Net remeasurement of loss allowance

(19)

Translation difference
Balance as at 31 December 2021

10

(1,493)

OTHER RECEIVABLES
Group

Sundry debtors
Deposits

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

42

42

–

–

1

1

–

–

25

25

25

25

107

72

96

17

Prepayments to a related party

9

–

9

–

Government grant receivable

–

14

–

9

Interest receivable from a related party
[Note 25(a)(ii)]

–

168

–

–

Deposit with a related party
Prepayments

Amount due from a subsidiary
Less: Loss allowance

–

–

–

18,604

184

322

130

18,655

(41)

(42)

–

–

143

280

130

18,655

The amounts due from related parties and a subsidiary are non-trade related, unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.
For purpose of impairment assessment, the other receivables due from a subsidiary and from a related party are
considered to have low credit risk as the timing of payment is controlled by the ultimate holding company taking
into account cash flow management within the ultimate holding company’s group of companies and there has
been no significant increase in the risk of default on the amounts due from the subsidiary and the related party
since initial recognition. Accordingly, for the purpose of impairment assessment for these receivables, the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.
In determining the ECL, management has taken into account the historical default experience and the financial
position of the counterparties, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and general economic
conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate, in estimating the probability of default of each of these
financial assets occurring within their respective loss assessment time horizon, as well as the loss upon default in
each case.
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OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the current
reporting period.
The following table shows the movement in loss allowance that has been recognised for other receivables:
Group
Individually
assessed
$’000
Balance as at 1 January 2020

–

Net remeasurement of loss allowance (Note 19)

(42)

Balance as at 31 December 2020

(42)
1

Translation difference
Balance as at 31 December 2021

11

(41)

TAX RECOVERABLE
Tax recoverable arose mainly from the payment of income tax of which management is in discussion with the
relevant tax authorities.

12

CASH AND BANK BALANCES
Group

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

1,667

2,235

–

–

Cash at bank and on hand

47,961

32,170

13,136

1,919

Cash and bank balances

49,628

34,405

13,136

1,919

Less: Restricted bank balances
    (pledged fixed deposits)

(1,667)

(1,633)

Cash and cash equivalents
in the statement of cash flows

47,961

32,772

Fixed deposits

Cash and bank balances comprise cash held by the Group and short-term bank deposits. The carrying amounts
of these assets approximate their fair values.
Fixed deposits of the Group bear interest at a rate of 0.37% (2020 : 0.15% to 0.32%) per annum and are placed
for a tenor of twelve months (2020 : 28 to 364 days). Fixed deposit amounting to $1,667,000 (2020 : $1,633,000)
is held by a bank as security for facilities granted to a subsidiary.
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SHARE CAPITAL
Group and Company
2021

2020

Number of ordinary shares

2021

2020

$’000

$’000

58,366

58,366

Issued and paid up:
35,099,132

At beginning and end of financial year

35,099,132

Fully paid ordinary shares, which have no par value, carry one vote per share and carry a right to dividends as
and when declared by the Company.

14

DEFERRED TAX
Unremitted
foreign
sourced
interest
income

Depreciation
of plant and
equipment

Right-of-use
asset

Lease
liability

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

At 1 January 2020

53

1

–

–

54

Charge (Credit) during the
financial year (Note 22)

10

8

80

(80)

18

Group

Translation difference

–

–

62

9

80

(55)

(5)

7

4

At 1 January 2020

–

–

–

–

–

Charge (Credit) during the
financial year

–

8

80

(80)

8

As 31 December 2020

–

8

80

(80)

8

(Credit) Charge during the
financial year

–

(5)

(12)

11

(6)

At 31 December 2021

–

3

68

(69)

2

As 31 December 2020
(Credit) Charge during the
financial year (Note 22)
At 31 December 2021

(1)

–

(1)

(80)

71

(12)

11

(61)

68

(69)

10

Company

Group

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Deferred tax at 31 December
related to the following:
Deferred tax liabilities
Deferred tax asset

79

151

71

88

(69)

(80)

(69)

(80)

10

71

2

8
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TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Group

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

19

5,949

19

17

626

814

346

383

Current
Trade payables
Accrued expenses

–

–

–

6

Sundry creditors

21

21

17

12

Amounts due to a related party
- non-trade [Note 25(a)(i)]

10

–

10

–

–

–

4,014

11,458

676

6,784

4,406

11,876

28

28

28

28

28

28

28

28

Financial guarantee contracts

Amount due to subsidiaries - non-trade

Non-current
Accrued expenses

Trade payables principally comprise net GST payable (2020 : amounts outstanding for trade purchases and
ongoing costs). Trade payables are generally on 14 to 90 days (2020 : 14 to 90 days) credit terms. The amounts
due to a related party and subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

16

LEASE LIABILITY
Group and Company
2021

2020

$’000

$’000

Year 1

100

100

Year 2

100

100

Year 3

100

100

Year 4

90

100

Year 5

–

90

390

490

(11)

(18)

379

472

95

93

284

379

379

472

Maturity analysis:

Less: Unearned interest

Analysed as:
Current
Non-current

The Group does not face a significant liquidity risk with regard to its lease liability. The lease liability arose from
an office lease with a related party and is monitored within the Group’s treasury function.
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LEASE LIABILITY (Continued)
The total net cash outflow for leases (including short-term leases and leases of low value assets) amounts to
$100,000 (2020 : $245,000).
The Group does not have commitments to short-term leases as at the end of the financial year.

17

REVENUE
The Group derives its revenue from the sale of commodities trading products at a point in time. This is consistent
with the revenue information that is disclosed for each reportable segment under SFRS(I) 8 Operating Segments
(see Note 4).
The Group has applied the practical expedient in SFRS(I) 15:121 and has not disclosed the transaction price of
contracts with customers allocated to remaining performance obligations as at the end of the financial year as
those performance obligations are part of contracts that have an original expected duration of one year or less.

18

OTHER OPERATING INCOME
Group
2021

2020

$’000

$’000

Compensation in lieu of delivery of outstanding coal allocation
[Note 25(a)(ii)]

165

–

Foreign currency exchange gain, net

246

–

13

159

Government grant income
Handling fee income [Note 25(a)(ii)]

–

62

Write-back of accrued expenses and sundry creditors

–

170

Rental relief

–

21

Sundry income

–

1

424

413

During the financial year, the Group received wage support for local employees under the Jobs Support Scheme
(“JSS”) from the Singapore Government as part of the Government’s measures to support businesses during the
period of economic uncertainty impacted by COVID-19. The Group assessed that there is reasonable assurance
that it will comply with the conditions attached to the grants and the grants will be received. Government grant
income of $13,000 (2020 : $151,000) was recognised in profit or loss during the financial year on a systematic
basis over the period of uncertainty in which the related salary costs for which the grant is intended to
compensate is recognised as expenses.
During the financial year ended 31 December 2020, the Group also received the following rental rebates which
were recognised as other operating income for the financial year:
(a)

$3,000 relating to the property tax rebate from the Government which was mandated to be fully passed
on by the landlord to the Group as a tenant, which was recognised as government grant income; and

(b)

$21,000 for the leased office premises under the Rental Relief Framework as mandated by the
Government.
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OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES
Group

20

2021

2020

$’000

$’000

Foreign currency exchange loss, net

–

177

Loss allowance on non-trade receivables (Note 10)

–

42

Others

–

4

–

223

INTEREST INCOME
Group

Bank deposits
Refundable trade deposit - related party [Note 25(a)(ii)]
Loan to a related party [Note 25(a)(ii)]
Overdue trade receivables - related parties [Note 25(a)(ii)]

21

2021

2020

$’000

$’000

42

31

238

448

–

1,213

19

779

299

2,471

INTEREST EXPENSE
Group

22

2021

2020

$’000

$’000

Trust receipts

2

68

Lease liability

7

1

9

69

INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE
Group
2021

2020

$’000

$’000

Income tax:
Current financial year
Withholding tax (reversal) expense
Under (Over) provision in prior financial years
(Reversal of) Provision for deferred tax liabilities

8

355

(70)

71

13

(266)

(49)

160

(61)

18

(110)

178
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INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE (Continued)
Domestic income tax is calculated at 17% (2020 : 17%) of the estimated assessable profit for the financial year.
Taxation for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.
Reconciliations of the statutory income tax rate to the effective tax rate applicable to profit before tax are as
follows:
Group
2021

2020

%

%

Domestic statutory tax rate

17.0

17.0

Exempt income

(0.7)

(2.1)

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions

(0.4)

(3.4)

1.0

(16.9)

(10.8)

(13.4)

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses

26.8

4.1

Withholding tax (reversal) expense

(5.1)

4.5

Under (Over) provision in prior financial years
Tax effect of non-taxable income

Effect of tax concessions
Effect of dividend income not taxed at source
Change in unrecognised deferred tax assets
Others
Effective tax rate

–

(0.3)

–

22.7

(18.3)

–

(1.5)

(0.9)

8.0

11.3

At 31 December 2021, the Group had unutilised capital allowances and tax losses of approximately $1,831,000
(2020 : $1,831,000) and $11,328,000 (2020 : $8,850,000) respectively available for offset against future taxable
income, subject to the conditions imposed by law in the countries of incorporation where these companies
operate.
Future tax benefits of $2,237,000 (2020 : $1,817,000) arising from such unutilised capital allowances and tax
losses have not been recognised as there is no reasonable certainty of their recovery in future periods.
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(LOSS) PROFIT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR
(Loss) Profit for the financial year has been arrived at after charging (crediting):
Group
2021

2020

$’000

$’000

755

971

Employer’s contribution to defined contribution plans including
Central Provident Fund

87

93

Employee benefits expenses (including directors’ remuneration)

842

1,064

- Directors of the Company

205

341

- Key management personnel

284

295

Salaries and wages

Remuneration paid or payable to:

Government grant deducted against salary and wages

(84)

–

–

266

101

114

12

12

- Auditors of the Company

28

17

- Other auditors

13

15

Expenses relating to short-term lease
Fees for audit services to:
- Auditors of the Company
- Other auditors
Fees for non-audit services to:

The Audit and Risk Committee had undertaken a review of the non-audit services provided by the auditors,
Deloitte & Touche LLP, Singapore and overseas practices of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited and in the opinion
of the Audit and Risk Committee, these services would not affect the independence of the auditors.
The employees of SP Corporation Limited and its subsidiaries who are located in Singapore are members of
a state-managed retirement benefit plan, the Central Provident Fund Board, operated by the Government of
Singapore. The Company and its subsidiaries are required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll costs
to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
retirement benefit plan is to make the specified contributions.
The total expense recognised in profit or loss of $87,000 (2020 : $93,000) represents contributions payable to
these plans by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the plans. As at 31 December 2021, contributions of
$13,000 (2020 : $14,000) due in respect of the current financial year had not been paid over to the plans. The
amounts were paid subsequent to the end of the reporting period.
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(LOSS) PROFIT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR (Continued)
During the financial year, the Group received grants amounting to $84,000 (2020 : $Nil) under the Jobs Growth
Incentive (“JGI”) scheme as part of the Singapore Government’s measures to provide wage support to eligible
employers that increase their local workforce between September 2020 and September 2022. The Group assessed
that there is reasonable assurance that it will comply with the conditions attached to the grants and the grants
will be received. The JGI grant was recognised in profit or loss as a deduction against salaries and wages included
in the “Administrative expenses” line item.

24

(LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE (CENTS)
Basic (loss) earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net (loss) profit for the financial year attributable to
owners of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the financial year:
Group
2021

2020

Net (loss) profit attributable to owners of the Company ($’000)

(1,258)

1,395

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (in ’000)

35,099

35,099

Basic (loss) earnings per share (cents)

(3.58)

3.97

The Company has not granted options over shares. There are no dilutive potential ordinary shares.

25

RELATED PARTY AND RELATED COMPANY TRANSACTIONS
The Company’s major shareholder is Tuan Sing Holdings Limited (“Tuan Sing”), incorporated in Singapore. Tuan
Sing’s major shareholder is Nuri Holdings (S) Pte Ltd (“Nuri”), incorporated in Singapore. Related parties are
members in which the shareholders of Nuri and their family members have a controlling interest.
Related companies in these financial statements refer to members of the immediate holding company’s group of
companies (Note 1).
Some of the Group’s transactions and arrangements are with related parties and the effect of these on the basis
determined between the parties is reflected in these financial statements. The balances are unsecured, interestfree and repayable on demand unless otherwise stated.
The Company has provided financial support to two (2020 : three) of its subsidiaries for a period of twelve
months from the end of the reporting period so as to enable the subsidiaries to continue to operate as a going
concern and meet their contractual obligations when they fall due.
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RELATED PARTY AND RELATED COMPANY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(a)

		

Transactions with related companies and related parties
During the financial year, the Group entered into the following significant transactions with related
companies and related parties in the normal course of business based on terms agreed between the
parties:
Group

(i)

(ii)

2021

2020

$’000

$’000

Management fee expense

117

150

Repayments of lease liability

100

8

Tuan Sing Holdings Limited and subsidiaries

Related parties
Sale of goods

(6,746)

(3,003)

Purchase of goods

47,567

25,548

Compensation in lieu of delivery of outstanding coal
allocation
Handling fee income
Loss allowance on trade receivables (Note 9)
Interest income from placement of refundable trade
deposit
Interest income on overdue trade receivables

(165)
–
1,474

–
(62)
–

(238)

(448)

(19)

(779)

Interest income from loan

–

(1,213)

Placement of refundable trade deposit*

–

7,999

		

*

The item represented the amount as at financial year end.

		

The Group is reliant on two related parties (2020 : one related party) for the supply of 100% (2020 : 100%)
of its coal products within its Commodities Trading business segment. The Group supplies 13% (2020 : Nil)
of its coal products to a related party customer. There was no sale of rubber products in 2021. In 2020,
the Group supplied 100% of its rubber products within its Commodities Trading business segment to two
related party customers.

		

The amounts outstanding are unsecured and will be settled in cash unless otherwise stated. An amount of
$1,474,000 (2020 : $Nil) has been recognised during the financial year for doubtful debts in respect of the
amounts owed by related parties.
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RELATED PARTY AND RELATED COMPANY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(b)

		

Compensation of Directors and key management personnel
The remuneration of Directors and key management personnel during the financial year was as follows:
Group

Short-term benefits

2021

2020

$’000

$’000

464

604

25

32

489

636

Post-employment benefits

		

26

The remuneration of Directors and key management personnel is determined by the Remuneration
Committee having regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Group

Financial guarantees to banks for facilities
granted to a subsidiary

27

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

–

–

35,827

35,498

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
(a)

		

Categories of financial instruments
The following table sets out the financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period:
Group

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

6,769

29,449

130

18,655

Financial assets
Amortised cost
Trade and other receivables
Less : Prepayments
Less : Government grant receivable
Cash and bank balances

(116)
–

(72)
(14)

(96)
–

(17)
(9)

6,653

29,363

34

49,628

34,405

13,136

1,919

56,281

63,768

13,170

20,548

704

6,812

4,434

11,904

18,629

Financial liabilities
Amortised cost
Trade and other payables
Lease liability

379

472

379

472

1,083

7,284

4,813

12,376
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b)

		

(c)

Financial instruments subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangement and similar
agreements
The Group and the Company do not have any financial instruments which are subject to enforceable
master netting arrangements or similar netting agreements as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.
Financial risk management policies and objectives

		

The Group has documented its financial risk management framework. The Group’s risk framework has
formal, systematic and comprehensive guidelines and rules to identify and manage significant risks that
might affect the achievement of its business objectives. The Group’s overall risk management framework
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects of financial performance of the Group.

		

Risk management is carried out by the Company and the respective subsidiaries under the policies
formulated by the Company and approved by the Company’s Board of Directors.

		

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks - market risk (including currency risk, interest
rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management strategy seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects from the unpredictability of financial markets on the Group’s financial
performance.

		

The Group’s financial instruments comprise cash and liquid resources, trade and other receivables, trade
and other payables that arise directly from its operations. The main purpose of these financial instruments
is to maintain adequate finance for the Group’s operations. The main risks arising from the Group’s
financial instruments are currency risk, price risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

		

The Group manages its exposure to currency and interest rate risks by using a variety of techniques
and instruments. Natural hedging is preferred by matching assets and liabilities of the same currency.
Derivative financial instruments are only used where it is necessary to reduce exposure to fluctuations in
foreign exchange.

		

The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

		

There has been no major change to the Group’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which
it manages and measures the risk. Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis indicated
below.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(c)

		

Financial risk management policies and objectives (Continued)
(i)

Currency risk management

			

The Group’s businesses are mainly in Singapore, China including Hong Kong, and Indonesia.
Entities in the Group regularly transact in currencies other than their respective functional
currencies (“foreign currencies”) such as the Singapore dollar (“SGD”) and United States dollar
(“USD”). Currency risk arises when transactions are denominated in foreign currencies.

			

The Group’s exposure to currency translation risk on the net assets in foreign operations is limited
to the net assets of these operations. The risk is not hedged as such investments are considered to
be long-term in nature.

			

The primary purpose of the Group’s currency hedging activities is to protect against the effect of
volatility in foreign currency exchange rates on foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities
arising in the normal course of business. As far as possible, the Group relies on natural hedges of
matching foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities of the same currency.

			Currency risk exposure
			

The Group’s currency exposures for amounts not denominated in the respective functional
currencies of the Company and the subsidiaries are as follows:

SGD equivalent

SGD

Others

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

2,049

653

2,702

30

29

59

(35)

(16)

(51)

Group
At 31 December 2021
Financial assets
Cash and bank balances
Trade and other receivables
Financial liability
Trade and other payables
Net financial assets and currency
exposure

2,044

666

2,710

At 31 December 2020
Financial assets
Cash and bank balances

68

140

208

9,220

29

9,249

Trade and other payables

(19,647)

(37)

(19,684)

Net financial (liability) assets and
currency exposure

(10,359)

132

(10,227)

Trade and other receivables
Financial liability

			

The Company’s financial assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are denominated
in SGD. Accordingly, the Company is not exposed to significant currency risk.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(c)

		

Financial risk management policies and objectives (Continued)
(i)

Currency risk management (Continued)

			Currency sensitivity analysis
			

The following table details the sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in the exchange rate of
the relevant foreign currencies against the functional currency of each group entity. The magnitude
represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates.
The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items
and adjusts the translated amount at the period end for a 10% change in foreign currency rate.
The sensitivity analysis includes loans to foreign operations within the Group where they gave rise
to an impact on the Group’s profit or loss and/or equity.

			

If the relevant foreign currency strengthens by 10% against the functional currency of each group
entity, loss will decrease (increase) (2020 : profit will increase (decrease)) by:
SGD impact
SGD equivalent

Other currency impact

2021

2020

2021

2020

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

67

13

Group
Profit or loss
			

204

(1,036)

If the relevant foreign currency weakens by 10% against the functional currency of each group
entity, loss will decrease (increase) (2020 : profit will increase (decrease)) by:
SGD impact
SGD equivalent

Other currency impact

2021

2020

2021

2020

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Group
Profit or loss
		

(ii)

			

(204)

1,036

(67)

(13)

Price risk management
Due to the nature of the Group’s operations, the performance of a subsidiary in the Group which
trades in coal, rubber, aluminium and steel wire rod is susceptible to changes in these commodity
prices. The Group has not entered into any hedging arrangements and at present is not hedged
against price risks arising from these commodities. As far as possible, the Group adopts natural
hedging by making purchases only when there is a sales demand.

			Pricing sensitivity analysis
			

No sensitivity analysis is prepared as the Group does not expect any material effect on the Group’s
profit or loss arising from the effects of reasonably possible changes to price at the end of the
reporting period as the Group adopts natural hedging by making purchases only when there is a
sales demand.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(c)

		

Financial risk management policies and objectives (Continued)
(iii)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk management

			

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the
fair value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates.

			

The Group mainly uses trade financing for funding. The Group’s interest management policy is
aimed at optimising net interest cost and reducing volatility in finance cost. A summary of
quantitative data of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments can be found in Note
27(c)(v).

			Interest rate sensitivity analysis
			

No sensitivity analysis is prepared as the Group does not expect any material effect on the Group’s
profit or loss arising from the effects of reasonably possible changes to interest rates on interestbearing financial instruments at the end of the reporting period.

		

Credit risk management

(iv)

			

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty may default on its contractual obligations resulting
in financial loss to the Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy
counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the
risk of financial loss from defaults. The Group manages these risks by monitoring credit-worthiness
and limiting the aggregate risk to any individual counterparty. Therefore, the Group does not
expect to incur material credit losses on its financial instruments.

			

The Group develops and maintains its credit risk gradings to categorise exposures according to
their degree of risk of default. The Group uses its own trading records to rate its major customers
and other debtors.

			

The Group’s current credit risk grading framework comprises the following categories:
Category

Description

Basis for recognising ECL

Performing

The counterparty has a low risk of default
and does not have any past-due amounts.

12-month ECL

Doubtful

Amount is >30 days past due or there has
been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL not credit-impaired

In default

Amount is >90 days past due or there is
evidence indicating the asset is creditimpaired.

Lifetime ECL credit-impaired

Write-off

There is evidence indicating that the debtor
is in severe financial difficulty and the Group
has no realistic prospect of recovery.

Amount is written off
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(c)

		

Financial risk management policies and objectives (Continued)
(iv)

Credit risk management (Continued)

			

The assessment of the credit quality and exposure to credit risk of the Group’s trade and other
receivables has been disclosed in Notes 9 and 10 respectively.

			

The tables below detail the credit quality of the Group’s financial assets, as well as the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk by credit risk rating grades:

Note

Internal
credit
rating

12-month
or lifetime
ECL

Gross
carrying
amount

Loss
allowance

Net
carrying
amount

$’000

$’000

$’000

8,119

(1,493)

6,626

Group
31 December 2021
Trade receivables

9

(i)

Lifetime ECL
(simplified
approach)

Other receivables

10

Performing

12-month ECL

27

–

27

Other receivables

10

Doubtful

Lifetime ECL
– not creditimpaired

41

(41)

–

(1,534)
31 December 2020
Trade receivables

9

(i)

Lifetime ECL
(simplified
approach)

21,170

–

21,170

Other receivables

10

Performing

12-month ECL

236

(42)

194

Refundable trade
deposit with a
related party

8

Performing

12-month ECL

7,999

–

7,999

(42)
Company
31 December 2021
Other receivables

10

Performing

12-month ECL

25

–

25

–
31 December 2020
Other receivables

10

Performing

12-month ECL

18,629

–

18,629

–
		

			

(i)

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach in SFRS(I) 9 Financial Instruments
to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group determines the ECL on these items estimated
based on historical credit loss experience based on the past due status of the debtors, adjusted as
appropriate to reflect current conditions and estimates of future economic conditions. Note 9 includes
further details on the loss allowance for these trade receivables.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(c)

		

Financial risk management policies and objectives (Continued)
(iv)

Credit risk management (Continued)

			

The maximum amount the Group could be forced to settle under the financial guarantee contracts
in Note 26, if the full guaranteed amount is claimed by the counterparties to the guarantees is
$35,827,000 (2020 : $35,498,000). Based on expectations at the end of the reporting period,
the Group considers that it is remote that any amount will be payable under the arrangement.
However, this estimate is subject to change depending on the probability of the counterparties
claiming under the guarantees which is a function of the likelihood that the financial receivables
held by the counterparties which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.

			

Other than as disclosed in Note 9 to the financial statements, there was no significant
concentration of credit risk at the end of the reporting period. The carrying amount of financial
assets recorded in the financial statements, grossed up for any loss allowances and the exposure to
defaults from financial guarantees above, represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
without taking into account the value of any collateral obtained.

			

Other receivables in Note 10 are mainly derived from Singapore and Indonesia.

			

The credit exposure for trade receivables by geographical areas is as follows:
Group
2021

2020

$’000

$’000

Singapore

1,391

9,345

Indonesia

5,235

8,696

By geographical areas

China including Hong Kong

–

3,129

6,626

21,170
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(c)

		

Financial risk management policies and objectives (Continued)
(v)

Liquidity risk management

			

The Group adopts prudent liquidity risk management by maintaining sufficient cash and cash
equivalents, and internally generated cash flows to finance its activities.

			

Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, the Group aims at maintaining flexibility
in funding by keeping adequate committed credit facilities available.

			

Liquidity and interest risk analyses

			Non-derivative financial assets
			

The following table details the expected maturity for non-derivative financial assets as disclosed
in Note 27(a). The inclusion of information on non-derivative financial assets is necessary in order
to understand the Group’s liquidity risk management as the Group’s liquidity risk is managed on a
net asset and liability basis. The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial assets including interest that will be earned on those assets except where the Group
anticipates that the cash flow will occur in a different period. The adjustment column represents
the possible future cash flows attributable to the instrument included in the maturity analysis
which are not included in the carrying amount of the financial assets in the statement of financial
position.
Weighted
average
effective
interest
rate

On
demand or
less than
1 year

Within
1 to 2
years

Within
2 to 5
years

After
5 years

Adjustment

Total

%

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Non-interest bearing

–

9,104

–

–

–

–

9,104

Variable interest rate
instruments

0.1

38,968

–

–

–

(25)

38,943

Fixed interest rate
instruments

6.0

Group
2021

8,239

–

–

–

(5)

8,234

56,311

–

–

–

(30)

56,281

–

52,604

–

–

–

–

52,604

8.0

8,451

2,974

–

–

(261)

11,164

61,055

2,974

–

–

(261)

63,768

2020
Non-interest bearing
Fixed interest rate
instruments
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(c)

		

Financial risk management policies and objectives (Continued)
(v)

			

Liquidity risk management (Continued)
Liquidity and interest risk analyses (Continued)

			Non-derivative financial liabilities
Weighted
average
effective
interest
rate

On
demand or
less than
1 year

Within
1 to 2
years

Within
2 to 5
years

After
5 years

Adjustment

Total

%

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Group and Company
2021
At amortised cost Non-interest bearing
Lease liability

–
1.6

–

–

28

–

–

28

100

100

190

–

(11)

379

100

100

218

–

(11)

407

–

–

28

–

–

28

100

100

290

–

(18)

472

100

100

318

–

(18)

500

2020
At amortised cost Non-interest bearing
Lease liability

–
1.6

			

The Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 as disclosed in
Note 27(a) are due within one year from the end of the reporting period, except as disclosed
above.

			

The Company’s non-derivative financial assets as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are due within
one year from the end of the reporting period.

		

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities

(vi)

			

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group’s and the Company’s carrying amounts of cash
and bank balances, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables, and lease liability
approximate their respective fair values due to the relatively short-term maturity of these financial
instruments.

			

There were no significant transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy during
the financial year.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(d)

Capital management policies and objectives

		

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern and to maintain an optimal capital structure so as to maximise shareholder value. The
capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable to owners of the Company, in the form of
issued capital, translation reserve, capital reserve and accumulated losses as disclosed in the statement of
changes in equity, and limited borrowing.

		

The Group monitors capital based on a debt-to-adjusted capital ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt
divided by adjusted capital. Net debt is calculated as total debt less cash and bank balances. Adjusted
capital comprises all components of equity. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior
financial year.

		

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

28

LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

Name of subsidiary and country
of incorporation/operation

Principal activity

Proportion of ownership
interest and voting rights
held by the Group
2021

2020

%

%

–

100

SP Resources International Pte. Ltd.
(Singapore) (a) (e)

Trading and marketing of
industrial products

SP Global International Pte. Ltd.
(Singapore) (a)

Distribution of consumer products

100

100

Globaltraco International Pte Ltd
(Singapore) (a) (f)

Distribution of tyres

100

100

SP Performance Pte. Ltd.
(Singapore) (a)

Investment holding

100

100

Performance Retreads Sdn. Bhd.
(Malaysia) (b)

Retreading of tyres

100

100

SP Energy Pte. Ltd.
(Singapore) (a)

Investment holding

100

100

SPRI Pte. Ltd. (Formerly known as SP
Mining & Engineering Pte. Ltd.)
(Singapore) (a)

Trading and marketing of
industrial products

100

100

PT. SP Mining & Engineering
(Indonesia) (c)

Engineering contractor

100

100

SP Global Hong Kong Limited
(Hong Kong) (d)

Investment holding

100

100

(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)

Audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, Singapore.
Audited by overseas practice of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited in Malaysia.
Audited by member firm of BDO International Limited in Indonesia.
Audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, Singapore and overseas practice of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited in Hong Kong.
Amalgamated with SP Mining & Engineering Pte. Ltd. on 1 January 2021.
Management has commenced procedures to dissolve the subsidiary (Note 7).

124

SP CORPORATION LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION PURSUANT TO
SGX-ST LISTING MANUAL
31 December 2021

Interested Person Transactions
- Listing Manual Rule 907
Interested person transactions (excluding transactions less than $100,000) during the financial year ended 31 December
2021 are set out below.
Group
Aggregate value of
all interested person
transactions (excluding
transactions less than
$100,000 and transactions
conducted under
shareholders’ mandate
pursuant to Rule 920)

Aggregate value of
all interested person
transactions conducted
under shareholders’
mandate pursuant to
Rule 920 (excluding
transactions
less than $100,000)

For the financial year

For the financial year

2021

2020

2021

2020

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

–

–

6,685

257

–

–

47,172

25,625

Interest income from placement
of refundable trade deposit

–

–

238

448

Compensation in lieu of delivery
of outstanding coal allocation

–

–

165

–

Aggregate value of transactions
entered into with the same
interested person

–

–

54,260

26,330

–

–

–

1,213

–

–

–

1,213

–

–

117

150

–

–

54,377

27,693

Name of interested persons

William Nursalim alias William
Liem & associates
Sales
Purchases

Nuri Holdings (S) Pte Ltd &
associates
Interest income from loan

Nature of relationship

Mr William Nursalim alias
William Liem is a director
and deemed controlling
shareholder of the Company.

Nuri Holdings (S) Pte Ltd is
a major shareholder of the
Company’s immediate holding
company, Tuan Sing Holdings
Limited.

Aggregate value of transactions
entered into with the same
interested person
Tuan Sing Holdings Limited &
associates
Management fee expense
Total interested person
transactions

Tuan Sing Holdings Limited
is the Company’s immediate
holding company and
controlling shareholder.
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Material Contracts
- Listing Manual Rule 1207(8)
Save as disclosed above, there were no other material contracts entered into by the Company and its subsidiaries
involving the interest of the Chief Executive Officer, Director or controlling shareholders, which were either subsisting at
the end of the financial year or if not then subsisting, entered into since the end of the previous financial year.

Treasury Shares
- Listing Manual Rule 1207(9)(f)
At no time during the financial year or subsequent to the end of the financial year did the Company hold any treasury
shares.

External Auditors
- Listing Manual Rule 1207(6)
The aggregate amount of fees paid to the external auditors, broken down into audit and non-audit services, as well as
the Audit and Risk Committee’s review and affirmation that all the non-audit services provided by the external auditors
had not affected the external auditors’ independence, are presented under the “Corporate Governance Report” section
of the annual report, III. Accountability and Audit, Audit and Risk Committee Principal 10 on page 52. In addition, a
statement in relation to the Company’s compliance with Rules 712 and 715 of the SGX-ST Listing Manual is reflected
under the aforesaid section on page 52.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND VOTING RIGHTS
ISSUED AND FULLY PAID-UP CAPITAL

:

$58,365,721.95

NO. OF SHARES ISSUED

:

35,099,132

CLASS OF SHARES

:

ORDINARY SHARES

VOTING RIGHTS

:

ONE VOTE PER SHARE

NUMBER OF TREASURY SHARES AND SUBSIDIARY HOLDINGS HELD

:

NIL

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS
Size of Shareholdings

No. of Shareholdings

1 - 99
100 - 1,000
1,001 - 10,000

No. of Shares

4.03

2,304

76.70

984,328

2.80

527

17.54

1,521,952

4.34

50

1.66

2,714,071

7.73

2

0.07

29,873,319

85.11

3,004

100.00

35,099,132

100.00

No. of Shares

%

1,000,001 & above

5,462

%

121

10,001 - 1,000,000
Total

%

0.02

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS
as shown in the Register of Members and Depository Register
No.

Name of Shareholders

1

TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED

28,146,319

80.19

2

ABN AMRO CLEARING BANK N.V.

3

CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD

1,727,000

4.92

751,100

2.14

4
5

DBS NOMINEES PTE LTD

201,500

0.57

UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES PTE LTD

153,623

0.44

6

ATMA SINGH S/O NAND SINGH

142,600

0.41

7

TAN JUN LIANG JOSHUA

112,000

0.32

8

LOW CHENG LUM

110,000

0.31

9

RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE) LIMITED

104,420

0.30

10

CHEN BIQING

85,900

0.24

11

OCBC NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD

85,400

0.24

12

CHOY LOKE WAI

65,800

0.19

13

LIM HOCK HUAT PAUL

63,800

0.18

14

NADYA LIYI TAN

62,400

0.18

15

JOSEPH LIOW CHIN YONG (JOSEPH LIAO ZHENYANG)

60,000

0.17

16

KUEK NGA HONG

46,400

0.13

17

MAYBANK SECURITIES PTE. LTD.

44,600

0.13

18

CHAN KIA TON @ CHAN TIANG TON

33,500

0.10

19

OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LTD

31,900

0.09

20

CHUA SWEE KUAN
Total

30,000

0.09

32,058,262

91.34

127

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 SP CORPORATION LIMITED

SHAREHOLDING
STATISTICS
As at 8 March 2022

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS						
as shown in the Register of Substantial Shareholders						

Name
Tuan Sing Holdings Limited

No. of Shares
(Direct Interest)

%

No. of Shares
(Deemed Interest)

%

28,146,319

80.19

–

–

Nuri Holdings (S) Pte Ltd*

–

–

28,146,319

80.19

Michelle Liem Mei Fung**

–

–

28,146,319

80.19

William Nursalim alias William Liem**

–

–

28,146,319

80.19

Dr Tan Enk Ee**

–

–

28,146,319

80.19

Notes:
*
By virtue of its interests in Tuan Sing Holdings Limited
** By virtue of her/his interests in Nuri Holdings (S) Pte Ltd

SHAREHOLDINGS HELD IN THE HANDS OF THE PUBLIC
Based on information available to the Company as at 8 March 2022, approximately 19.81% of the issued ordinary shares
of the Company is held by the public and therefore, Rule 723 of the Listing Manual issued by the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited is complied with.
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SP CORPORATION LIMITED

(Company Registration No.: 195200115K)
Registered office: 9 Oxley Rise, #03-02 The Oxley, Singapore 238697
To:

The Shareholders of SP Corporation Limited
(“Shareholders”)

Dear Sir/Madam
Renewal of the Shareholders’ Mandate for Interested Person Transactions
We refer to item 6 of the Notice of the 69th Annual General Meeting (“69th AGM”) of the Company, which is an
Ordinary Resolution (“Resolution 7”) to be proposed at the 69th AGM for the renewal of the Company’s shareholders’
mandate for interested person transactions. The purpose of this letter is to provide Shareholders with information
relating to Resolution 7.

1.

Background
At the 68th Annual General Meeting of the Company held on 16 April 2021 (“68th AGM”), Shareholders had
approved the renewal of a shareholders’ mandate for the purposes of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“Listing Manual”) to enable the Company, its subsidiaries and
associated companies that are considered to be “entities at risk” within the meaning of Chapter 9 of the Listing
Manual, or any of them, to enter into certain types of transactions with specified classes of the Company’s
interested persons, provided that such transactions entered into in the ordinary course of business, are on
normal commercial terms and are not prejudicial to the interests of the Company and its minority shareholders
(“Shareholders’ Mandate”).

2.

Renewal of the Shareholders’ Mandate
Under Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual, a general mandate for transactions with interested persons is subject to
annual renewal. The Shareholders’ Mandate approved at the 68th AGM was expressed to continue in force until
the next annual general meeting of the Company, being the 69th AGM, which is to be held on 21 April 2022.
Accordingly, it is proposed that the Shareholders’ Mandate be renewed at the 69th AGM, to take effect until the
conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company.
The types of transactions and classes of interested persons in respect of which the Shareholders’ Mandate is
sought to be renewed remain unchanged. Particulars of the Shareholders’ Mandate, including the rationale for,
the benefits to be derived by the Company, as well as the review procedures for determining transaction prices
with the specified classes of interested persons, are set out in Appendix A of this letter.
General information on the listing rules relating to interested person transactions, including the meanings of
terms such as “associate”, “controlling shareholder” and “interested person” used in Chapter 9 of the Listing
Manual, is set out in Appendix B of this letter.

3.

Audit and Risk Committee’s Statement
The Audit and Risk Committee of the Company confirms that:
(a)

the methods or procedures for determining the transaction prices under the Shareholders’ Mandate have
not changed since the 68th AGM; and
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4.

the methods or procedures referred to in (a) above are sufficient to ensure that the transactions will be
carried out on normal commercial terms and will not be prejudicial to the interests of the Company and
its minority shareholders.

Directors’ and Substantial Shareholders’ Interests
The interests of the Directors and substantial shareholders in the issued shares of the Company can respectively
be found in the “Directors’ Statement” and “Shareholding Statistics” of the Company’s 2021 Annual Report.

5.

Recommendation
The Directors who are considered independent for the purposes of the proposed renewal of the Shareholders’
Mandate are Messrs Peter Sung, Tan Lye Huat and Cheng Hong Kok. They are of the opinion that the entry into
of the Interested Person Transactions (as described in paragraph 2 of Appendix A) between the SP Group (as
described in paragraph 1 of Appendix A) and the Interested Persons (as described in paragraph 3 of Appendix A)
in the ordinary course of business will enhance the efficiency of the SP Group and is in the best interests of the
Company. For the reasons set out in paragraphs 1 and 2 of Appendix A, they recommend that Shareholders vote
in favour of Resolution 7 for the renewal of the Shareholders’ Mandate at the forthcoming 69th AGM.
Tuan Sing Holdings Limited, Nuri Holdings (S) Pte Ltd, and their respective associates, being within the classes
of interested persons in relation to the proposed renewal of the Shareholders’ Mandate, will abstain from voting
their respective shareholdings (if any) on Resolution 7 relating to the renewal of the Shareholders’ Mandate at the
forthcoming 69th AGM.

6.

Responsibility Statement
The Directors collectively and individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information given in
this letter and confirm after making all reasonable enquiries that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, this
letter constitutes full and true disclosure of all material facts about Resolution 7, the Company and its subsidiaries
which are relevant to Resolution 7, and the Directors are not aware of any facts the omission of which would
make any statement in this letter misleading.
Where information in this letter has been extracted from published or otherwise publicly available sources or
obtained from a named source, the sole responsibility of the Directors has been to ensure that such information
has been accurately and correctly extracted from those sources and/or reproduced in this letter in its proper form
and context.
The Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited assumes no responsibility for the correctness of any of the
statements made or opinions expressed in this letter.
Shareholders who are in any doubt as to the action they should take, should consult their stockbrokers or other
professional advisers immediately.

Yours faithfully
SP CORPORATION LIMITED

Peter Sung
Chairman
6 April 2022
Singapore
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SHAREHOLDERS’ MANDATE FOR INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS
1.

Rationale for the Shareholders’ Mandate
It is envisaged that in the normal course of their businesses, transactions between SP Corporation Limited
(the “Company”), its subsidiaries and associated companies with the Company’s interested persons are likely to
occur, and may arise from time to time or at any time.
In view of the time-sensitive nature of commercial transactions, the obtaining of a mandate from Shareholders
(“Shareholders’ Mandate”) pursuant to Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited, will enable the Company, its subsidiaries and associated companies which are considered to be
“entities at risk” within the meaning of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual (together, “SP Group”) or any of them, to
enter into certain types of transactions as set out in Paragraph 2 below, with the Company’s interested persons
set out in Paragraph 3 below (“Interested Persons”), provided that such transactions are entered into in the
ordinary course of business of the SP Group, are on normal commercial terms and are not prejudicial to the
interests of the Company and its minority shareholders.
The Shareholders’ Mandate will provide the SP Group with added means to underpin its diversification and
growth strategy by leveraging on the SP Group’s network and its close working relationship with Interested
Persons. In particular, it would enable the SP Group to pursue commercial transactions in the ordinary course
of business in an expedient manner with Interested Persons, particularly in the areas of trading, marketing,
distribution and manufacturing and related specialist services, that would value add and provide new engines of
growth for the SP Group.
The Shareholders’ Mandate is intended to enhance the SP Group’s ability to pursue business opportunities which
are time-sensitive in nature, and will eliminate the need for the Company to announce, or to announce and
convene separate general meetings on each occasion to seek Shareholders’ prior approval for, the entry by the
relevant company in the SP Group into such transactions. This will substantially reduce the expenses associated
with the convening of general meetings on an ad hoc basis, improve administrative efficacy considerably, and
allow manpower resources and time to be channelled towards attaining other corporate objectives.

2.

Nature and Scope of Interested Person Transactions
The types of transactions with Interested Persons to be covered by the Shareholders’ Mandate relate principally
to the provision or obtaining of services and products in the normal course of the SP Group’s businesses
(“Interested Person Transactions”) but not in respect of purchase or sale of assets, undertakings or businesses as
provided under Rule 920(1) of the Listing Manual. The Interested Person Transactions are as described below.
(a)

		

Construction and Engineering Services Transactions
The Company’s principal subsidiaries and associated companies carry out building and construction
works as building, engineering and foundation contractors as well as project managers. They also
provide specialist engineering services including but not limited to foundation piling, soil and foundation
work consultancy, geotechnical works, ground improvement works, pipe jacking and diaphragm wall
construction.
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Transactions with Interested Persons under this category will consist of the following:

		

(i)

the tender by companies in the SP Group (whether by way of public tender, invitation or otherwise)
and/or the award of contracts by Interested Persons to companies in the SP Group, or, as the case
may be, the tender by Interested Persons (whether by way of public tender, invitation or otherwise)
and/or the award of contracts by companies in the SP Group to Interested Persons, whether as
main contractors or as sub-contractors, for construction and engineering services including
turnkey projects for residential, commercial, industrial and engineering works or infrastructural
development (including build, operate and transfer) or other projects;

		

(ii)

the provision by companies in the SP Group to, or receipt from Interested Persons of, project
management, consultancy, engineering services, geotechnical soil investigation and/or
instrumentation services for residential, industrial, commercial, infrastructural or other building,
construction, engineering works and/or development projects undertaken by the Interested
Persons or (as the case may be) companies in the SP Group; and

		

(iii)

the provision by the companies in the SP Group to, or receipt from Interested Persons of, industrial,
commercial, infrastructural or other building, construction, engineering works and/or development
projects undertaken by Interested Persons or (as the case may be) companies in the SP Group
including but not limited to treated water supply and water treatment services, power and natural
resources mining services.

		

As construction and engineering services constitute one of the core businesses of the SP Group,
the inclusion of the above category of transactions in the Shareholders’ Mandate will facilitate such
transactions by the SP Group with Interested Persons that arise in the normal course of operations of the
SP Group in a more expeditious manner.

(b)

Construction and Engineering Materials and Equipment Transactions

		

Related to its activities in building, construction and engineering services, the SP Group may also engage
in sourcing, purchasing, supplying and trading in building, construction and engineering materials
including but not limited to concrete and granite aggregates, steel bars, steel sheet piles, timber products,
wall and floor tiles, and construction equipment.

		

Transactions that may be carried out with Interested Persons under this category consist of the following:

		

(i)

the design, installation, supply and provision of equipment and machinery and/or building,
construction and engineering materials including but not limited to paint, electric motors and
generators by companies in the SP Group to Interested Persons or vice versa; and

		

(ii)

the purchase or sale, and/or rental of equipment and machinery and/or building, construction
and engineering materials including but not limited to paint, electric motors and generators by
companies in the SP Group from, or to Interested Persons for on-sale or for use in the construction
and/or engineering services activities of the SP Group or, as the case may be, the Interested
Persons.

		

These transactions relate to the supply of materials and equipment used in the building, construction and
engineering industry. The inclusion of this category of transactions in the Shareholders’ Mandate will allow
the SP Group to transact with Interested Persons in an expeditious manner to meet business needs for the
supply and/or provision of materials and equipment.
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(c)

Trading and Marketing Transactions

		

The SP Group is engaged in the trading and marketing of various products relating to the automotive, tyre
and rubber, chemical, petrochemical, mining, aquaculture, power, electronics and agriculture industries.

		

Transactions coming within this category consist of the following:

		

(i)

the marketing, sale by or purchase of, fish meal, shrimp feed and their related feedstock materials,
shrimps and other products in the aquaculture industry;

		

(ii)

the marketing, sale by or purchase of, the provision or receipt of, technical, operation, maintenance
and engineering services for machinery, equipment and spare parts related to tyre and rubber,
power, petrochemical, chemical, aquaculture, agriculture, mining and other industries referred to in
sub-paragraphs (c) (i) above and (c) (iii) to (ix) below;

		

(iii)

the marketing, sale by or purchase of, palm oil and related products, fertilizers and other natural
produce items in the agriculture industry;

		

(iv)

the marketing, sale by or purchase of, natural resources including but not limited to coal, metals
like iron, aluminium, zinc, gold and copper and their alloys for various industries such as the power
and cement industries, automotive manufacturing industries, chemicals, tyre and rubber industries;

		

(v)

the marketing, sale by or purchase of, printed circuit boards, electrical and electronics parts and
electrical cables and motors and other products related to the electronics and electrical industries;

		

(vi)

the marketing, sale by or purchase of, paint, basic and intermediate petrochemicals including but
not limited to ethylene, monoethylene glycol, polyester, synthetic rubber, nylon fibres and others
related to the petrochemical industries;

		

(vii)

the distribution, marketing, sale and purchase of rubber and tyre related stocks and related
products (including raw materials and auxiliary products);

		

(viii)

the sale, purchase, rental and/or leasing of rubber, tyre and tyre related retreading machinery and
equipment or components and parts in respect thereof; and

		

(ix)

the provision and/or receipt of commissions, rebates and other trade-related or marketing
incentives to or by counterparties including but not limited to dealers, distributors and principals.

		

The entry into and/or renewal of distribution, commission, agency or other marketing or representation
agreements with Interested Persons, and the purchase, sale, import and export of products set out above,
will come within the ambit of this category of transactions.

(d)

Distribution Transactions

		

The SP Group is engaged in the distribution of various consumer, automotive and related products.

		

Transactions coming within this category consist of the following:

		

(i)

distribution of consumer products including but not limited to hygiene, paper and food products;
and

		

(ii)

distribution of tyres and automotive related products including but not limited to alloy wheels,
rubber belts, batteries, electrical and pneumatic sensors.
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(e)

The entry into and/or renewal of distribution, commission, agency or other marketing or representation
agreements with Interested Persons, and the purchase, sale, import and export of products set out above,
will come within the ambit of this category of transactions.
Manufacturing Transactions

		

Transactions coming within this category consist of the following:

		

(i)

the provision by the companies in the SP Group to, or the receipt from, Interested Persons of, tyre
retreading services and logistic services related to the rubber, tyre and automotive industries; and

		

(ii)

the provision by the companies in the SP Group to, or the receipt from, Interested Persons of,
design, technical expertise, operation, maintenance, manufacturing and purchase or sales of tyre
machinery and equipment and related parts and products.

(f)

Business, Management and Technical Services Transactions

		

It is expected that with further diversification of the activities of the SP Group, overhead costs
and administrative costs may increase with the establishment of more business units. As such, the
centralisation of management and support services staff within Tuan Sing Holdings Limited (“TSH”), its
subsidiaries and associated companies (together with TSH, collectively, “TSH Group”) and between the
SP Group and the Interested Persons will enable business services costs to be shared, avoid duplication of
efforts and enhance communication within the TSH Group, the SP Group and the Interested Persons. The
latter results in savings for all operating companies within the TSH Group, the SP Group and the Interested
Persons through shared resources and economies of scale, and ensures that the services provided are of a
uniform approach and consistent standard throughout the operating subsidiaries.

		

Further, it is expected that TSH (the holding company of the Company) and other Interested Persons may
provide certain corporate functions and support to the SP Group in areas including but not limited to
finance, treasury, investment risk review and management; corporate planning and business development;
management information systems; human resource management and development; information
technology management and development; legal and corporate secretarial affairs; and internal audit.

		

Additionally, as part of the TSH Group, the Company can benefit in treasury transactions from competitive
rates or quotes from TSH and third party financial institutions in an expedient manner. By transacting
directly with TSH, the Company may obtain better yields through the elimination of margins which third
party intermediaries might ordinarily be expected to earn.

		

The SP Group may also lease premises to or from, Interested Persons for meeting various business needs.

		

Transactions covered by this category consist of the following:

		

(i)

the provision by the companies in the SP Group to, or the receipt from, Interested Persons of,
corporate, administrative and support services including but not limited to the areas of internal
audit, corporate planning and development, treasury and fund management services and staff
secondments;

		

(ii)

the borrowing of funds from Interested Persons or vice versa on a short-term and medium-term
basis; the placement of funds with the TSH Group on a short-term and medium-term basis; and the
entry into with Interested Persons of foreign exchange, swap, and option transactions for hedging
purposes (collectively, “Treasury Transactions”);

		

(iii)

the leasing or letting of office, warehouse and other business premises to or from the TSH Group
and/or other Interested Persons; and
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(iv)

		

These transactions relate to the supply of corporate, support and administrative services, subcontracting
and outsourcing services, supply chain services and premises by the TSH Group and other Interested
Persons to companies in the SP Group. The inclusion of this category of transactions in the Shareholders’
Mandate will allow the SP Group to transact with the TSH Group and other Interested Persons in an
expeditious manner to meet its business needs and requirements.

3.

the provision by the companies in the SP Group to, or the receipt from, Interested Persons of,
subcontracting and outsourcing services, supply chain management services (including but not
limited to packaging, transport and logistic services), sharing of logistic facility management
including but not limited to rental and subletting of premises.

Classes of Interested Persons with which the SP Group is transacting
The Shareholders’ Mandate will apply to the following classes of Interested Persons:

4.

(a)

TSH;

(b)

Nuri Holdings (S) Pte Ltd;

(c)

Mr William Nursalim alias William Liem; and

(d)

any company which, at the time at which the transaction is entered into, is an associate of the Interested
Persons named in (a) to (c) above.

Review Procedures for Interested Person Transactions
Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Mandate, the Company has formed a special review committee (“Review
Committee”) to ensure that transactions with Interested Persons are undertaken on the SP Group’s normal
commercial terms under the Shareholders’ Mandate. The Review Committee comprise senior executives of
the Company, namely, the Managing Director, up to two executive Directors, the head of the relevant business
units and the Financial Controller/Chief Financial Officer, who have been tasked by the Board of Directors of the
Company (based on the recommendation of the Audit and Risk Committee of the Company (“Audit and Risk
Committee”) from time to time) with the review and approval of such transactions.
To ensure that the Interested Person Transactions arising from the normal course of business of the SP Group are
undertaken at arm’s length and on the SP Group’s normal commercial terms, and will not be prejudicial to the
interests of the Company and its minority shareholders, the SP Group has implemented the following guidelines
for the review and approval of Interested Person Transactions under the proposed renewal of the Shareholders’
Mandate:
(a)

A transaction equal to or exceeding S$100,000 in value but below S$3 million (“Financial Threshold”),
will be reviewed and approved by any two members of the Review Committee, who shall ensure that
the Interested Person Transactions are made on an arm’s length basis and on terms and conditions no
more favourable than those which would be granted to an unrelated third party in similar circumstances,
and which are on the SP Group’s normal commercial terms or otherwise in accordance (where applicable)
with industry norms and that they are not prejudicial to the interests of the Company and its minority
shareholders.

(b)

A transaction equal to or exceeding the Financial Threshold will be reviewed and approved by any two
members of the Audit and Risk Committee, who shall ensure that the Interested Person Transactions are
made on an arm’s length basis and on terms and conditions no more favourable than those which would
be granted to an unrelated third party in similar circumstances, and which are on the SP Group’s normal
commercial terms or otherwise in accordance (where applicable) with industry norms and that they are
not prejudicial to the interests of the Company and its minority shareholders.
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(c)

Any member of the Review Committee and the members of the Audit and Risk Committee may, as he/
they deem fit, request for additional information pertaining to the transaction under review from
independent sources or advisers, including the obtaining of valuations from independent professional
valuers.

(d)

If a member of the Review Committee or the Audit and Risk Committee has an interest in a transaction, he
shall abstain from participating in the review and approval process in relation to that transaction. If more
than three members of the Review Committee are interested in the transaction, the review and approval
process shall be undertaken by the Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee or another member of the
Audit and Risk Committee (who has no interest in the transaction) designated by the Chairman of the
Audit and Risk Committee for such purpose.

		

The Audit and Risk Committee will also:

		

(i)

carry out periodic reviews (on a quarterly basis) to ascertain that the established guidelines and
procedures for Interested Person Transactions have been complied with; and

		

(ii)

consider from time to time whether the established guidelines and procedures for transactions
with Interested Persons have become inappropriate or are unable to ensure that the transactions
will be carried out on normal commercial terms, and are not prejudicial to the interests of the
Company and its minority shareholders.

(e)

		

For the purpose of the above review procedures, where goods and/or services (other than Treasury
Transactions) are to be purchased or obtained by the SP Group from Interested Persons, quotations
will be obtained (wherever possible or available) from at least two other unrelated third party suppliers
for similar quantities and/or quality of the materials, equipment, machinery or services concerned as
a basis for comparison to determine whether the price and terms offered by the Interested Person are
fair and reasonable. Where it is impractical or not possible for such quotes to be obtained, the Review
Committee or the Audit and Risk Committee will ensure that the terms of supply are fair and reasonable,
in accordance with industry norms and in line with business practices of the relevant industry taking into
consideration, factors such as but not limited to pricing, payment terms, credit worthiness, the strategic
purpose for the transaction and market conditions.
In relation to Treasury Transactions, the following guidelines shall apply:

		Borrowings. The SP Group will only borrow funds from an Interested Person if the interest rate quoted
by the Interested Person is not more than the lowest rate quoted by the SP Group’s principal bankers for
loans of an equivalent amount and tenure. Quotations of rates will be procured from at least two of the SP
Group’s principal bankers each time that funds are proposed to be borrowed from an Interested Person.
		Placements. The SP Group will only place funds with the TSH Group if the interest rate quoted by the TSH
Group is not less than the highest of the rates quoted by the SP Group’s principal bankers for deposits of
an equivalent amount and tenure. Quotations of rates will be procured from at least two of the SP Group’s
principal bankers each time that funds are proposed to be placed with the TSH Group.
		Forex, swaps and options. The SP Group will only enter into forex, swap and option transactions with an
Interested Person if the rates quoted by the Interested Person are no less favourable to the SP Group than
those quoted by the SP Group’s principal bankers. Quotations of rates will be procured from at least two
of the SP Group’s principal bankers each time that a forex, swap or option transaction is proposed to be
entered into with an Interested Person.
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In addition, the Company will monitor the Treasury Transactions entered into with Interested Persons as
follows:

		

(i)

Where the aggregate value of funds placed with the TSH Group shall at any time exceed the
consolidated shareholders’ funds of the Company (based on its latest audited accounts), each
subsequent placement of funds with the TSH Group shall require the prior approval of the Audit
and Risk Committee.

		

(ii)

Where the aggregate principal amount of all forex, swap and option transactions entered into
with the same Interested Person (as such term is construed under Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual)
exceeds at any one time the equivalent of the consolidated shareholders’ funds of the Company
(based on its latest audited accounts), each subsequent forex, swap or option transaction to be
entered into with the same Interested Person shall require the prior approval of the Audit and Risk
Committee.

5.

Interested Person Transactions Register
The Company maintains a register of transactions carried out with Interested Persons pursuant to the
Shareholders’ Mandate (recording the basis on which they are entered into). Further, the Company’s annual
internal audit plan will incorporate a review of transactions entered into in the relevant financial year pursuant to
the Shareholders’ Mandate.

6.

Excluded Transactions
The Shareholders’ Mandate will not cover any transaction by a company in the SP Group with an Interested
Person that is below S$100,000 in value as the threshold and aggregation requirements of Chapter 9 of the
Listing Manual would not apply to such transactions. For the avoidance of doubt, the Shareholders’ Mandate
shall cover any transaction by a company in the SP Group with an Interested Person that is below S$100,000 in
value in the event the S$100,000 threshold in Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual ceases to apply.
Transactions with interested persons (including the Interested Persons) which do not fall within the ambit of the
Shareholders’ Mandate shall be subject to the relevant provisions of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual, or other
applicable provisions of the Listing Manual and/or the Companies Act 1967, if any.

7.

Validity Period of the Shareholders’ Mandate
The Shareholders’ Mandate will take effect from the passing of the resolution relating thereto, and will (unless
revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting) continue in force until the conclusion of the next annual
general meeting of the Company. Approval from Shareholders will be sought for the renewal of the Shareholders’
Mandate at the next annual general meeting and at each subsequent annual general meeting of the Company,
subject to satisfactory review by the Audit and Risk Committee of its continued application to the transactions
with Interested Persons.

8.

Disclosure of Interested Person Transactions
The Company will announce the aggregate value of transactions conducted with Interested Persons pursuant to
the Shareholders’ Mandate for the financial periods which the Company is required to report on pursuant to the
Listing Manual and within the time required for the announcement of such report. Disclosure will also be made in
the Company’s annual report of the aggregate value of transactions conducted with Interested Persons pursuant
to the Shareholders’ Mandate during the financial year, and in the annual reports for subsequent financial years
that the Shareholders’ Mandate continues to be in force, in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 9 of the
Listing Manual.
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GENERAL INFORMATION RELATING TO CHAPTER 9 OF THE LISTING MANUAL
1.

Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) deals with
transactions in which a listed company or any of its subsidiaries or associated companies (that are not listed
on the SGX-ST or an approved exchange, provided that the listed group, or the listed group and its interested
person(s) (as defined in Chapter 9), has control over the associated company) proposes to enter with a party who
is an interested person of the listed company.

2.

Transactions with interested persons which do not come within the ambit of a general mandate for interested
person transactions approved by shareholders of the listed company pursuant to Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual
(including any renewal thereof) will be subject to applicable provisions of Chapter 9 and/or other applicable
provisions of the Listing Manual. As such, an immediate announcement and/or shareholders’ approval would be
required in respect of transactions with interested persons if certain financial thresholds as set out in Chapter 9 of
the Listing Manual are reached or exceeded. In particular, an immediate announcement is required where:
2.1

the value of a proposed transaction is equal to or exceeds 3% of the group’s latest audited net tangible
assets (“NTA”); or

2.2

the aggregate value of all transactions entered into with the same interested person during the same
financial year, is equal to or more than 3% of the group’s latest audited NTA. An announcement will have
to be made immediately of the latest transaction and all future transactions entered into with that same
interested person during the same financial year,

and shareholders’ approval (in addition to an immediate announcement) is required where:
2.3

the value of a proposed transaction is equal to or exceeds 5% of the group’s latest audited NTA; or

2.4

the aggregate value of all transactions entered into with the same interested person during the same
financial year, is equal to or more than 5% of the group’s latest audited NTA. The aggregation will exclude
any transaction that has been approved by shareholders previously, or is the subject of aggregation with
another transaction that has been approved by shareholders.

3.

For the purposes of aggregation, interested person transactions below S$100,000 each are excluded. However,
the SGX-ST may aggregate any such transaction entered into during the same financial year and treat them as if
they were one transaction.

4.

For illustration purposes, based on the audited accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for
the financial year ended 31 December 2021, the latest audited NTA of the Group is S$55.8 million. Accordingly, in
relation to the Company, for the purposes of Chapter 9 in the current financial year, shareholders’ approval would
be required where:
(a)

the transaction is of a value equal to, or more than, S$2.8 million, being 5% of the Group’s latest audited
NTA; or

(b)

the transaction, when aggregated with other transactions entered into with the same interested person
during the same financial year, is of a value equal to, or more than, S$2.8 million. The aggregation
will exclude any transaction that has been approved by shareholders previously, or is the subject of
aggregation with another transaction that has been approved by shareholders.
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5.

Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual allows for a listed company to seek a mandate from its shareholders for recurrent
transactions with interested persons of a revenue or trading nature necessary for its day-to-day operations
such as the purchase and sale of supplies and materials, but not in respect of the purchase or sale of assets,
undertakings or businesses.

6.

For the purposes of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual:
6.1

an “interested person” means a director, chief executive officer or controlling shareholder of the issuer, or
an associate of any such director, chief executive officer or controlling shareholder;

6.2

a “controlling shareholder” is a person who holds directly or indirectly 15% or more of the total number of
issued shares excluding treasury shares in the company (unless otherwise excepted by SGX-ST) or in fact
exercises control over a company;

6.3

an “associate” in relation to any director, chief executive officer, substantial shareholder or controlling
shareholder (being an individual) means his immediate family (i.e. spouse, children, adopted children,
step-children, siblings and parents), the trustees of any trust of which he or his immediate family is a
beneficiary or, in the case of a discretionary trust, is a discretionary object, and any company in which he
and his immediate family together (directly or indirectly) have an interest of 30% or more. An “associate”
in relation to a substantial shareholder or a controlling shareholder (being a company) means any other
company which is its subsidiary or holding company or is a subsidiary of such holding company or one in
the equity of which it and/or such other company or companies taken together (directly or indirectly) have
an interest of 30% or more; and

6.4

the SGX-ST may deem any person or entity to be an interested person if the person or entity has
entered into, or proposes to enter into (a) a transaction with an entity at risk; and (b) an agreement or
arrangement with an interested person in connection with that transaction.
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the 69th Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of SP Corporation Limited (the “Company”) will
be convened and held by electronic means on Thursday, 21 April 2022 at 11.30 a.m. to transact the following business:

ORDINARY BUSINESS:
1.

To receive and adopt the Directors’ Statement and the Audited Financial Statements
for the financial year ended 31 December 2021 (“FY2021”) and the Independent
Auditor’s Report thereon. (See Explanatory Note (a))

Ordinary Resolution 1

2.

To approve the payment of S$204,608 as Directors’ fees for FY2021 (FY2020:
S$179,862). (See Explanatory Note (b))

Ordinary Resolution 2

3.

To re-elect the following Directors, each of whom retires by rotation pursuant to
Article 105 of the Constitution of the Company and who, being eligible, offers
themselves for re-election:

4.

(a)

Mr William Nursalim alias William Liem (See Explanatory Note (c))

Ordinary Resolution 3

(b)

Mr Peter Sung (See Explanatory Note (d))

Ordinary Resolution 4

To re-appoint Deloitte & Touche LLP as Auditors of the Company and to authorise
the Directors of the Company to fix their remuneration. (See Explanatory Note (e))

Ordinary Resolution 5

SPECIAL BUSINESS:
To consider and if thought fit, to pass with or without modifications, the following
resolutions, which will be proposed as Ordinary Resolutions:
5.

Authority to allot and issue shares up to ten per centum (10%) of the issued
shares

Ordinary Resolution 6

“That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act 1967, the Directors be
empowered to allot and issue shares in the capital of the Company at any time
and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes as the Directors may,
in their absolute discretion, deem fit provided that the aggregate number of
shares to be allotted and issued pursuant to this Resolution shall not exceed ten
per centum (10%) of the issued shares in the capital of the Company at the time
of the passing of this Resolution and that such authority shall, unless revoked or
varied by the Company in general meeting, continue in force until the conclusion of
the Company’s next Annual General Meeting or the date by which the next Annual
General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier.”
(See Explanatory Note (f))
6.

Renewal of the Shareholders’ Mandate for Interested Person Transactions
“That:–
a.

approval be and is hereby given, for the purposes of Chapter 9 of the
Listing Manual (“Chapter 9”) of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading
Limited, for the Company, its subsidiaries and associated companies that
are considered to be “entities at risk” under Chapter 9, or any of them, to
enter into any of the transactions falling within the types of Interested
Person Transactions described in the Company’s letter to shareholders dated

Ordinary Resolution 7
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6 April 2022 (the “Letter”), with any party who is of the Classes of Interested
Persons described in the Letter, provided that such transactions are carried
out in the ordinary course of business and on normal commercial terms,
will not be prejudicial to the interests of the Company and its minority
shareholders and are in accordance with the guidelines and review
procedures for Interested Person Transactions as set out in the Letter
(the “Shareholders’ Mandate”);

b.

such Shareholders’ Mandate shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company
in general meeting, continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual
General Meeting of the Company; and

c.

the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to complete and
do all such acts and things (including executing all such documents as may
be required) as they may consider expedient or necessary or in the interests
of the Company to give effect to the Shareholders’ Mandate and/or this
Resolution.” (See Explanatory Note (g))

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Lee Pih Peng
Group Company Secretary

6 April 2022
Singapore

EXPLANATORY NOTES ON BUSINESSES TO BE TRANSACTED
(a)

Ordinary Resolution 1 – is to receive and adopt the Directors’ Statement and the Audited Financial Statements for FY2021 and
the Independent Auditor’s Report thereon which can be found in the Company’s 2021 Annual Report.

(b)

Ordinary Resolution 2 – is to approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$204,608 for FY2021, for services rendered by the
Directors on the Board and on various Board Committees.
There was an increase in Directors’ fees in FY2021 compared to FY2020 mainly due to Directors’ fees payable to a
Non-Executive Director from 7 August 2021 and for additional meetings apart from the regular meetings of the Board and
the Board Committees. The Board has in FY2021 established an ad hoc committee, further details of which are set out in the
Company’s 2021 Annual Report.

(c)

Ordinary Resolution 3 – Detailed information on Mr William Nursalim alias William Liem (including information as set out in
Appendix 7.4.1 of the SGX-ST Listing Manual can be found under “Directors’ Profile” and “Additional Information on Directors
Seeking Re-election” in the Company’s 2021 Annual Report.

(d)

Ordinary Resolution 4 – Detailed information on Mr Peter Sung (including information as set out in Appendix 7.4.1 of the
SGX-ST Listing Manual can be found under “Directors’ Profile” and “Additional Information on Directors Seeking Re-election” in the
Company’s 2021 Annual Report.

(e)

Ordinary Resolution 5 – is to re-appoint Deloitte & Touche LLP as the Company’s Auditors and to authorise the Directors to fix
their remuneration. The Company has complied with Rule 713(1) of the SGX-ST Listing Manual by ensuring that the audit partner
is not in charge of more than 5 consecutive years of audits. The current audit partner, Mr Aw Xin-Pei, was appointed in FY2020.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 SP CORPORATION LIMITED

141

NOTICE OF
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
(f)

Ordinary Resolution 6 – is to empower the Directors to issue shares in the capital of the Company up to an amount not
exceeding in aggregate 10% of the issued shares in the capital of the Company. This 10% limit is lower than the limit allowed
under the SGX-ST Listing Manual. The Company is seeking a lower limit as it believes that this is adequate for the time being and
will review the limit annually. For the purpose of determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued, the percentage
of issued shares will be calculated based on the issued shares in the capital of the Company at the time that this Resolution is
passed after adjusting for any subsequent consolidation or subdivision of shares.

(g)

Ordinary Resolution 7 – is to renew effectively up to the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company (unless earlier revoked or
varied by the Company in general meeting) the Shareholders’ Mandate to enable the Company, its subsidiaries and associated
companies that are considered “entities at risk” to enter, in the ordinary course of business, into the types of mandated
transactions with specified classes of the Company’s interested persons. The Shareholders’ Mandate which was previously
renewed by shareholders at the 68th AGM on 16 April 2021, will be expiring at the forthcoming 69th AGM. Particulars of the
Shareholders’ Mandate and the Audit and Risk Committee’s confirmation (pursuant to Rule 920(1) of the SGX-ST Listing Manual)
in respect of the proposed renewal of the Shareholders’ Mandate, are contained in the Letter. Please refer to the “Letter to
Shareholders” included in the Company’s 2021 Annual Report.

NOTES
(1)

The 69th AGM is being convened, and will be held, by electronic means pursuant to the COVID-19 (Temporary Measures)
(Alternative Arrangements for Meetings for Companies, Variable Capital Companies, Business Trusts, Unit Trusts and
Debenture Holders) Order 2020. This Notice will accordingly be sent to members by electronic means via publication
on the Company’s website at the URL http://www.spcorp.com.sg/images/agm2022.pdf and on SGXNet at the URL
https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements. For convenience, printed copies of this Notice will also be sent by post
to members.

(2)

Alternative arrangements relating to attendance at the 69th AGM via electronic means (including arrangements by
which the meeting can be electronically accessed via live audio-visual webcast or live audio-only stream), submission
of questions to the Chairman of the Meeting prior to the 69th AGM, addressing of substantial and relevant questions prior
to the 69th AGM and voting by appointing the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy at the 69th AGM, are set out in the
accompanying Company’s announcement dated 6 April 2022. This announcement may be accessed at the Company’s
website at the URL http://www.spcorp.com.sg/images/agm2022.pdf and on SGXNet at the URL
https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements.

(3)

Due to the current COVID-19 situation in Singapore, a member will not be able to attend the 69th AGM in person.
A member (whether individual or corporate) must appoint the Chairman of the Meeting as his/her/its proxy to
attend, speak and vote on his/her/its behalf at the 69th AGM if such member wishes to exercise his/her/its voting
rights at the 69th AGM. The accompanying proxy form for the 69th AGM may be accessed at the Company’s website
at
the
URL
h t t p : / / w w w. s p c o r p . c o m . s g / i m a g e s / a g m 2 0 2 2 . p d f
and
on
SGXNet
at
the
URL
https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements. For convenience, printed copies of the proxy form will also be sent by
post to members.

(4)

Where a member (whether individual or corporate) appoints the Chairman of the Meeting as his/her/its proxy, he/she/it must
give specific instructions as to voting, or abstentions from voting, in respect of a resolution in the form of proxy, failing which the
appointment of the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy for that resolution will be treated as invalid.

(5)

CPF and SRS investors who wish to appoint the Chairman of the Meeting as their proxy should approach their respective CPF
Agent Banks and SRS Operators to submit their votes by 5.00 p.m. on 12 April 2022.

(6)

The Chairman of the Meeting, as proxy, need not be a member of the Company.

(7)

The instrument appointing the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy must be submitted to the Company in the following manner:
(a)

if submitted by post, be lodged at the office of the Company’s Share Registrar, B.A.C.S. Private Limited at 77 Robinson
Road, #06-03 Robinson 77, Singapore 068896; or

(b)

if submitted electronically via email, be submitted to the Company’s Share Registrar at main@zicoholdings.com;

in each case not less than 72 hours before the time appointed for holding the 69th AGM.
A member who wishes to submit an instrument of proxy can either use the printed copy of the proxy form which is sent to
him/her/it by post or download a copy of the proxy form from the Company’s website or SGXNet, and complete and sign the
proxy form, before submitting it by post to the address provided above, or before scanning and sending it by email to the email
address provided above.
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Due to the current COVID-19 situation, members are strongly encouraged to submit completed proxy forms
electronically via email.
(8)

The Company’s Annual Report 2021 including the Letter to Shareholders dated 6 April 2022 (in relation to the proposed
renewal of the Shareholders’ Mandate) has been published and may be accessed at the Company’s website at
the
URL
h t t p : / / w w w. s p c o r p . c o m . s g / i m a g e s / a n n u a l re p o r t 2 0 2 1 . p d f
and
on
SGXNet
at
the
URL
https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements. Members may request for printed copies of these documents by
completing and submitting the Request Form accompanying the printed copies of this Notice sent by post to members.

PERSONAL DATA PRIVACY
By submitting an instrument appointing the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy to attend, speak and vote at the Annual General
Meeting and/or any adjournment thereof, a member of the Company consents to the collection, use and disclosure of the member’s
personal data by the Company (or its agents or service providers) for the purpose of the processing, administration and analysis
by the Company (or its agents or service providers) of the appointment of the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy for the Annual
General Meeting (including any adjournment thereof) and the preparation and compilation of the attendance lists, minutes and other
documents relating to the Annual General Meeting (including any adjournment thereof), and in order for the Company (or its agents or
service providers) to comply with any applicable laws, listing rules, take-over rules, regulations and/or guidelines.

SP CORPORATION LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)
(Company Registration No. 195200115K)

Proxy Form
Annual General Meeting
IMPORTANT
1. The Annual General Meeting is being convened, and will be held, by way of electronic means pursuant to the COVID-19 (Temporary Measures) (Alternative
Arrangements for Meetings for Companies, Variable Capital Companies, Business Trusts, Unit Trusts and Debenture Holders) Order 2020. The Notice of
Annual General Meeting dated 6 April 2022 will accordingly be sent to members by electronic means via publication on the Company’s website at the URL
http://www.spcorp.com.sg/images/agm2022.pdf and on SGXNet at the URL https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements. For convenience, printed
copies of the Notice of Annual General Meeting will also be sent by post to members.
2. Alternative arrangements relating to attendance at the Annual General Meeting via electronic means (including arrangements by which the meeting
can be electronically accessed via live audio-visual webcast or live audio-only stream), submission of questions to the Chairman of the Meeting prior
to the Annual General Meeting, addressing of substantial and relevant questions before the Annual General Meeting and voting by appointing the
Chairman of the Meeting as proxy at the Annual General Meeting, are set out in the accompanying Company’s announcement dated 6 April 2022. This
announcement may be accessed at the Company’s website at the URL http://www.spcorp.com.sg/images/agm2022.pdf and on SGXNet at the URL
https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements.
3. Due to the current COVID-19 situation in Singapore, a member will not be able to attend the Annual General Meeting in person. A member (whether
individual or corporate) must appoint the Chairman of the Meeting as his/her/its proxy to attend, speak and vote on his/her/its behalf at the Annual
General Meeting if such member wishes to exercise his/her/its voting rights at the Annual General Meeting.
4. Please read the notes overleaf which contain instructions on, inter alia, the appointment of the Chairman of the Meeting as a member’s proxy to attend, speak and
vote on his/her/its behalf at the Annual General Meeting.
5. CPF and SRS investors who wish to appoint the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy should approach their respective CPF Agent Banks and SRS Operators to submit
their votes by 5.00 p.m. on 12 April 2022.
6. By submitting an instrument appointing the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy, the member accepts and agrees to the personal data privacy terms set out in the
Notice of Annual General Meeting dated 6 April 2022.

I /We

(Name)

(NRIC/Passport/Co Reg Number)

of

(Address)

being a member/members of SP Corporation Limited (the “Company”), hereby appoint the Chairman of the Meeting as
my/our proxy to attend, speak and vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to
be convened and held by way of electronic means at 11.30 a.m. (Singapore time) on Thursday, 21 April 2022 and at any
adjournment thereof. I /We direct the Chairman of the Meeting as my/our proxy to vote for or against or to abstain from
voting on the resolutions to be proposed at the Annual General Meeting as indicated below.
ORDINARY BUSINESS

For*

Ordinary Resolution 1

Adoption of Directors’ Statement, Audited Financial
Statements and Independent Auditor’s Report.

Ordinary Resolution 2

Approval of Directors’ fees.

Ordinary Resolution 3

Re-election of Mr William Nursalim alias William Liem
as a Director.

Ordinary Resolution 4

Re-election of Mr Peter Sung as a Director.

Ordinary Resolution 5

Re-appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as
Auditors and authorisation for Directors to fix their
remuneration.

Against*

Abstain*

SPECIAL BUSINESS
Ordinary Resolution 6

Authority to allot and issue shares (General Share Issue
Mandate).

Ordinary Resolution 7

Renewal of the Shareholders’ Mandate for Interested
Person Transactions.

* Voting will be conducted by poll. If you wish the Chairman of the Meeting as your proxy to exercise all your votes “For” or “Against”
the relevant resolution, please indicate with a tick (P) in the “For” or “Against” box provided in respect of that resolution. Alternatively,
please insert the relevant number of shares “For” or “Against” in the “For” or “Against” box provided in respect of that resolution. If you
wish the Chairman of the Meeting as your proxy to abstain from voting on a resolution, please indicate with a tick (P) in the “Abstain”
box provided in respect of that resolution. Alternatively, please insert the relevant number of shares in the “Abstain” box provided in
respect of that resolution. In the absence of specific directions in respect of a resolution, the appointment of the Chairman of the
Meeting as your proxy for that resolution will be treated as invalid.

Dated this

day of

2022.
Shares in:

Total Number of Ordinary Shares held

(a) Depository Register

&

(b) Register of Members
Signature(s) of Member(s)/Common Seal
IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ NOTES OVERLEAF

NOTES TO PROXY FORM:
1.

If the member has shares entered against his/her/its name in the Depository Register (maintained by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited), he/she/it
should insert that number of shares. If the member has shares registered in his/her/its name in the Register of Members (maintained by or on behalf of
the Company), he/she/it should insert that number of shares. If the member has shares entered against his/her/its name in the Depository Register and
shares registered in his/her/its name in the Register of Members, he/she/it should insert the aggregate number of shares. If no number is inserted, this
instrument appointing the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy will be deemed to relate to all the shares held by the member.

2.

Due to the current COVID-19 situation, a member will not be able to attend the Annual General Meeting in person. A member (whether
individual or corporate) must appoint the Chairman of the Meeting as his/her/its proxy to attend, speak and vote on his/her/its behalf at
the Annual General Meeting if such member wishes to exercise his/her/its voting rights at the Annual General Meeting. This proxy
form may be downloaded from the Company’s website at the URL http://www.spcorp.com.sg/images/agm2022.pdf and on SGXNet at the URL
https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements. For convenience, printed copies of this proxy form will also be sent by post to members. Where
a member (whether individual or corporate) appoints the Chairman of the Meeting as his/her/its proxy, he/she/it must give specific instructions as to
voting, or abstentions from voting, in respect of a resolution in the form of proxy, failing which the appointment of the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy
for that resolution will be treated as invalid.

3.

CPF and SRS investors who wish to appoint the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy should approach their respective CPF Agent Banks and SRS Operators
to submit their votes by 5.00 p.m. on 12 April 2022.

4.

The Chairman of the Meeting, as proxy, need not be a member of the Company.

5.

The instrument appointing the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy must be submitted to the Company in the following manner:
(a) if submitted by post, be lodged at the office of the Company’s Share Registrar, B.A.C.S. Private Limited at 77 Robinson Road, #06-03 Robinson 77,
Singapore 068896; or
(b) if submitted electronically, be submitted via email to the Company’s Share Registrar at main@zicoholdings.com,
in each case not less than 72 hours before the time appointed for holding the Annual General Meeting.
A member who wishes to submit an instrument of proxy can either use the printed copy of the proxy form which is sent to him/her/it by post or
download a copy of the proxy form from the Company’s website or the SGX website, and complete and sign the proxy form, before submitting it by post
to the address provided above, or before scanning and sending it by email to the email address provided above.
Due to the current COVID-19 situation, members are strongly encouraged to submit completed proxy forms electronically via email.

6.

The instrument appointing the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy must be signed under the hand of the appointor or by his/her attorney duly authorised
in writing. Where the instrument appointing the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its
common seal or under the hand of its attorney or a duly authorised officer.

7.

Where an instrument appointing the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy is signed on behalf of the appointor by an attorney, the letter or power of
attorney or a duly certified copy thereof must (failing previous registration with the Company), if the instrument appointing the Chairman of the Meeting
as proxy is submitted by post, be lodged with the instrument of proxy or, if the instrument appointing the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy is submitted
electronically via email, be emailed with the instrument of proxy, failing which the instrument may be treated as invalid.

8.

The Company shall be entitled to reject an instrument appointing the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy which is incomplete, improperly completed,
illegible or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in the instrument appointing
the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy (including any related attachment). In addition, in the case of a member whose shares are entered in the
Depository Register, the Company may reject an instrument appointing the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy if the member, being the appointor, is
not shown to have shares entered against his/her/its name in the Depository Register as at 72 hours before the time appointed for holding the Annual
General Meeting, as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

DISCLAIMER
Readers should note that legislation in Singapore governing the preparation
and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other
jurisdictions. This annual report is provided for information purposes only and
does not constitute an invitation to invest in the Company’s shares. Except
where you are a shareholder, this annual report is not, in particular, intended
to confer any legal rights on you. Any decision you make by relying on this
information is solely your responsibility. The historical information given is as
of the dates specified, is not updated and any forward-looking statement is
made subject to the reservation specified in the following paragraphs.
CAUTIONARY NOTES
This annual report may contain forward-looking statements. Words such as
‘expects’, ‘anticipates’, ‘intends’ or the negative use of these terms and other
similar expressions of future performance or results and their negatives are
intended to identify such forward-looking statements.
Forward-looking statements are based upon current expectations and
assumptions regarding anticipated developments and other factors affecting
the Group. They are not historical facts, nor are they guarantees of future
performance or events. They involve assumptions, risks and uncertainties.
Actual future performance or results may differ materially from those expressed
or implied in forward-looking statements as a result of various important
factors. These factors include but are not limited to, economic, political, and
social conditions in the geographic markets where the Group operates, interest
rate and foreign currency exchange rate movements, cost of capital and
availability of capital, competition from other companies, and venues for sale/

manufacture/distribution of goods and services, a shift in demands,
customers and partners, and changes in operating costs. Unpredictable
or unknown factors not documented in this annual report could also have
material adverse effects on forward-looking statements.
Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking
statements which speak only as of the date of this annual report. Except as
required by any applicable law or regulation, the Group expressly disclaims
any obligation or undertaking to release publicly any updates or revisions
to any forward-looking statements contained herein to reflect any change
in the Group’s expectations with regard thereto or any change in events,
conditions or circumstances on which any such statement is based.
Information on or accessible through any third party or external website does
not form part of and is not incorporated into this annual report.
In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, “SP Corp”,
“the Group”, “we”, “us”, and “our” refer to SP Corporation Limited and its
subsidiaries. “Statement of financial position” and “balance sheet” are used
interchangeably, and reference to “this annual report” is a reference to this
annual report.
Figures in parentheses in tables and in the financial statements denote
negative values.
Readers may download the full PDF version of this annual report and other
information about SP Corporation Limited at our website, www.spcorp.com.sg.
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